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CHAIRMAN’S 25 YEARS
EFRM25F

Mr. Chairman, in a flash of 25 years, from 1999 to 2024, Fufeng has
developed from a county business to a sizable group, which has
experienced many ups and downs. You have witnessed the changes
in Fufeng in these 25 years. Would you please share with us your
journey through Fufeng in these 25 years and your expectations
towards the future of Fufeng?

Q: We all know that Fufeng started by making MSG. So why did
you choose MSG at that time?

A:  For this question, | believe it was both by chance and inevitable.
By chance, | was the director of a distillery, and our next door
was an MSG factory that was going bankrupt. | think that MSG,
as a biochemical fermentation product with relatively high
technical content, is a valuable product. Therefore, together with
the management of the distillery, we left the distillery, acquired
the MSG factory, and started manufacturing MSG. From this
perspective, after the reform and opening up of China, many
State-owned enterprises went bankrupt, while private enterprises
began to grow. The reform and opening up at that moment also
provided me with the opportunity to work in private enterprises.
Therefore, | would say it is a kind of inevitability.

Q: After that, Fufeng expanded the product lines gradually and
developed xanthan gum, animal nutrition, high-end amino acids,
etc. What were your thoughts then?

A:  Fufeng achieved rapid developrment and expansion, largely due
to the establishment of its own low-cost expansion development
strategy. Following the growth and expansion of its MSG
product line, Fufeng quickly diversified into other biochemical
fermentation products, including xanthan gum, animal nutrition
and high-end amino acid products. These products reached
the top rank of the world in a short period of time. Therefore,
Fufeng gradually forged its vision of becoming a renowned corn
biochemical enterprise.
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Fufeng was listed since 2007 after going through a series of
setbacks. How did you feel when you realised the listing was
approved?

| was thrilled when | realised that the listing in Hong Kong was
approved, though with mixed feelings. | was still overwhelmed
when | thought of the hardships and difficulties encountered in
founding Fufeng, including significant sacrifices. Soon after the
short excitement, it immediately came to my mind that the listing
is just only a new beginning and new step. Fufeng still has a long
way Jjourney ahead. Listing has provided the Company with a
pair of strong wings to soar to a new level.

The Company has experienced a lot in the past 25 years since
its establishment. The listing process was challenging while the
journey towards internationalisation was also full of obstacles.
What were your thought during these hard times and how did
you persevere?

This mainly relates to my personality. | am committed in doing
something as long as [ target the real problem. The direction
we have set through careful consideration remains unswerving.
This can be particularly revealed in Fufeng’s internationalisation
process. After promoting internationalisation, we aimed to
establish our production base in the United States. Due the
Sino-US tension, we faced unpredictable challenges in the
construction of production base in Latin America. However, our
motto at that time was “take the bull by the horns”. We were
determined to persevere until we achieved our goals, which also
illustrates my character.
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CHAIRMAN’S 25 YEARS
EFRM25F

Q: Looking back on the past 25 years of Fufeng, are there Q: BEBEEBME2DF  BHESEEH

unforgettable moments for you? Any moments of pride or regret,
happy or unhappy you can share with us?

In the past 25 years, there are many unforgettable moments
about Fufeng. While | may not take pride in all of them, the
challenges and hardships we have faced are difficult to articulate,

yet they have left me with lasting memories. No matter the “511”
accident or the construction of the US production base, both left
me lifelong memories. In this process, there is no pride, but a lot
of regrets. One of my greatest concerns is that this society has
brought so many unimaginable obstacles and difficulties to the
development of enterprises. Only by overcoming and tackling
these hurdles can businesses truly achieve sustainable growth.

We use two phrases to describe Fufeng, “Fufeng People” and
“Fufeng Speed”. Would you please explain to us how you
interpret these two phrases?

For “Fufeng People” and “Fufeng Speed”, | will elaborate this
way. “Fufeng People” mainly represents the Fufeng team and
Fufeng culture. And for “Fufeng Speed”, it mainly reflects the
development capability and spirit of Fufeng. Indeed, this kind of
understanding and differentiation may not be correct.
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How do you see Fufeng in 5 years?

Fufeng is currently entering a new stage for second undertaking
and second take-off. | believe, with the full implementation of
internationalisation, we are evolving into a real multinational
enterprise. Fufeng’s development remains consistent with the
past, but in a faster and better speed and condlition than before.

You see Fufeng as a child growing up slowly. What are your
expectations towards the future of Fufeng?

Back to the early time, Fufeng established the vision of
becoming “a renowned corn biochemical enterprise’, reflecting
our aspirations. In the short run, our goal is to realise and form a
multinational company as soon as possible.

Lastly, can you please summarise Fufeng’s experience over the
past 25 years?

[ would like to sum up with my saying in the past,

“On the path forward, there are both flowers and traps! During
the construction period of the new factory, the spirt of trudging
through dust and mud on dirt roads is the most beautiful
costume of Fufeng People”.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Market Overview
Economic Environment

The International Monetary Fund estimated the global economic
growth was 3.2% in 2024. China kept a leading level of economic
growth rate among the world’s major economies and reported a GDP
growth rate of 5.0% in 2024 according to the National Bureau of
Statistics of China.

Major Raw Materials

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, China
reported corn production of approximately 295.0 million tonnes in
2024, representing an increase of 2.1% as compared to 2023, mainly
due to the increase in China’s corn planting area. According to the
General Administration of Customs of the People’s Republic of China,
China’s total corn imports were only 13.64 million tonnes in 2024,
representing a sharp decrease of about 49.2% on a year-on-year
basis. Although imported corn decreased significantly, China had
sufficient domestic supply of corn. As a result, supply growth of corn
outpaced the demand growth of corn and led to a decline in corn
price in 2024 as compared to 2023.

According to the data of Sublime China Information (&£ &l & ),
the average corn price decreased from approximately RMB2,723
per tonne in 2023 to approximately RMB2,250 per tonne in 2024,
representing a decrease of 17.4% or RMB473 per tonne on a year-
on-year basis.

The PRC government made efforts to ensure a stable coal supply
to keep coal prices within a reasonable range. In 2024, China’s coal
production hit a record high for the fourth consecutive year, with
total coal production volume of approximately 4,760.0 million tonnes,
representing an increase of 1.3% as compared to 2023. China also
increased its coal imports from overseas. According to the data of the
General Administration of Customs of the People’s Republic of China,
China imported a record high of 542.7 million tonnes of coal in 2024,
representing a growth of 14.4% as compared to 2023.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOR

Maijor Products

In 2024, the MSG market experienced weaker-than-expected
demand for food and beverages, and cyclical factors which
caused MSG price to fall. In the third quarter of 2024, the price
of MSG dropped sharply, mainly due to the lack of enthusiasm
for procurement and re-schedule of purchase in the downstream
market. According to the data from Sublime China Information, the
average selling price of MSG in 2024 was approximately RMB7,676
per tonne, representing a decrease by 16.3% as compared to 2023.
Although domestic demand for MSG remained weak, overseas
demand for MSG remained strong. According to the General
Administration of Customs of the PRC, China’s MSG exports in 2024
were approximately 962,207 tonnes, representing an increase of
22.4% year-on-year.

In 2024, the price of xanthan gum dropped significantly from the
record high price in 2023 and was back to a relatively reasonable
level expected by the market. According to the data of Sublime
China Information, the price of xanthan gum decreased by 43.3% to
RMB25,349 per tonne, as compared to 2023.

In 2024, the export volume of threonine increased significantly,
mainly due to the increased demand for threonine procurement from
overseas. According to the General Administration of Customs of
the PRC, the export volume of threonine was about 718,200 tonnes
in 2024, representing an increase of 26% year-on-year. Benefiting
from the rapid growth of export volumes, the price of threonine
has gradually increased since June 2024. According to the data of
Sublime China Information, the price of threonine increased from
RMB10,308 per tonne in the first half of 2024 to RMB11,381 per
tonne in the second half of 2024, representing an increase of 10.4%.

According to the General Administration of Customs of the PRC, the
export volume of lysine was 1,106,150 tonnes in 2024, representing
an increase of 15% year-on-year, mainly due to the strong demand
from overseas. The price of 98% lysine increased significantly, which
was benefited by the increase in exports. According to the data of
Sublime China Information, the price of 98% lysine increased from
RMB9,410 per tonne in 2023 to RMB10,885 per tonne in 2024,
representing an increase of 15.7%.

*

the market prices in this section include VAT
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Business and Financial Review

Overall Performance

With a diversified product development plan, the business structure
of multiple growth drivers has been established, enhancing the core
competitiveness of the Group.

Facing the challenging market situation, the Group maintained stable
revenue leveraging on a diversified product portfolio.

The Group’s revenue slightly decreased by 0.9% to approximately
RMB27,757.3 million in the Year, as compared to 2023, mainly due
to the decrease in revenue of Colloid segment.

The Group’s overall gross profit decreased by 19.1% to approximately
RMB5,056.8 million in the Year compared to 2023, primarily due to
the decreased gross profit contribution from the Colloid and Food
Additive segments.

Profit attributable to the Shareholders decreased by 26.5% to
approximately RMB2,312.4 million in 2024, as compared to 2023.

Analysis of Five Product Segments
The Group’s products are organised into five product segments:

Segment Key products of the segment

MSG

Threonine, lysing, corn refined products

Tryptophan, valine, leucine, isoleucine,
glutamine, hyaluronic acid

Xanthan gum

Fertilisers

Food additives
Animal nutrition
High-end amino acid

Colloid
Others
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_NME+-A=1+—HLEE

Food Animal High-end
additives nutrition amino acid Colloid Others Total

B@RAI0E BYEE SEIER B# Hith fst

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Revenue KA 14,365,304 8,739,272 2,217,371 1,816,506 618,857 27,757,310

Gross profit EF 1,548,514 2,029,373 819,752 753,745 (94,562) 5,056,822

Gross profit margin (%) %% % (%) 10.8% 23.2% 37.0% 41.5% (15.3%) 18.2%
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE-_=F+-A=+—HLEE

Animal High-end
nutrition amino acid Colloid Others
R NAE HYEE SEQER B HAt T

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARMTE ARMTRE ARETZ ARETE

Revenue WA 13,495,002 8,901,002 1,972,812 2,827,504 810,555 28,006,875
Gross profit EF 2,165,921 1,525,607 780,430 1,669,961 105,466 6,247,385
Gross profit margin (%) %% (%) 16.0% 17.1% 39.6% 59.1% 13.0% 22.3%
1. Food additives segment 1. BERANMEDH
Revenue of food additives segment increased by 6.4% to FR-RmMmANME DI KAR
approximately RMB14,365.3 million in the Year, as compared T CZFEMEANEHNARE
to 2023, mainly due to the increase in sales volume of MSG and 14,365,300,000 7T + * & B 1 A F E IR
starch sweetener for the Year. T8 BB B R B # S5 = 38 I P B -
Gross profit of food additives segment decreased by 28.5% to FA-BmAMBE S B8 EFR
approximately RMB1,548.5 million in the Year, as compared to TR FFHAL28 5% EHNARE
2023, mainly due to the decrease in ASP of MSG for the Year. 1,548,500,000 7T * £ ZHNF AKIEF
Gross profit margin of food additives segment was 10.8% in HEETY® - FK Ekuu/?ﬁﬂl]mﬂ DEHE
the Year, representing a decrease of 5.2 percentage points, as FEE10.8% BT =FF 521

compared to 2023, ERa ik



Key products:

MSG: Although the market was weak as mentioned in the
section headed “Market Overview”, we managed to increase
the sales volume of MSG by 26.8%, as compared to 2023, to
approximately 1,637,967 tonnes in the Year. The boost in sales
volume was the result of the launch of 80% of the 400,000
tonnes MSG plant in the second half of the year. This represents
the increase in our market share in MSG. The ASP of MSG was
approximately RMB6,714 per tonne in the Year, representing a
decrease of approximately 16.1% as compared to 2023. The
decrease in the ASP lowered the effect of the increase in sales
volume which led to a slight increase of 6.4% in the revenue of
MSG to RMB10,996.6 million in the Year.

Animal nutrition segment

While revenues from threonine and 98% lysine increased due
to an increase in ASP, the increase was offset by the declines
in revenues from the 70% lysine and corn refined products.
Revenue of animal nutrition segment dropped by 1.8% to
approximately RMB8,739.3 million in the Year, as compared
to 2023. Please refer to the “Market Overview” section for the
analysis of threonine and lysine.

Key products:

Threonine: Revenue of threonine increased by 18.7% to
approximately RMB2,517.3 million in the Year, as compared
to 2023, primarily due to the increased ASP and sales
volume of threonine. The ASP of threonine was approximately
RMB9,632 per tonne in the Year, representing an increase of
4.0%, as compared to 2023. Sales volume of threonine was
approximately 261,356 tonnes in the Year, representing an
increase of 14.1%, as compared to 2023.

Lysine: Revenue of lysine slightly increased by 2.9% to
approximately RMB2,235.8 million in the Year, as compared
to 20283. The sales volume was approximately 333,696 tonnes
in the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 2.5% as
compared to 2023.
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High-end amino acid segment

Revenue of high-end amino acid segment increased by 12.4%
to approximately RMB2,217.4 million in the Year, as compared
to 2023, mainly due to increased sales volume of high-end
amino acid products.

Gross profit of high-end amino acid segment increased by 5.0%
to approximately RMB819.8 million in the Year, as compared to
2028. Gross profit margin of high-end amino acid segment was
37.0% in the Year, representing a decrease of 2.6 percentage
points, as compared to 2023.

Colloid segment

Revenue of colloid segment decreased by 35.8% to
approximately RMB1,816.5 million in the Year, as compared to
2023.

Gross profit of colloid segment decreased by 54.9% to
approximately RMB753.7 million in the Year, as compared to
2023, mainly due to decreased gross profit contribution from
xanthan gum. Gross profit margin of colloid segment was
41.5% in the Year, representing a decrease of 17.6 percentage
points, as compared to 2023. The ASP of xanthan gum was
approximately RMB21,503 per tonne in the Year, representing a
decrease of 43.8%, as compared to 2023.

Others segment

Revenue of others segment dropped by 23.7% to approximately
RMB618.9 million in the Year, as compared to 2023, mainly
due to decreased revenue of fertilisers and disposal of Shenhua
Pharmaceutical in 2023.

The segment recorded a gross loss of approximately RMB94.6
million in the Year.

SERERD

FA mAEQERSBPPAR=_ZFT ==
FIBIN12.4% = 49 A K #2,217,400,000
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FRN SESERS N EMNR
—TE - ZFEM5.0% 2N ARKE
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EEDE -

B a8 o
FRBESBPUAR_Z_=ZFGHI
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Analysis of Key Production Costs
Production costs
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EFELEERAED
EERA

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-HA=1t—-HLEFE

2024

—g-pg
% of total
production

RMB’000

ARETR

2023

—Eo=F
% of total
production
costs
HBEE
DN
AL

costs RMB’000
HEEE
52N}

Bk AR%TRT

Major raw materials FERMB

e Corn kernels o TOKEM 12,775,954 56.5 12,764,673 58.9 0.1

Energy BER

e Coal o MR 3,942,987 17.4 3,602,320 16.6 9.5
Corn kernels FOREER

In the Year, corn kernels accounted for approximately 56.5% (2023:
58.9%) of the total production cost. The average price of corn kernels,
the key material cost, in the Year was approximately RMB1,964 per
tonne, which decreased by 16.1% as compared to 2023.

The increase in the volume of corn consumption in the Year was
offset by the decrease in corn price, which resulted in the total cost of
corn kernels remaining at a similar level in the Year and 2023.

FR - EARBENGBEERAL56.5% (==
Z=F 58.9%) c FREARFEN (FEME
BA) FHEROABWEARE1,0647T 8
ZEZ=FTK16.1% °
FANEKREBEMIZINGE ERERH T
Wi EHFAL T - =F LT KBERNNE
PR AN HERF AR K o



16

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOR

The following chart shows the price trend of corn kernels from the
first half of 2022 to the second half of 2024:

TEINRBE-S-_Z_F L+¥FE_FT_MNF
THEFRBRANERBS -

Price Trend of Corn Kernels

EREHNERBS

RMB/Tonne
N
2,500 —

2,397

2,400 —
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2,200 —
2,100 —
2,000 —

1,900 —

1,800

1H2022 2H2022 1H2023

2H2023 1H2024 2H2024

—E-CF T4 —E-=F —E-=4F —E P4 —EE

e T b5

Energy cost

The coal cost is the main energy cost. Coal accounted for
approximately 17.4% (2023: 16.6%) of the total production cost in
the Year. The average unit cost of coal in the Year was approximately
RMB385 per tonne, representing a decrease of 6.6%, as compared
to 2023.

The Group’s major production bases have our own power plants with
access to the low cost coal in the regions by purchasing directly from
the local coal mines with long-term contracts to guarantee our coal
supply volume.

Tapa b s

BE R AL AR

BRAABETEMERKAK - F7R - F R
MBEFERR AN 17.4% (ZE == : 16.6%) °
FER o ER TP BEARK AL AT A R385
TR E-=EFH6.6% -

AEENTELEEMBEBSNEER
BREZAFIRPAONEWRESIRE
Bk BFZSHWEERAERZH - AF
ERMHRRFEE



The annual designed production capacity of each of the major
products by product categories were as follows:

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOIR

2o
F
-+

13
A
P
anp
(\Yay

RERENEINEIEE
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Annual production capacity
as at 31 December

RT-A=1+—-BHNFERE

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
Tonnes Tonnes
Product E T Mg
Food additives Ran RN I02
MSG TR A5 1,650,000* 1,330,000 24.1
Starch sweeteners B R A 720,000 720,000 -
Animal nutrition BYEE
Threonine BRA R 263,000 243,000 8.2
Lysine B AL 380,000 280,000 35.7
Colloid B g
Xanthan gum =REB 80,000 80,000 -
Analysis of Capacity Usage of Major Products FTEERERERDM

Business strategy of production remained unchanged and the Group
set production volume according to market demand. During the Year,
the capacity utilisation rate of MSG, threonine and lysine reached
full capacity. Xanthan gum, as classified in the Colloid segment, also
reached full capacity in the Year.

* 80% of the new 400,000 tonnes MSG capacity was launched in the second half of
2024.

Other Financial Information
Other income

In the Year, other income amounted to approximately RMB297.4
million, which was mainly comprised of the income from the sales of
waste products, amortisation of deferred income and government
grants.

Other gains

It mainly represents net foreign exchange gains generated from
operating activities amounted to approximately RMB194.1 million
(2023: RMB160.7 million), as well as the gains from sales of carbon
emission quota amounted to approximately RMB113.1 million (2023:
RMB1.5 million).

EEMNEBRBEEFTTE  NEEREMS
FRREEE - FARE HAEENBERK
MEERERXEZRAHN - FRARRE (DE
REROM ERTESmASR -

* 400,000 f BY R A5 HT 1 EE BE AV B0% N — F M4 T
PR o

Ht M BE R

Htb Y 58

FA - EMKEL R AR 297,400,000 7T
TEERBEMEMBEERA IR K D H
KRB o

Ht RS
HMAMSEEREEBRKLEHHINEFNRS
FEAANR®E194,100,000 T (ZE =4 :

AR #160,700,0007T) + LA M & fix HF R BD
FH N BH ARE113,100,000T (ZE ==
£ ARM1,500,0007T) °
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Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
RMB159.0 million, or 8.8% in the Year, mainly due to the increase in
transportation expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately RMB109.8
million, or 9.1% in the Year. The decrease was due to the decreases
in research and development expenses and no impairment on the
construction in progress of Fufeng USA during the Year (2023:
RMB79,747,000).

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented interest income from bank
deposits. The interest income from bank deposits and bank balance
amounted to approximately RMB492.5 million, representing an
increase of 50.1%. This was mainly due to higher USD bank balance
in the Year than that of 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately RMB25.5 million, or
14.2%, in the Year. Finance costs mainly represent the interest
expenses and foreign exchange loss.

Depreciation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment was approximately
RMB1,179.3 million in the Year, representing an increase of RMB85.7
million, or 7.8%, as compared to 2023.

Income tax expense

Please refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Dividend

The Board recommended the declaration of a final dividend, including
basic and special, of HK22 cents per Share, subject to Shareholders’
approval at the annual general meeting.

Details of the dividend for the Year are set out in the “Results and
Appropriations” section in the Directors’ Report on page 45.

HERTSHERMX
FR HEMMEHEEREMOARE

159,000,000 7T 3¢ 8.8% * I 2 i A 4 % B 2
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%9.1% ° ZR L AR AFEHER BRI K
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5 3PN
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Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
Capital Structure and Financial Resources

The capital structure of the Group comprises share capital and bank
borrowings. The Group adopted a prudent treasury policy and thus
maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total cash and bank
balances amounting to approximately RMB13,657.1 million (2023:
RMB10,880.2 million) which were mainly denominated in RMB and
USD.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total bank borrowings of
approximately RMB11,364.5 million (2023: RMB9,724.5 million). Bank
borrowings include short term and long term bank borrowings bearing
both fixed and floating interest rates. Of the total bank borrowings,
approximately RMB11,016.5 million (2023: RMB9,577.5 million) were
short term bank borrowings and approximately RMB348.0 million
(2023: RMB147.0 million) were long term bank borrowings. The
Group’s bank borrowings were denominated in RMB at year end
date. Depending on the needs and market situation, the Group may
issue bonds and/or raise foreign currency bank borrowings for the
daily operation and investment of the Group.

The Group did not use financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Liquidity

The Group met the working capital requirements by cash generated
from operations and bank borrowings during the Year. The Group
had a net cash inflow of approximately RMB2,955.3 million from
operating activities (2023: RMB1,704.9 million). Taking into account
the cash balances together with short term bank borrowings facilities
available, the Group was financially sound throughout the Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets were
approximately RMB6,291.6 million (31 December 2023: RMB5,670.7
million) and current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
was 1.39 times (2023: 1.40 times).

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOIR

BEXRE RBDESRMBER
BERRBRUYBER
AEENEARBEERAMRITEER - K
SERKBFENEBBE  BAURAFER
FRiERORBESHN

RZZE-_WE+_A=+—H0 AEBHR
© MIRTTHEHRELO A AR 13,657,100,000
T(ZZE=—=4%: AR¥10,880,200,0007C) °
FEUARBERETLEE-

RZZE-_NE+_A=+—08 KEEHE
TIEE AN AR 11,364,500,0007T (=
T - =4F: AR¥9,724,500,0007T) ° BT
EEAREHLRBARTEE IHET
MZBF KB - RIRITEEREFR - HA
R #11,016,500,000C (ZZE=Z=F : AR
#9,577,500,00070) AR BIRTEE LA
R 348,000,000 (ZEZ=F : ARK
147,000,0007T) B RHRITEE - NEB R
TEERFEAUAREFAE RIFTER
TRmE  NEBAJETES R HKEEH
BRTEE  ARAEEAEEERKE -

AEBVEFERERTAFEERRE -

REBES

RAEE  RNEBULEELENES IR
BEERENELBELT R AEELE T
T8I & R AFEBL A AR 2955300,000
T (ZEZ=% : AR®1,704,900,0007T) °
KRB eEHERAIBARPETEESE
B AEERBREFEHRSITEER -

R_ZE-_ME+_A=Z+—H A£EHH
RBEEFENH A ARKG,291,600,000
T(ZEZ_=F+-A=+—H: ARK
5,670,700,0007T) * B & CRBVE ERKR A
RENAEE) B139E (=4 : 1.401%) -

19



20

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MANAGEMENT REVIEW
EHEOR

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB36,089.9 million (31 December 2023:
RMB32,560.9 million) whereas the total debts amounted to
RMB11,364.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB9,784.9 million). The
gearing ratio was approximately 31.5% (31 December 2023: 30.1%)
which was calculated based on the Group’s total debts over total
assets. Total debts include current and non-current bank borrowings
and non-current borrowings from third parties as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Foreign exchange exposure

Foreign currencies of the Group are received from the export sales.
Such proceeds are subject to foreign exchange risk before receiving
or converting them into RMB. The foreign currencies are converted
into RMB depending on needs and market conditions.

During the Year, the Group recorded a net foreign exchange gains as
follow:

Foreign exchange gains/(losses): SNERE(E518) ¢

— From operating activities classified under
other gains — net (a) (Note 7)

— From financing activities classified under
finance costs (Note 10)

(Bt 10)

Net foreign exchange gains SN A 15 F 58

EEBBLLE
RZFZME+ZA=+—H AKH
MEEBLENRAKRKES6,089,900,000
T(ZE-=Ff+-_A=+—8: ARK
32,560,900,0007T) * MEMKEREA A AR
11,364,500,000 C (ZE=—=F+-_A=+—
H: AR#9,784,900,0007T) - BEBELL
BB 5% (CE-_=F+—-F=+—8:
30.1%) ' H R ASBESBERINEER
EffE R -_MER-_ZTE-_=F+_A
—+—H EHRERERDMIERBIRT
BEUARKREE=ZFHIERBEE -

SME RLBR

AEBEMINETREHOHE - RKERERE
FISREARKBE LB/ ARER  HEAX
SMNERR - INERBER MR ABBARE -

FA - NEESFINEFFFEMOT

2024
—E-mF

2023
T
RMB’000
AREF T

RMB’000
AR TR

— REREERY  DE/EM
IS — 58 () (MiE7)
— REREZD  DBR/PBRA

194,106 160,747
(1,245) (14,485)
192,861 146,262

a. The increase in the net foreign exchange gains from operating
activities was mainly due to the appreciation of USD to RMB
and higher USD cash balance at the end of the Year than that of
2023.

a KEEHINEFGFEEN TERMHA
RETHAREABRERETRESLE
BENR-_E =M -



Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2024, RMB2,599.1 million of restricted bank
balances (31 December 2023: RMB3,390.0 million) and RMB8.0
million of notes receivable (31 December 2023: RMB36.5 million)
were pledged to certain banks to secure bank borrowings of
RMB3,833.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB3,646.5 million) of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, RMB386.1 million restricted bank balances
were pledged as security for issuing notes payable (31 December
2023: RMB31.0 million) and RMB19.9 million restricted bank
balances (31 December 2023: Nil) were pledged as security for cross
currency swaps.

Related Party Transactions

The related party transactions set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, did not constitute a transaction which fall under
the definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of Listing
Rules.

Significant investment held

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investment.

Outlook

The International Monetary Fund projected global economic growth of
3.3% in 2025. The Government Work Report of China estimated that
the economic growth of China is about 5% for 2025. Both of these
forecasts are similar to those of 2024.

Geopolitical tension and confusion, such as trade wars and regional
conflicts, may affect the achievement of the above forecasts. Various
economic stimulus measures launched by China last year are
expected effective and China can achieve economic growth of 5%.

In order to secure the food supply, it is expected that there remains
ample supply of corn in China. Same as last year, being the major
energy source, coal supply will remain stable. As a conclusion, raw
material prices is expected to remain at lower level.
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Future Plan
e Continue our internationalisation plan:

(1) confirm the locations and start construction of the two
overseas production bases.

(2) further develop the three overseas regional sales offices in
Vietnam, the U.S. and the Netherlands.

e Unleash the potential of our newly built MSG and chemical
plants in the Northeast: We will promote the sales of MSG and
fully launch the new MSG capacity and fully utilise the cost
advantage from the chemical plant.

Other Information
Material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary and
associated company

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the Year.

Employees

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 17,000
employees. Employees’ remuneration was paid in accordance with
relevant policies in various jurisdictions that the Group operates.
Appropriate salaries and bonuses were paid which commensurated
with the actual practises of the Group. Other corresponding benefits
include pension, unemployment insurance, housing allowance, etc.

Uyghur Forced Labour Prevention Act

Based on the Uyghur Forced Labour Prevention Act implemented
by the U.S. in June 2022, the U.S. Customs and Border Protection
(“CBP”) requires non-Xinjiang-related and non-forced-labour
supporting materials to be submitted and approved for clearance of
the Group’s exported products into the U.S. market.

The Group confirmed that no “forced labour” is used in our
production. The Group provides supporting materials of the exported
products to CBP for approval and then the products are continuously
cleared and released into the U.S. market.
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Corporate governance report

The Company’s corporate governance practises are based on the
principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code. During the
Year, the Company had complied with the CG Code.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee in compliance with
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, and is responsible for reviewing the Group’s
audit, interim and annual accounts of the Group and the system
of internal control. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

Closure of register of members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 May
2025 to 29 May 2025 (both dates inclusive), during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on 29 May 2025, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2025.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 4 June
2025 to 6 June 2025 (both dates inclusive), during which no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend and special final dividend, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch registrar in Hong Kong. Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 3 June 2025.

Annual general meeting

The annual general meeting is expected to be held on 29 May 2025.
A notice convening the annual general meeting will be dispatched to
the Shareholders in due course.
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ESG EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
ESGEEBIRE

This is the ESG executive summary of 2024 ESG Report. For details,
please refer to the full report on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Executive Summary

In 2024, Fufeng Group has been paying close attention to the
expectations and demands of stakeholders on ESG of the Group.
ESG concept has deeply integrated into the development framework
of Fufeng Group, becoming a guide for our actions. In 2024, we
achieved remarkable results in ESG practices and were honoured
with the title of “Aon’s 2024 China Best ESG Employer” and the “2024
Annual Responsible Brand Award” at the 14th Philanthropy Festival
and 2024 ESG Summit, recognising our significant achievements in
ESG practices.

In 2024, we made solid strides on the path of ESG development.
We adhere to green development, with a core focus on the circular
economy, and are committed to building a green, low-carbon, and
circular industrial chain. Introduction of cutting-edge production
processes and high-efficiency equipment can significantly enhance
energy utilisation efficiency. We promote industry advancement
through a strong logistics system built on railway, road, and
maritime transportation, achieving “large-scale production and large-
scale logistics”. This actively advocates for the development of
local and surrounding areas in commercial logistics, export trade,
and related industrial chains. We actively give back to society by
enthusiastically participating in public welfare and charity, fulfilling
our social responsibilities, and conveying positive energy of charity,
demonstrating corporate commitment through our practical actions.
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Under the leadership of the management, all employees of Fufeng
Group achieved brilliant results in 2024, performance highlights as
below:

Operational Performance

° Financial performance: The sales revenue for the year was
approximately RMB27,757 million.

Information Disclosure and Reporting
° Honoured with the “Aon’s 2024 China Best ESG Employer”.

e  Awarded the “2024 Annual Responsible Brand Award” at the
14th Philanthropy Festival and 2024 ESG Summit.

Environmental Performance

e Greenhouse gas emission intensity: 487.01 tCO,e/million RMB
revenue.

° Exhaust emission intensity: 0.18 tonnes/million RMB revenue.

e  Total sewage discharge was 9,904,200 tonnes.
e Recycled sewage volume was 34,642,500 tonnes.

° Emission intensity of hazardous waste was 0.02 tonne/million
RMB revenue.

° Emission intensity of non-hazardous waste was 69.74 tonne/
million RMB revenue.

e  Total energy intensity was 1,434.29 MWh/million RMB revenue.
e  Total water consumption intensity 0.73 tonne/thousand RMB
revenue.

° Packaging materials intensity was 1.08 tonne/million RMB
revenue.
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Social Performance

Total number of employees: 17,376.

Accumulated number of trained employees: 15,630, accounting
for 90% of the total number of employees.

Total cumulative resources invested in public welfare:
RMB8,821,259.

No product recalls for safety and health reasons.
Research and development investments amounted to
RMB365,715,000.

Received more than 1,700 quality hazard reports and effectively
rectified the issues during the Year.

Long as the journey is, we will reach our destination if we stay the
course; with momentum and determination, we will sail forward.
Looking ahead to 2025, we continue to work hard with full
determination, design a new development layout with a global vision,
and strive to create a brand new “International Fufeng”!
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard on
corporate governance practises. Continuous efforts are made
to review and enhance the Group’s internal controls and risk
management procedures in light of changes in regulations and
developments in best practises.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company’s corporate governance practises are based on the
principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code. During the
Year, the Company had complied with the CG Code.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises (i) three executive Directors, Mr. Li Xuechun,
Mr. Li Deheng, and Mr. Li Guangyu; and (i) three Independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Lau Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang Youming and Ms.
Li Ming. Mr. Li Xuechun is the chairman of the Board. Mr. Li Xuechun
is the father of Mr. Li Guangyu and the brother-in-law of Mr. Li
Deheng. Mr. Li Deheng was appointed as the chief executive officer
on 1 June 2020. Mr. Li Guangyu has been appointed as Co-chief
executive officer since 1 September 2024 and Mr. Li Deheng was re-
designated as Co-chief executive officer on the same day.

Biographies of Directors are set out on page 204 of this annual
report.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management
The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success and
interest of the Group through its leadership and supervision. The
principal tasks of the Board are to:

—  provide entrepreneurial leadership for the Company with a
framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks
to be assessed and managed;

— set the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place for the Company to
meet its objectives and review its management performance;
and

— set the Company’s values and standards and ensure that its
obligations to its Shareholders and others are understood and
met.

No event or condition of material uncertainties was found that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern during the Year. The Directors were responsible for
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the financial
statements of the Company, in all material respects, in accordance
with the applicable regulatory requirements.

The Division of Responsibilities Between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should
be separated. Mr. Li Xuechun, being the chairman of the Group, is
responsible for the orderly conduct and operation of the Board while
Mr. Li Deheng and Mr. Li Guangyu, being the Co-Chief Executive
Officers of the Group, are responsible for the daily operations of the
Group. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer is clearly established.
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The main duties of the Chairman include providing leadership for
and overseeing the functioning of the Board; formulating overall
strategies and policies of the Company; ensuring that all directors of
the Board are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings
and giving each Director an opportunity to express his view at board
meetings; ensuring that directors receive adequate information, which
must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in
a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each
board meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any matters
proposed by the other directors for inclusion in the agenda; taking
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practises
and procedures are established; encouraging all directors to make
a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the lead
to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company;
ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with Shareholders and that views of Shareholders are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and facilitating the effective
contribution of Directors and ensuring constructive relations between
executive Directors and non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Chief Executive Officer include taking responsibility
for the Group’s operation and management; implementing decisions
and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational and
managerial decision; and coordinating overall business operations.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a
term of two years. They are subject to retirement and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the Independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent. As the three
Independent non-executive Directors represents over one-third of
the Board, this composition constituted a proper balance of power
maintaining full and effective control of both the Group and its
executive management.
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Skills, Knowledge, Experience and Attributes
of Directors

All Directors of the Board had served in office during the Year. Every
Director commits to give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company. The Directors also demonstrate their understanding
and commitment to high standards of corporate governance. The
executive Directors bring their perspectives to the Board through
their deep understanding of the Group’s business. The Independent
non-executive Directors contribute their own skills and experience,
understanding of local and global economies, and knowledge of
capital markets to the Group’s business. The Company is responsible
for arranging and funding suitable continuous professional
development programmes for all Directors to hone and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition, the Company
has been encouraging the Directors and senior executives to enrol in
a wide range of professional development courses or and seminars
relating to the Listing Rules, companies ordinance or act and
corporate governance practises organised by professional bodies so
that they can continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.

From time to time, the Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills; the company secretary
may also organises and arranges seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to assist
them in discharging their duties.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the Directors REAQNGGFEZLE AFALEERT
received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, AN ESRER AT EFRAFE
functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance BXUTERENLETRATES AR B

with the requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional BB E T
development during the Year:

Corporate Governance/
Updates on laws,
rules and regulations

EEREA - RAR

R 2 B
Read Attend
materials seminars

Director R 3E A o FE AR

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Li Xuechun FEM 5L v v

Mr. Li Deheng Tk E v v

Mr. Li Guangyu TELLAE v v

Independent non-executive Directors BN ITEE

Mr. Lau Chung Wai 2IhiE S E v v

Mr. Zhang Youming RRBBEE v v

Ms. Li Ming T+ v v
Board Meetings EEEEE
The chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring ITRBERESESY HMREFESTEA
the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its role, setting agenda EUNAESMEEREFTFESSERLER
for board meetings, and taking into account any matters proposed by WERBAEMESRZCEAMEENAZRE -

other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
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The chairman is also responsible for making sure that all the Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings. The
chairman also ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely
and clear information. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Company through their initial
induction, ongoing participation at board and committee meetings,
and through meeting key people at head office and in the divisions.

All the Directors have access to the services of the company secretary
who regularly updates the Board on governance and regulatory
matters. Any Director, who wishes to do so in the furtherance of his
or her duties, may seek independent professional advice through the
chairman at the Company’s expense. The availability of professional
advice extends to the Audit, Remuneration and other Committees.

Four regular Board meetings will be held during the Year and the
Board will convene other meetings when necessary. Before a Board
meeting is convened, relevant documents will be sent to the Directors
for their review pursuant to the Listing Rules and the CG Code.
Attendance of each Director at the Board meeting and the annual
general meeting during the Year is set out below:

Director

Executive Directors HiTEE

Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman) FEBMEE(EFER)
Mr. Li Deheng FEEEE

Mr. Li Guangyu TELELE
Independent non-executive Directors BB ITEE

Mr. Lau Chung Wai 2lfhie kAt

Mr. Zhang Youming SRR AL A

Ms. Li Ming e+
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EEBMBEMENRERAN HE2EE
EghkZEgged URBETIBEEAERN
mEL R D REEE - NETE R ERGEE - AN
AR INRE AR RNATBRE
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Annual
general
meeting
attendance
BRREFKSE
HE =

Board
meeting

attendance
EEEEH
R R

11/11 11
11/11 11
11/11 1/1

11/11 11
11/11 0/1
11/11 11




Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the company secretary
or the secretary to the Board, and together with any supporting
Board papers, are available to all Board members. Board meetings
are structured to encourage open and frank discussions to ensure
the non-executive Directors can provide effective enquiries to each
executive Director. When necessary, the Independent non-executive
Directors meet privately to discuss matters which are relevant to their
specific responsibility.

In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has
established four committees: Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and ESG Committee. All
committees have its terms of reference which fulfil the principles set
out in the CG Code. The secretary of the Board takes minutes of the
meetings of these committees and the work of these committees is
reported to the Board.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and
Indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal actions against
the Directors. Throughout the year, no claim had been made against
the Directors and the officers of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board have adopted a policy of Board diversity and discussed all
measurable objectives set for implementing the same.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRELRE

EXe R CHARRMEREFTENER
ERE REACBERENAEENES
EEBNM HARAMAESEXRERM - &
SEERNRY FEZBESFAFME
B E W BRIFRTEFERNEBENTE
EREAMNER ERER  BIUIFNT
EFENTETER TmEEAHGRESR
EZEOE

RERRENGEELR EFE2HIUE
NNEZBE EMLZEE REZE® H
MEZEENESGEES -MAEZESZBE
HETETEXREATAMERA -EXE
WERRTLZEGRBEALE MIEFER
BEEMEEQERTE-

EERERAEEAREBREE

ARARCHEEZAREEYHERITHR
BaENEERRE AREEEZENSRA
B-FR ARAAEELEHRABILEM@ R
ERARE -

EEEZULEE
EFGCRM—BEFESTHBRRLRE
TEMBREN AT ERRE -

ARBMEFLHEEZTEREZ T ES -
VTENEREFSEABEMEARRRHENK
EARRAREE - KRR ZTCRENTFEEE -
ExeRBEZEEZ TLBRTEER (R
EERRNMR - Fit XERBEER
Bk BELR RERFB)HEEREA -
EZeMAZAEREERARES LHEER
EEEXRBELIEMERE -

33



34

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELWE

The Board currently has one female Director. The Board recognises
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and
continue to take initiatives to identify female candidate(s) to enhance
the gender diversity among the Board members.

Our diversity philosophy including the gender diversity was generally
followed in the workforce throughout the Group for the Year. At
31 December 2024, 80.1% of our total workforce (including senior
management) was male. We will continue with our efforts to increase
gender diversity across our workforce.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practises, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and the
Company’s policies and practises on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of Model Code, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

Model Code on Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code. Having made specific
enquiry of all the Directors, the Directors have complied with the
Model Code for the Year.
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Accountability and Auditor’s Remuneration

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
consolidated financial statements of the Group. This responsibility has
also been mentioned in the independent auditor’s report on page 61.

The Board had conducted a review on the system of risk
management and internal control of the Group and considers that
the system of risk management and internal control is effectively
operated.

The professional fee payable to the auditors of the Group in respect
of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors of the
Group is as follows:

Type of services fRAgER
Audit services EZR
Non-audit services IEFZ R
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Amount

&

(RMB’000)
(AR¥T )

3,120
1,578

4,698

Non-audit services mainly represented the professional fee payable
by the Group for services related to the projects of internal control
review and taxation advisory services.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, established with the written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code, comprises three Independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Lau Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang Youming and Ms.
Li Ming. Mr. Lau Chung Wai is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to review the
Group’s audit, interim and annual accounts of the Group and the
system of risk management and internal control of the Group.
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The Audit Committee meetings will be held at least twice a year. For
the Year, four Audit Committee meetings were held with all Audit
Committee members attended all the meetings.

The purposes of the meetings were to review the Group’s results for
the year 2023, the interim results for the Year as well as discussing
the risk management assessment and the internal control review and
the audit of the Group. The Group’s 2023 annual report and 2024
interim report have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
was of the opinion that such reports were prepared in accordance
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that an effective system of internal control
and risk management practises are essential in ensuring good
corporate governance and achieving the strategic goals of the Group.
The Board also acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Group maintains sound and effective internal controls
to safeguard the assets of the Group at all times. The Board has
conducted a review of the risk management and internal control
systems during the Year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Risk management and internal control framework
Risk Management

In order to continuously improve the risk management and internal
control systems, as well as to enhance the level of management
and risk prevention capabilities, the Company has developed a
Risk Management Manual, established a risk management strategy
and structure, as well as defined the measures for risk assessment
and risk management reporting procedures during the Year. The
organisational structure for risk management is set out as follows:
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Board Level

ExeEmE

Board and Audit Committee

ExEREFEES

Risk Management Team

R B ' 3 /)N AR

Management Level
EEEER

Business Unit Person in Charge

BEXBENAE

The Board and Audit Committee oversees the structure and
performance of the risk management functions, and assesses the
effectiveness of the underlying risk management system.

The Risk Management Team of the Group comprises an executive
Director and management personnel from the Group. The team aims
to promote the awareness of risk management in daily operations.
The Risk Management Team is responsible for coordinating
and conducting risk assessments in accordance with the Risk
Management Manual.
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Management of business units work together with the Risk
Management Team to perform risk assessment at operational level,
and is responsible for monitoring and managing the risks identified in
activities and operations. The Risk Management Team is responsible
for the reporting risk management status to the Board and Audit
Committee.

The four key steps in the risk management process are:

° Risk identification and assessment — identify the key risks
of the Group and analyse the risk by considering the possibility
of occurrence and the impact to the Group;

° Risk handling — adopt an appropriate risk management
strategy (i.e. risk response) for each key risk;

° Risk monitoring — apply monitoring mechanism to ensure
the risk response are operated effectively;

° Risk reporting — summarise the result of risk assessment
and report to the Risk Management Team.

In the risk management process, the top risks within the Group
are identified and assessed; and the respective risk management
measures as well as the corresponding mitigating controls are
discussed, agreed and implemented by the management. Risk
assessment results are reported by the Risk Management Team to
the Board and Audit Committee annually.

Internal Control

The Company has established internal audit function and regularly
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control in order
to ensure that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and
ever changing business environment.
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Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems

The Risk Management Team assisted by professional accounting
firms has made the annual risk assessment during the Year. It is
reported to the Audit Committee. Key risks are identified and their
responsive mitigating controls are documented in the risk registers
and reported to the Board by the Audit Committee and Risk
Management Team.

Through the Audit Committee and Risk Management Team, the
Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control of
business operations for the Year, and considered that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
sufficient. The management has provided confirmation as to the
effectiveness of the system for the Year to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management functions.
No significant areas of concern that may affect the Company to
achieve strategic goals have been identified.

Disclosure of inside information

The Company has established policies and internal controls for
the handling and dissemination of inside information to ensure that
disclosures are made and/or announcements are published on a
timely basis in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The Company has implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs and has in place a strict
prohibition on unauthorised use of inside information.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee established in compliance with the CG
Code, comprises an executive Director, Mr. Li Xuechun and three
Independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lau Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang
Youming and Ms. Li Ming. Mr. Lau Chung Wai is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to review,
develop and approve the Group’s policy on remuneration of all the
Directors and senior management for the purpose of retaining and
attracting talent to manage the Group effectively. The Directors and
their associates do not participate in the decisions in relation to their
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee considers factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the directors and senior management,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability
of performance-based remuneration so as to align management
incentives with Shareholders’ interests.

The Remuneration Committee meetings will be held at least once a
year. For the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
with all Remuneration Committee members attended all the meetings.
The purposes of the meetings were to review and recommend to
the Board the remuneration packages of the Directors and Co-chief
executive officers.
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Remuneration of Senior Management and Five
Highest Paid Employee

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management and five
highest paid employees other than the Directors for the Year fell
within the following band:

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRELRE

EREEERALIRESHETIW
[, JE

RAFE BN/ ENsLAEEEBERAE R
SHET(BEEHRI/NMHeEENT :

Number of

Individuals

A

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T.Z 2,500,000 7% 7T 1

HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 % 7T 2 3,000,000 7% 7T 1

HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7. Z 4,000,000 7% 7T 1
Nomination Committee REEEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee in compliance
with the CG Code. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
the appointment of new directors either to fill casual vacancies
or as additional Board members. When assessing candidates for
directorship, the nomination committee will take into consideration the
skills, experience, education background, professional knowledge,
personal integrity, board diversity and potential contribution to the
Company of the proposed candidates. Qualified candidates will then
be recommended to the Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Mr.
Li Xuechun and three Independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lau
Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang Youming and Ms. Li Ming. Mr. Li Xuechun
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. For the Year, one
Nomination Committee meetings were held. All members attended
all meetings. The Nomination Committee meeting held made
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of Mr. Li Deheng
and Mr. Li Guangyu as the Co-chief executive officers.
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ESG Committee

The Company has established the ESG Committee on 31 August
2021. The ESG Committee is responsible for the promotion of the
development and implementation of the environmental, social and
governance works of the Group. The ESG Committee comprises two
executive Directors, Mr. Li Xuechun and Mr. Li Deheng and three
Independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lau Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang
Youming and Ms. Li Ming. Mr. Li Xuechun is the chairman of the ESG
Committee. For the Year, one ESG Committee meeting was held. Mr.
Li Xuechun, Mr. Li Deheng, Mr. Lau Chung Wai, Mr. Zhang Youming
and Ms. Li Ming attended the meeting.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company recognises the importance of good communications
with the Shareholders and the investment community and also
recognises the value of providing current and relevant information
to Shareholders and the investors. The Board has established
a Shareholders’ communication policy setting out the principles
of the Company in relation to the Shareholders’ communication,
with the objective of ensuring the Shareholders and investors are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to current and relevant
information about the Company.

The Company maintains on-going dialogue with Shareholders to
communicate with them and encourage their participation through
annual general meetings or other general meetings.

Registered Shareholders are notified by post for the Shareholders’
meetings. Notice of meeting contains agenda, proposed resolutions
and postal voting form.
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All registered Shareholders are entitled to attend annual and
extraordinary general meetings, provided that their shares have been
recorded in the Register of Shareholders.

The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary
general meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive operational and
financial performance information to Shareholders and the annual
general meeting of the Company provides a forum for Shareholders to
exchange views directly with the Board, which together help enhance
and facilitate communication with Shareholders. Shareholders who
are unable to attend a general meeting may complete and return to
the Company’s Share Registrar the proxy form enclosed with notice
of meeting to give proxy to their representatives, another Shareholder
or chairman of the meetings.
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Investor Relations and Communications

The Company recognises the importance of efficient and effective
communications with the investor community. Briefings and
meetings with institutional investors are conducted regularly to
provide them with up-to-date and comprehensive information
about the Group’s development. Besides, the Company facilitates
the initiation and coverage of the Company published by research
analysts of well-received investment banks which are instrumental
in providing investors with independent and professional evaluations
of the Company. Moreover, the Group participates in different
international forums and overseas non-deal roadshows to elaborate
on the Group’s business development plans to global investors.
Furthermore, the Company arranges site visits for institutional
investors to our main plants in China. Last but not least, the
Company has established a function dedicated to investor relations
and engaged an external investor relations consulting company to
take care of investor relations matters. The Company also maintains a
website (http://www.fufeng-group.com) which renders Shareholders,
investors and the general public direct access to the information of
the Company on a timely basis.

In order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow them to engage actively with the Company,
a shareholders communication policy of the Company has been
established. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Company via the Company’s website at
www.fufeng-group.com. Shareholders may also make enquiries with
the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective.

Constitutional Documents
During the Year, there is no change in the constitutional documents.
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The Board has the pleasure in presenting the report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
Results of the Group for the Year are set out under the consolidated
income statement on page 65.

Dividend for the years are shown in the table below:

2024
—g-me

Per share
S
RMB
cents
equivalent

HKD
cents

HKD
'000

BRI

Interim dividend - Paid RS -EA
Basic (35%) B (35%) 160 146 402,800
Special (5%) wRIG% 2_ Q ________ 1 _.q _____ ?Q,??(_) N
L. 164 &S0
Final dividend - Proposed KRS -BE
Basic (35%) A (35%) 19.0 175 476,263
Special (5%) B 7(5%) 3.0 28 75,200
Special - gan ondisposal of K RI—HEHE
Shenhua Pharmaceutical ESSIDEI S S o
L2 23 B8
Total dividend for the year FERBEE
Basic (35%) K (35%) 35.0 321 879,063
Special (5%) B 7(5%) 5.0 4.6 125,550
Special - gan on disposal of K RI—HEHE
Shenhua Pharmaceutical ESSIDEII S S o
40.0 36.7 1,004,613
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439,486 22.0 20.0 554,389 504,494
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808,145 45.0 410 1,137,781 1,039,448

115,475 7.0 6.4 176,396 160,521
_______ o). B0 .55 T 1518

923,620 58.0 529 1465374 1,337,558

The final dividend for the Year will be payable on or about 27 June
2025 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 6 June 2025.

In addition to dividend, the Company repurchased 18,647,000
Shares with gross proceeds paid of HKD81,744,640 (equivalent
RMB74,822,000) during the Year.
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Material Acquisitions or Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the Year.

Reserves and Distributable Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in Notes 26 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to RMB4,729,424,000
(2023: RMB6,042,234,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations
During the Year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to
RMB8,821,000 (2023: RMB2,031,000).

Share Capital
Details of the movement in share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors
As at the date of this report, the Board comprised:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman)
Mr. Li Deheng (Co-CEO)
Mr. Li Guangyu (Co-CEQO)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Chung Wai

Mr. Zhang Youming

Ms. Li Ming

Biographies of Directors are set out on page 204 of this annual
report.
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According to Article 84 of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Li Xuechun and Mr. Lau Chung Wai should retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The executive Director, Mr. Li Xuechun, proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is renewable automatically every year and could
be terminated by either party by giving not less than three months’
prior written notice. Mr. Li is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at general meeting of the Company in accordance with its
articles of association.

The Independent non-executive Director, Mr. Lau Chung Wai,
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has entered into a service contract with the Company for two years
commencing from 12 June 2023 and is subject to the requirement on
rotation, removal, vacation or termination of office according to the
articles of association of the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Business Review

Review and analysis of the Group’s activities can be found in the
Management Review and ESG Executive Summary of this annual
report which forms part of this Directors’ Report.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with
relevant requirements could lead to adverse impact on the business
operations and financial position of the Group. During the Year, as far
as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

Principal Risks and Uncertainty
The principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are highlighted
below:

Stable Supply of Raw Materials

The major raw material of the Group is corn. Being an agricultural
product, the plantation and supply of corn may be affected by the
weather or unexpected events. If the stable supply of corn is affected
by bad weather or unexpected events, the price of corn, which in turn
our cost of production, may increase.

Geopolitics

The Group is expanding through internationalisation, which involves
operations in countries outside the PRC. The policies of these
countries may affect the operations of the Group.

Performance Indicators

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling
diversified products. The objectives of the Group are to maximise the
profits and to distribute dividends to Shareholders. Hence, the Key
performance indicators are the profits attributable to the Shareholders
and dividend payout.
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Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and
Other Stakeholders

The Group maintained a good relationship with its suppliers and
customers to meet its immediate and long-term goals. During the
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

The Group identified that the key stakeholders are employees of the
Group and the Shareholders.

Employees

The activities of the Group is heavily relied on the quality and loyalty of
the employees. Employees are regarded as the most valuable assets
of the Group. The Group is aimed to reward the staff with competitive
remuneration package and to provide staff with healthy and safety
working environment. Staff are encouraged to attend training courses
and reimbursement will be made for job-related training courses.
The Group also promotes the employee involvement in effective
communications in designing its policies and practises. The “Joint
Efforts to Build a Better Society” section of the ESG Report has a
more detail discussion.

Shareholders

The Shareholders support the Group’s activities by providing funding
to the Group. One of the goals of the Group is to enhance the
corporate value to the Shareholders. The Group strives to obtain
the quality investments in order to enhance the asset value and
profitability of the Group which in turn the wealth of the Shareholders.
The Group maintains regular communication with Shareholders by
way of general meetings and announcements.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares

The interest and short positions of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO) as at 31 December 2024, as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position

Name of Director Name of company

Capacity

EERESTHRAENRMOER

RZZE-_NF+_A=+—H BZERAR
AlEREITHRA BEAR R A s T A= E
(EEAEBEHFIBEIRG) 2% - EERG
MEFP  BFEARGNRBREESRRBPEK
BlEBEREFE 2 ERM KB EZE
TFRIB BTG AR R KB R AT 2 s K
BT

"R

Percentage of
interests to
total issued

share capital

(approximate)

A
EERTRA
BEARSL

(M)

Number and
class of securities

HHHERER

Li Xuechun (Note 7)  The Company Interests of controlled 1,000,217,461 Shares 39.90%
corporation
FRu (A1) N/NE] TRGIA AR 1,000,217,461 i% A& 15 39.90%
Li Deheng (Note 2)  The Company Interests of controlled 35,320,160 Shares 1.41%
corporation
FEE (HE2) AN/NE] e IS 2 35,320,160 % J& 5 1.41%
Notes: Bzt
1. The interest in these Shares is held by Motivator Enterprises Limited, the entire 1. 1 55 1% 19 # %5 /R Motivator Enterprises Limited #5745 +

issued share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li Xuechun,
an executive Director and the chairman of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Xuechun is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Motivator Enterprises
Limited under the SFO.

2. The interest in these Shares is held by Empire Spring Investments Limited, the
entire issued shares capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li
Deheng, an executive Director and Co-chief executive officer of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr Li Deheng is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Empire
Spring Investments Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had an interest or
short position in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

HE2HEHTRAHARANTESHREIRTEH
EEREERER WU RIBEFHFREBAE KRG -
2= B 0 5 4 3 48 A 7 Motivator Enterprises Limited BT
FRMBRmnFEa#Ez -

2. IR 19 #E 25 B Empire Spring Investments Limited
BE H2HEBTRABEARRRITESRET
TRAHTEEEE2EERES - Bt RIEE
5 R AIE G0 - Z1EE % A 348 B Empire Spring
Investments Limited FT % 2 B0 A% (5 A i w= o

BEXPHEEN R-_ZE_WF+_H
=t—B BEEFHIARAKETRAER
RAR B REAEAAEER (F& R &5 R
BEHROIEXVER) Z EmA D Bk HE
HH BEACHERARRREES MNAE
GBI £ 3521k FE 2 e a B L it 2 #a 0K
B EIRERETAEAITAE AR R
R ZERIRE



Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
persons, other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position
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TERRE
RoZ-—mE+-—A=+—0 REZER
HR 2 50 S 336 15 E IR B 2 B M ais -
TH AT (BEEXALTESTHABBI)
TR AR R A 2 AR

"R

Percentage of
interests to

Class and total issued
Name of Group number of share capital
member Capacity securities (approximate)
i
EBTRE
BYFDL
AEEREAREE HHEEIREE (W8
Motivator Enterprises ~ The Company Beneficial interests 1,000,217,461 Shares 39.90%
Limited (Note 1)
Motivator Enterprises 2N ] EatEn 1,000,217,461 & A 15 39.90%
Limited (4747 1)
Shi Guiling (Note 2) The Company Interests of spouse 1,000,217,461 Shares 39.90%
iR (H1it2) AN/NS| [R5 1,000,217,461 B A& 13 39.90%
Stichting The Company Depositary 227,266,403 Shares 9.02%
Administratiekantoor
Hermes Hercule
(Note 3)
Stichting i N/NE| FEEA 227,266,403 AL 15 9.02%
Administratiekantoor
Hermes Hercule
(B1i#3)
Christiane Louise M. The Company Beneficiary of a trust 282,154.282 Shares 11.10%
Waucquez (Note 3) (other than a discretionary
interest)
Christiane Louise M. A ] BEEX@mA 282,154.282 & & 15 11.10%
Waucquez (47:£3) (BIERE =R
Jacques Marie J. The Company Founder of a discretionary 282,154,282 Shares 11.10%
Berghmans (Note 3) trust who can influence how
the trustee exercises his
discretion
Jacques Marie J. P\ NG FREGEENEIBA 282,154,282 & & 17 11.10%
Berghmans (#7:#3) AUFERFTA
TEEREEN TR
Notes: Wit -
1. The interest in these Shares is held by Motivator Enterprises Limited, the entire 1. 1t %5 % 5 4 2= Fa Motivator Enterprises Limited #5745 -

issued share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li Xuechun,
an executive Director and the chairman of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Xuechun is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Motivator Enterprises
Limited under the SFO.

2. Ms. Shi Guiling is the spouse of Mr. Li Xuechun. Accordingly, she is deemed to
be interested in the 1,000,217,461 Shares held by Motivator Enterprises Limited,
which in turn is also deemed to be interested by Mr. Li Xuechun under the SFO.

3. The interest in these Shares is held by Stichting Administratiekantoor Hermes
Hercule (“STAK”), which is a trust office foundation established under the laws of
the Netherlands. Mr. Jacques Marie J. Berghmans, being the founder and sole
board member, controls STAK, whereas Ms. Christiane Louise M. Waucquez is a
beneficiary thereof by virtue of her ownership of depositary receipts issued by the
STAK.

H2HBBHITRAAAAFMTESRER T4
FEZEERBES UL REBEZBFRBE GO -
2= B4 5 A 45 48, A 7 Motivator Enterprises Limited FIT
FRMRmFESER -

2. RFERLZLTATSMAEEZRBG Bt BRIEE
K EE &G 3 R B ¥ Motivator Enterprises
Limited FT#5 1,000,217,461 B AR () R A 1 %+ 2=
B R AR R FR D P A s -

3 % % J% 19 2 #E %45 | Stichting Administratiekantoor
Hermes Hercule ([ STAK ) #55 » % 2 8 BB & &
BEBIR L 2 EE P F R E S ® © Jacques Marie J.
Berghmans £ 4 (BN STAKHI B A A KM —E F &K
B) 2 #|STAK » T Christiane Louise M. Waucquez 2
THE#EASTAKEITHEFAREMAEZHEA
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, according to
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed in the below section of share option scheme, no
time during the Year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
the Company’s holding Company, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and neither the Directors nor the chief executives, nor
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such right.

Share Option Scheme

On 12 May 2017, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme. A summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme, as disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules, are
as follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant the share options to the eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group and any Invested Entity.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant share
options to the following persons or entities (the “Eligible Participants”)
to subscribe for shares in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the Listing Rules:

(@) any employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive Director but not any non-executive Director) of the
Group or any entity in which any member of the Group holds
an equity interest (the “Invested Entity”);

(b) any non-executive Director (including Independent non-
executive Directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

BREXHEREEN RZEZMNF+ZA
T B REARRRBESLSLBEIESH
FEBRBMTFEZERELT MEAL
A AN A R R A% Bk 48 B8 AR 10 AR i B 1T (A 4 2 3k

BEROIEFNZH

BR T X BRI B —EIPT R B E SN RAF
EAAERER - NRABHEAEAHE R RA
RAERARMELEAZH  BEES
i B U AN R B ST AR A B B R A D
SEFMESHE: MEF HFSTBRAE
AR R BCB K A8BRIA T F i £ (E o 4
NRBARABES  ETETMAEREERN -

fBRETE
R-Z—+FTA+=R  REIE RN
BT 8 o AR £ AR A48 R 0 B AR 4 £ 8
EEHRBEEMT -

BRI EERARERURSER2HE
EHAEEOERARSR D ERER %
EAEESUAERERESEE LRSIY
AEBENMEMKKREERMEBEENAL

RIZBIRETSE  EFAIKERERT T
ATRER ((EERSEE]) UREBRE
FHEIER N ET AR AR R
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(d) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; and

(e) any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that provide
research, development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options and the share options granted
under any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding share options) to each grantee in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being. As such, the maximum entitlement
of each grantee shall not exceed 25,204,980 Shares.

In respect of any particular option, the Directors shall be entitled at
any time within 10 years commencing on 12 May 2017 to make an
offer for the grant of a share option. For any option granted under
the Share Option Scheme, the maximum period as the Directors
may determine shall not be later than 10 years. There is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for holding of the
share options before it can be exercised. As at 31 December 2024,
the Share Option Scheme has a remaining life of up to 12 May 2027.

An offer of the grant of the option shall be regarded as having been
accepted when the duplicate letter of acceptance duly signed by
the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HKD1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company.

The exercise price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders in annual
general meeting dated on 12 May 2017, the scheme mandate limit
for the Share Option Scheme allow the Company to issue a maximum
of 254,673,403 share options under the Share Option Scheme,
representing 10.10% of the issued share capital of 2,520,498,037
Shares (before the cancellation of repurchased Share) as at 31
December 2024.
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In addition, the outstanding number of the shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme is 250,473,403, representing 9.94%
of the issued share capital of 2,520,498,037 Shares (before the
cancellation of repurchased Share) as at 31 December 2024.

Share options granted

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
were 250,473,403 Shares and 249,585,403 Shares respectively,
representing approximately 9.9% of the issued shares respectively.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company granted options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 2,200,000 Shares, 2,000,000 Shares
and 888,000 Shares on 31 March 2021, 4 July 2022 and 29 April
2024 respectively to eligible employees. The scheme mandate
limit of the Share Option Scheme allows the Company to issue up
to 254,673,403 Shares. Details of the share options granted and
outstanding for the Year, are as follows:

gE AN AR IR BE AR MR AT B AT L B 1T 2 Mok B
TRMEE B250,473,4030 - HHE R R
—TE-_NFE+ A=+ —HDEITRA
2,520,498,037 fX & 7 (B B AR BXE AT 2
9.94% o

B R B8 R

R-E-_WNE-A-—BR-_FT-_NF+_A

=+—H - BRERTE AR LB RS
5 Bl /250,473,403 & % 13 & 249,585,403

BB - 2 BIME B EITIRID£19.9% - RIERE
RiEE KRR _TE-_—F=A=+—

H -+ AWBE-Z-MFMA
“tARREAEREERTHEREURE
4 $£2,200,000 f% B% 1% + 2,000,000 P& B% 15 K
888,000 J& & 17 - BERRFERT BB T S HEMR 58
JERF RN RIEE 1T % 254,673,403 k15 » B
BERRFEARITEMBREFIBOT

Number of share options
BhREHA
At Granted  Exercised  Forfeited Lapsed At Exercise
Director and eligible 1 January during during during during 31 December Date of price Exercise Vesting
employees 2024 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024 grant (HKD) period Period*
i
i 3
ZEoRE RER RER RER RER = ik
ESRAERES -A-8 o fiff R %% =t-A ]k (B7
Under the Share Option
Scheme
RERRETE
Eligible employees A 1,650,000 - (550,000} - - 1,100,000 31/3/2021 295 31132023 31/3/2021-
AERER 3082007 30/3/2026
Eligible employees B 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 471022 496 4/1/2004- A712020-
RERES 3/7/2008 87712007
Eligible employees C - 888,000 - - - 888,000 29/42024 552 29/412026- 29/412024-
RERES 242080 284209
3,650,000 888,000 (550,000) - - 3,088,000

The vesting schedule of all share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
are the same. The options under each grant vest in tranches over a period of
up to 5 years. Each tranche represents up to 25% of the granted share options,
and there are 4 tranches in total. The first tranche vests after the 2nd anniversary
following the date of the grant. The remaining 3 tranches vest annually on the 3rd,
4th and 5th anniversaries following the date of the grant.

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, a total of 1,988,000 share
options granted to an eligible employee on 31 March 2021 and 29
April 2024 were lapsed.

* REERETERHOMAEBRENRBRRERY
R - FRE L 2 BRER SRR FOHROIES
SHEZHERBNBREN25%  EHEMNE - £
—HRBREARRE_BFIRRE - HHp=itE
FRELEPRE=ZEF FUBEFRERTBRFRE

—E-ME+-_A=+—HB% R-ZT=
F=ZA=+—HE-Z - /MFEM H:+h5
m—ZAEREERHA 1,988,000 B I
B ERN -



The fair values, which were determined by an independent qualified
appraiser using the Binomial Option Pricing Model, of the options
granted as at the grant dates are noted in the following table. The
following assumptions were adopted to calculate the fair values of the
options on the grant dates:

Date of grant
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RELBHMREOERENAFERBILA
EfhEmER_EANEEERAEE
IMTERMFAR - HEREL BHBREATE
RAEBRRIT

A ©

31 March 29 April
2021 2024
el 1f 3

MA=t+1H

Fair value as at the grant date REHBHENATE RMB1,164,000 RMB2,589,000 RMB832,000
AR#11640007T ARM2589,000  ARS32,0007T

Assumptions: R -
Average share price THRE HKD2.80 HKD4.96 HKD5.52
2,80/ 4,967 55278
Exercise price EE HKD2.95 HKD4.96 HKD5.52
2.95%7T 4.96757C 5528 7T
Expected life of options ERETEE 6.0 years 6.0 years 6.0 years
6.0F 6.0F 6.0F
Expected volatility BEHKIE 44.35% 42.06% 40.46%
Expected dividend yield R 6.93% 3.76% 9.89%
Risk free rate TR E 1.22% 2.85% 4.06%

Major Customers and Suppliers FTEEXEFRRMHER

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer and
five largest customers taken together were less than 30% of the total
sales for the Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers taken together were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Directors and based on the information publicly available to the
Company, there was sufficient public float as required by the Listing
Rules.

AEEGRKEFRAREFEAHHE AR
BHEARFEHERLBELNE0%

AEBAAREREENBERBEARER
SEAFEBEEEBLN30%

EEEN
REEHB T LT EENEREEREE
ARRZBAEMEABIEBNAL -
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RAFREE - 5 E RN RARERA A
DHFBER  ARRAABRHLRERE
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the Year and as at 31 December 2024, the Company has
purchased liabilities insurance for the Directors, which provides
appropriate insurance for the Group’s directors. In addition, pursuant
to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of
their duty, although such indemnity does not extend to any matter
in respect of fraud or dishonesty. At no time during the Year and up
to the date of this Directors’ Report, there has not been any other
permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of
Directors or an associated company.

Purchase, Redemption or Sales of Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, the Company repurchased a total of 18,647,000
Shares (the “Shares Repurchased”) on the Stock Exchange at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HKD81.7 million before
expenses. The Shares Repurchased has been cancelled before 31
December 2024. Details of the Shares Repurchased are as follows:

Total number
of shares
Repurchased

R 3 1% 10 48 B

Month of repurchase in 2024

—E_NFEEBAH

Purchase price paid per share

BATREMRX
REFERRZZE-_NF+=-_A=+—80"
ARBIEARESBREEARK  EALXEH
EEREEENRE I BRIBAZKER
A EEAXRATEBRERAIEL [
EAEL S E AR 1T AT A5 2k AT B2 1R Bisk
SXMFAHDL - BR WE -BX -8BF
MAYX RARREERMNETESTHE
MO EERERN R T MBL  BFESH
BWETERAREMPERRFFRTHETAD
EHE -RAFEAAKEREERNEZE R
SHE TEATMNESKEBLEQAAHFE
i I BT B (T {r] L e 2 A R R (B I ST A A o

BE BEfiHEXRQTMNLD
&H

RAFEE  ARARBERATERA K
18,647,000 & 10 (BB E R ]) - BREL
481,700,000 7T (FNBR B Z A1) ° fE =A% 1
CR-E-NE+-A=+—HATT- B
B D AFBIT

Aggregate
consideration
paid

2R REARE

ENERROBEER
Highest Lowest
&S R
HKD
BTT

January —H 4,388,000 4.28 4.07 18,284,900
February .y = 411,000 4.22 417 1,723,820
July + A 1,000,000 4.37 4.32 4,349,330
September NA 4,344,000 4.67 4.08 18,436,490
October + A 6,353,000 4.80 4.39 29,548,160
November +—A 2,151,000 4.44 4.33 9,401,940
Total 4B EE 18,647,000 81,744,640
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its bBr EXFTIEBEEN RAFE  AAFl s H

subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the Year.

EAMBARAMERE HEXBIARA
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of the
association of the Company and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands.

Tax Relief and Exemption

Except for dividend income which is exempt from tax in Hong Kong,
the Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of holding the Shares.

Dividend Policy

The Board may declare dividend from time to time. The Board has
absolute discretion in the declaration of dividend after taking into
account the following factors:

Reserves of the Group available for distribution;
Performance of the Group;

Anticipation of future outlook of the economy;

Liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group; and
Any other matters considered appropriate by the Board.

o~

Corporate Governance Report

The listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
took place on 8 February 2007 and the Directors are of the opinion
that the Company has complied with the code provisions as set out
in the CG Code since then.

Subsequent Events
Details of the significant events occurring after the balance sheet date
are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor

A resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as independent
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xuechun
Chairman

28 March 2025
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To the Shareholders of Fufeng Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Fufeng Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 65 to 201, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B BENERE (&

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to “Revenue

BPRNFEE P RS hHBERETFREA

Recognition”. R A6 -
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRETSE BMMWESNMEERRENSE
Revenue recognition We evaluated and validated management’s key controls
WA FER that are present in the Group’s sales process from end-to-

Refer to note 5 to the Group’s consolidated financial
Statermnents.
B BFEEHUBFHEENTES -

Revenue from sales of goods amounted to RMB27,757
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Revenue is
recognised when control of the underlying products has
been transferred to the customers.
BHEZZ-_MF+_A=1T—RH1LFE AoHEEKA
RARBE27757E T - HERMRERIREREEEPE
MHERAERAWA -

We focused on this area due to the huge volume of revenue
transactions generated from sales of numerous kinds of
products to a large number of customers that occurred in
many different locations. In particular export sales, it usually
takes more time for control of products to pass over to
customers than domestic sales. There is potential risk of
misstatement in relation to whether revenue is recognised
in the correct reporting periods.
BMEZRINARZIRAMBERSZEFETIS  HE
SREMERZIEER  RAUZBAHERAT - 555l
EHOHEE BolhREERaBEEBFHRANEE
%EH—E%& CHIRART D BRE RS BRAFEERE
SHERE R o

end, from customer order’s approval, sales recording, all
the way through to reconciliations with customers’ records.
BMYE EXEEEERETERERANME T
EREBRE  RENEPIIENRE  DHEHE—EBEIE
Prlsk S BREE(ERIR -

We conducted testing of sales revenue recorded covering
different products, locations and customers on a sample
basis, by examining the relevant supporting documents
including customer orders, goods delivery notes and/or
customs declaration notices. In addition, we confirmed
certain customers’ receivable balances at the balance
sheet date, and tested the reconciliations between the
book amounts and confirmed amounts if these were
different. The items tested were selected on a sample basis
by considering the amount, nature and characteristics of
those customers.

BPETRER I REPOEEWRAINIT T HEOH -
BEREEREIRBEXH  RERPIIE B#EERS
HMEAE o b RPN EEAERBNEEEFPER
IR TR NER RO RS EREE LSBT
FER AHZERFHFRETIE - MEANFAIBR R@
BEERHESHE RHIUERBEFPHHEER FYER -

Our work also included testing of a sample of revenue-
related adjusting journal entries by inquiring management
of the nature of these journals and inspection of the
supporting documents.

BN IEEBERBAMEIREEZLD S ME UK
R B S I S SRR AR TR ) B AN ABRE O S B D 8 o

Furthermore, one of our focused audit efforts was testing
export sales transactions that took place shortly before
and after the balance sheet date, by reconciling recognised
revenue with the goods delivery notes and/or customs
declaration notices to assess whether revenue was
recognised in the correct reporting periods.

AN HPMEA TIEEH 2 ——RHEERBRHBRIEL
PAZENHOHERHETAS  REREBEEER
S HRBE  BEBRRAETELL  TERARETE
RIEETEmwEHME o

We found the Group’s sales transactions being tested
were recognised in a manner consistent with the Group’s
revenue recognition accounting policy.
BPRA/CHAN BEEBEFEHEIFINERR
WARERE AT BERREF— B

BERE




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B BENERE (&

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BB ES SOt B RRARE
MEE

BMNER THAHYBRRBEERES T
T 7 e 70 BRAF 288 5R 1 28 B B oK #E AR Rt
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B BENERE (&

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mang, Kwong Fung Frederick.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

HHEAZEQRANFEEY  RMAETY
AHAHMBRRNBIZREENER
AmEKRERE=FH - R EZEEN RS
RIS LRI - BRIFAPIRAO TR
FREEELER  AEBERFROBRT -
MRAEERERPIRE T BBRERENK
MEBHRERBBEENARNGE  RFORE
TERERSHAERZEFR -

HERBIZBMBENETREERAR

LI o

BOBKEGTERR
HE 2D

FH —E-RAF=A=-1+NH



BEBEERIA | £ 2024

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
SHFER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-ZA=+—HBLEFE

2024 2023
—EF —ZF==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT

Revenue A 5 27,757,310 28,006,875
Cost of sales SHE AR 8 (22,700,488) (21,759,490)
Gross profit EF 5,056,822 6,247,385
Selling and marketing expenses HE RIS HEERSZ 8 (1,963,722) (1,804,729)
Administrative expenses THRZ 8 (1,091,267) (1,201,062)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment CREERERBRERDR

losses on financial assets (BEE) 3.1(b)(i) 7,170 (2,446)
Other operating expenses HmgEMxz 8 (63,219) (48,969)
Other income H bz 6 297,437 298,817
Other gains — net HA R 15— 558 7 300,293 210,477
Operating profit mERF 2,543,514 3,699,473
Finance income A 10 498,661 330,504
Finance costs B ID N 10 (205,030) (179,538)
Finance income — net s U A —F 58 293,631 150,966
Share of net loss of associates REAER AR EN

accounted for using the equity method B4 A &% &5 18 13 (114) (194)
Profit before income tax RR AT 8 B AT R 2,837,031 3,850,245
Income tax expense Frisfif X< 11 (524,647) (706,121)
Profit for the year attributable % R PE4L F R R

to the Shareholders 2,312,384 3,144,124
Earnings per share for profit FRRREMLEF

attributable to the Shareholders BRER

during the year

(expressed in RMB cents per share) (X BRARE S Z5])
- basic —&K 12 91.86 124.02
— diluted —#E 12 91.84 123.99

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

st & BF R 2 R B B P R — GBI o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
aSftESlRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HLFE

2024 2023
—ENE —T_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBEF T
Profit for the year FRER 2,312,384 3,144,124
Other comprehensive loss for the year FERHEMGEEEE
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss ~ FJEEFT H B E 18254978 H
Exchange differences on translation of EINEFSHIE S ITE =5
foreign operations (3,560) (2,088)
(3,560) (2,088)

Total comprehensive income for the year RERELFERGESWNHEE

attributable to the Shareholders 2,308,824 3,142,036
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should B B A Wt 5K e B RE P Y o — BFBIAE -

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
EHEERARE

As at 31 December 2024 BN —Z —WF+—-HA=+—H

As at 31 December

BR+=-—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_F ZE-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T ARETF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERZE 14 12,408,824 11,644,954
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 15 935,929 892,752
Intangible assets | AE 16 72,218 51,329
Deferred income tax assets RIEFMEMREE 30 57,141 8,602
Investments accounted for using the HAEZDEYRNEE
equity method 13 86 -
Financial assets at fair value through BATEAEREDN
profit or loss TREE 17 5,232 10,000
Other receivables and prepayments H b i W IE K TR AN 38 21 78,329 237,987
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 13,557,759 12,845,624
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development ERPYE 23 100,271 -
Inventories BE 20 6,034,293 6,123,216
Trade and other receivables, notes EWE ZRA R
receivable and prepayments H b e gk -
FE U AR I R AT 5RIE 21 2,735,718 2,711,829
Derivative financial instruments TEeRmT A 18 4,706 -
Time deposits TEHTF 3K 22 745,840 603,041
Restricted bank balances ZRAIIRITEE 22 3,009,115 3,421,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFED 22 9,902,194 6,856,177
Total current assets MEVEEAE 22,532,137 19,715,263
Total assets EEAE 36,089,896 32,560,887
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable BREGRARHE
to the shareholders
Share capital & A< 24(a) 240,786 243,510
Share premium f& 17 @ B 24(a) 152,710 267,716
Treasury shares EF KD 24(b) - (44,241)
Other reserves H A (1 26 1,373,941 1,276,731
Retained earnings IR BB W s 16,575,617 15,580,498
Total equity EREE 18,343,054 17,324,214
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Continued)
EHREARR(E

As at 31 December 2024 W —Z —UF+—_A=+—H

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=HF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARETx ARET T
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities EkFBEE
Other payables H e FRIE 27 - 60,381
Deferred income PRIz 29 976,813 893,009
Borrowings == 28 348,000 147,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 1,298 73
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISTMAE 30 180,234 91,650
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE 1,506,345 1,192,113
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade, other payables and accruals EREB SRR - EER
FIENMIEFTE R 27 4,181,877 3,699,073
Contract liabilities AREE 5 744,572 537,011
Current income tax liabilities BNERFTS R & & 294,551 230,484
Borrowings BE 28 11,016,468 9,577,500
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 15 845 492
Derivative financial instruments PTEERmITE 18 2,184 -
Total current liabilities RBEEEE 16,240,497 14,044,560
Total liabilities BEAE 17,746,842 15,236,673
Total equity and liabilities EmzRkaEREE 36,089,896 32,560,887

B EHEEREREEREM M E— G5 -

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.

FOSE201BETHAEHMBHRERBAESTTRN
TE-RF=ZA-+ N \BHRERRAEE-

The consolidated financial statements on pages 65 to 201 were
approved by the Board on 28 March 2025 and were signed on its
behalf.

Li Xuechun Li Deheng
Director Director
EE o
T84 TEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SfERBEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

Share Share
capital premium
e R EE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR%TR

Retained

earnings Total

REKE @z

RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR

Treasury Other
reserves

RtbffE

shares
ERRH
RMB'000
AREFT

AVBO0D
ARETTL

Balance at 1 January 2023

R-BZ=Z%

-B-REt 243460 266,285 - 1,214,114 13,769,765 15,493,624
Comprehensive Income GalE
Proft for the year ERET - - - - 3,144124 3,144,124
Other comprehensive loss AHEEER - - - (2,088) - (2,089)
Total comprehensive income GABREE - - - (2,088) 3,144,124 3,142,036
Transactions with the shareholders ERRHRS
Profit appropriation rlpaly 2% - - - 54,016 (54,016) -
Employes share option schemes: EERREHE
- Value of employee services -EERBEE 2626 - - - 1075 - 1075
- Issue of shares —B17R 1A 249) 50 1431 - - - 1481
Acquisition of treasury shares KEEERN 24p) - - (44,241) - - (44,241)
Provision for safety production fee ZREEBREE 2% - - - 29,340 29,340) -
Utlisation of safety production fee A% 24 EEF 2% - - - (19,726) 19,726 -
Divdends ) 3 - - - S 269761 (1269761)
Total transactions with the BRRMRZLE

shareholders 50 1,431 (#4.241) BATOS (1333301 (1311.446)

Balance at 31 December 2023 RZB-=%

+ZB=t-H 243510 267,716 @Ao4) 1276731 15580498 1734214
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZE-m%

-B-REt 243,510 267,716 (44,241) 1,276,731 15,580,498 17,324,214
Comprehensive Income FalE
Proft for the year EREF - - - - 2,312,384 2,312,384
Other comprehensive loss EHGAER - - - (3,560) - (3,560)
Total comprehensive income GERRAE - - - (3560) 2,312,384 2,308,824
Transactions with the shareholders ERRHR S
Profit appropriation AR ‘ 26 - - - 88,116 (88,116) -
Employes share option schemes: EERMRELE
- Value of employee services -EERBEE 2526 - - - 1,024 - 1,024
- Issue of shares ) 24 50 1,422 - - - 1,472
Acquisition of treasury shares WEEHRD 24) - - (74,822) - - (74,822)
Cancellation of treasury shares HEETRN 2,774) (116,428) 119,063 - - (139)
Provision for safety production fee RR4EERRE 2 - - - 27,289 (27,289) -
Utiisation of safety production fee FRE2EESR 2 - - - (15,659) 15,659 -
Divdends ) 31 - - - - (27519 (217519
Total transactions with the HRRNRZAE

shareholders (2,724) (115,006) 44,241 100,770 (1,317,265) (1,289,984)

Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE2-m%

TZA=1+-RiH 240,786 152,710 - 1,373,941 16,575,617 18,343,054

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be A OrES E B R B BB —OFRIE -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

SHBERAER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HLFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and
equipment

Investment in an associate

Payments for intangible assets

Payments for land-use rights

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of
Cross currency swaps

Loan granted to a related party

Repayment of loan by a related party

Assets-related government grants
received

Interest received

Proceeds from term deposits

Placement of term deposits

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

REEZHHMERLARE
REXBHERE
ENHE

E A EH

RETEDMBIREFHE

REFDHERERE
S - BB MR

IR
BE—HBERA
AT B B R IA
XS L AR A BR
HEWE - BERRE

PSR IR
HEXNEEE ARG

R
BT —RBENNER
—REESEENER
B W E E AR BT # BY
EUH B
I RIS IR
TEHIERIF R

HE B R R PTSFIR

BREEATAREFHE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=HF

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt ARETx ARET T
32(a) 3,586,352 2,582,093
(210,060) (186,086)
(420,994) (691,130)

2,955,298 1,704,877
(1,192,616) (2,161,270)

(200) -
(23,551) (10,115)
15, 21(n) (5,239) (152,244)
32(b) 14,121 5,940
1,792 -
34(c) (75,500) (20,850)
34(c) 34,584 21,810
29 165,992 215,871
494,522 322,516

20 200,000 300,000
22 (765,743) (200,000)
51,500 164,471
(1,100,338) (1,513,871)




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continuea)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

(#)

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—-HLFE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —T_=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt e AR%T ARBTTT
Cash flows from financing activities BZEEZEBHFEREFE
Dividends paid to the Company’s BEVNGIE &SR,
shareholders (1,218,764) (1,284,246)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMERIE 32(d) 14,160,468 13,467,377
Repayments of bank borrowings EERTEE 32(d) (12,484,000) (9,676,075)
Principal elements of lease payments HMENRHAEASE 32(d) (699) (890)
Proceeds from issuance of shares under 1R 5 1& B B8 B AE st %‘J BITRGD
employee share option scheme Fri§s0UE 24(a), 25 1,472 1,481
Proceeds from term deposit pledged as  # I EEN IR TIEERFRHD
security for current bank borrowings TE HATE SR FT 15 3R I8 22 3,390,000 490,000
Payments for term deposit pledged as K IFER N IRITEE LT
security for current bank borrowings FEHFRX ﬁ 22 (2,599,103) (3,390,000)
Repayment of borrowing from EEFE=-FEE
third parties (77,100) -
Repurchase of shares of the Company [ 8 & 2 BIA% 17 24(b) (74,822) (44,241)
Cancellation of treasury shares S ER RS (139) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEBE, (FTA)
financing activities H&F5 1,097,313 (436,594)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BHERBEEZEHY
cash equivalents B/ (Rd) #8 2,952,273 (245,588)
Cash and cash equivalents at REINRE MRS EEY
beginning of the year 22 6,856,177 7,008,116
Effects of exchange rate changes on ERBEHERE &
cash and cash equivalents Iﬁ%—rf LA 93,744 93,649
Cash and cash equivalents at REKRNEESRESEEY
end of the year 22 9,902,194 6,856,177
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in G PFR € = 2% 8 BB M B 5 — O BIRE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Fufeng Group Limited and its subsidiaries manufacture and sell
fermentation-based food additives, biochemical products and
starch-based products. The Group has manufacturing plants in
Shandong Province, Shaanxi Province, Heilongjiang Province,
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region and Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region of the PRC and sells mainly to customers
located in the PRC.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board on 28 March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with HKFRS and the disclosure

requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622).

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:

o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
° Hong Kong Accounting Standards
° Interpretations developed by the HKICPA.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

—REHR

EUEEERARRENELANNEY
ERHERHRBFMNE A ERR
BHES AEENPELRE BEE
BHIIE AEEEAERNBLER
BARRALENR TEATEEF
EITIHE -

AARRRFAEHETMKINBERA
&)+ E i S5 Hh bk & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
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ARBENEREBARZAAR QT
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BRRAERIN FEEHBBREAA

REIR - EEHMBRERER-F
THEF=AZt+N\BREESHETE -

RREERETHRERED

21 REE%E
() HEEBUBHRELAREE
D EMEGI R B E
ARG HIBERRERE
EX SRS BHNEEY
TSR KL EB B R BHEN
CRERBEERTRE -

TRV HREEINBIEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Compliance with HKFRS and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Continued)

Accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements have been
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated. Other
than those material accounting policies which are
disclosed in the notes to the relevant financial line
item or transaction in these consolidated financial
statements, other accounting policies have been set
out in the summary in Note 39.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, except that certain financial
assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments)
are measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards,
amendments and interpretation for the first time for its
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

e Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause —
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised);

e lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback —

Amendments to HKFRS 16; and

e Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments
to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7.

2. MREETEFTHEEH &)

21 RREE(E)

U]

(i)

(iii)

HEaBUBERELEARER
DNERBIIERE (&)

R BHAN  wmEZFAH
TSR PTEA AR RR —
BiER - BREFAHMBHRE
WHRRE R 75 1R B X B M RE AT
BRENERNGTEEREIN - Hit
SRR H IR HI 39

;go

JEE 2 AR AN K

M HRILE L RAEERR
EETEREERAE (BRE
TTHETR) RATAETEHRI -

REBRRBFR] RSB £
2l
AEEBE-T-_MF—HF—H
I FE RS HEEREA
TBIER BT R R

o HEBHAXEIN-EHALE
5B & E K EE R E
HEH 7 E—FETE
F5IE (E1EET)

s ERHOMHERE-ZF
B R ERFE 165
ZIEETA R

s HEBRBELH-ZTEE
FHERIE 7R BB
ZERNE 7 BT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

The amendments and interpretation listed above did
not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments
to accounting standards have been published that
are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new and amended
standards and interpretations, certain of which are
relevant to the Group’s operations. According to
the preliminary assessment made by the directors,
these standards and amendments are not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position, except HKFRS 18,
which may mainly impact the presentation of the
consolidated statements of the comprehensive
income and the Group is still in the process of
assessing the impact. These amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
Amendmentsto  Lack of Exchangeabiliy 1 January 2025
HKAS 21
Amendmentsto  Amendments to the Classffication and 1 January 2026
HKFRS 9 and Measurement of Financial Instruments
HKFRS 7
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements
Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements - 1 January 2027
Interpretation 5 Classffication by the Borrower of a
(Revised) Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountabity: 1 January 2027
Disclosures

2. REEERETBEREE &)
21 REEE &)

(i)

(iv)

REBRABHR] R EIERT 2
B (&)
EXFINERT AR BB IBE
HERRNS R BERNEXN
T8 AFEHTEHEAZAR
KEHELEATE -

1ol RER AN 2 $TR] R RS ET ZE B
KRB
AEBVKRZAFADEMA
—E-WNF+=ZRA=+—H
B RS HARE M R GR I AE R B
TS IRERSFER 2
AR REBBHAFHZS
M ST R KRB
g ERAETHBEHRASEES
BEE BREZESFEHMNYL
M EER SRR RERTA
B A EE IR IR R
TMEKEBHE  BEBUMG
MEERFE18RAJEE B E
AEBEHEZEERERNET
N MASEREE R EITT
o ZE BT A EE Bk
RIBEHE TS HEE LT
FERHNARZPELEETAFE -

RATRE
P T

FEERLN
ERGEARSE, RIUAME  CFOIF
L -A-8

BEUBREEYN  SRIAERY ZEn

RORRERME B0 -5-A

REENZTHY

Biln

BRUBAREEY  MBERIEIR RotF

188 it —f-7

BERBESE  HEERME- RotF

(#g30) EANEER  -A-B
EXERANY
REENNNE

BROHASEN  BREFRDMAEE TtF
F10% HREAD: & -A-H
E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk
Instrument used by the Group

The Board does not consider the exposure to
foreign exchange risk significant to the Group’s
operation as the Group mainly operates in
the PRC with majority of the transactions
denominated and settled in RMB.

However, foreign currencies, mainly USD and
HKD, are received from sales of products to
countries or areas outside the PRC (“Export
sales”) and draw-down of borrowings. Export
sales denominated in foreign currencies
amounted to approximately 30% (2023: 27%) of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

The cross currency swaps in relation to bank
borrowings do not satisfy the requirements
for hedge accounting (but are considered as
economic hedges). The cross currency swaps
are subject to the same risk management
policies. However, they are accounted for as
derivative financial instruments with gains/(losses)
recognised in consolidated income statement.

3. W¥EKER

31 MEEBEER
AEBMWEBRZLBHERE -
miEAR (BENMERR A TFE
FlxEBRERSREBFNEEAR) -
FEERBREABESAR KNEH
MEERRERTBEZINERD
BB EkEEROEAR
EEPBRVERWECTATFE -

(@ ™A
) SMNERE
AREMRATA
ENAEEEERFEL
BRB RBARHUA
REHERGHE HES
TR R B R A
REKINE RS -

SR AP BA SN R 5,
lEETEREE ((HA
HED RIRREERE
BUERE T BB TLINE o
AN EREOEE
EAEBRAEE MBI
FHAB0% (ZE =4
27%) °

FERANRITEENRZIXE
BT NaERE (B
WESEEEN EX -
KX EE I HER
R EEBREOHOR - A
M- MEDERITES R
TAAR EFE/ (8
B)EAHNBRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBRERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKEEEE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BEREREE &)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) MEEBE(E)
() Foreign exchange risk (Continued) ) SMEREEE (&)
Instrument used by the Group (Continued) NEEFATIE (#)
Exposure [cigm!
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk AEBRBLEHRUAR
at the end of the reporting period, expressed in W 51| TR Y 2N 2 B O E &L R
RMB, was as follows: MO T

usD HKD EUR SGD VND Total
xn BT Bn  Hign  BEE it

31 December 2024 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
“B-METZA=1-AR AR®TrE ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETR AR%T:R
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBLZEN

(Note 22() (Wiitooe) 8885832 36495 90,509 77 10,115 9,023,028
Restricted bank balances RREIMRTES

(Note 226)) R ) 7,403 - - - - 7,403
Time deposits (ot 22/5) EWERWit220) 718,840 - - - - 718840

Trade and other receivables, notes  EWE SEF R E (el
receivable and prepayments FE EURERENTE
Note 21() (fyezong) 701,786 - 6,583

11,928 720,292

UsD HKD EUR SGD ND Total
S BT Bt #igr  #EE 5t

31 December 2023 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ZEICETZACTR ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETL ARETR
Cashand cash equivalentsand B4 RBLZENR

restricted bank balances RRANRITLES

Note 22() (Wiitooe) 4987757 79982 26,378 144 1277 5095538

Trade and other recelvables, notes  EMNE 587 R M EUGE -
recelvable and prepayments EUEERERFE
Note 21f) Bz 523,826 - 1948 - 83 526,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. UBEARERE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 M¥EREZE (&)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) MEEBE(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) ) SMEREEE (E

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

RAEHIBRERNEHE

During the year, the following foreign-exchange
related amounts were recognised in the
consolidated income statement:

FACUATEXHBSE
RAFHBRER

2024 2023
—E_ME —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Amounts recognised in the consolidated A& B F B & FER K
income statement Gkl
Other gains — net (Note 7) H M FG—F5E
(Htet7) 194,106 160,747
Finance income and costs (Note 70) B Fs U A R B AR
(Bt 10) (1,245) (14,485)
Total net foreign exchange gains RERA R P15 B AT
recognised in profit before income tax i N FE TR 3 INE
for the period MGER 192,861 146,262

At 31 December 2024, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 10% against the USD, HKD,
EUR, SGD and VND with all other variables
held constant, the net profit for the Year would

RZZE-_WF+ = A
Z—t+t—H WAREX
EJL BT BT #Fn
B kwmEFE§

have been RMB891,212,000 lower/higher
(2023: RMB479,437,000 lower/higher), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of USD, HKD, EUR, SGD and
VND denominated cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank balances, time deposits and
trade receivables.

B10% -« T FT A H & &
HRFRE - AR AT 4T
Memd ENARE
891,212,000 0 (ZE ==
FRLENARE
479,437,0007C) * EE [
RIBEUET BT &
T FTONIE T MR A AT
ENEeMESESED -
ZREOBITES  TH
GERREWE Z R IE
518 IRESFTER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continueq)

(@

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for bank deposits and balances,
the Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable
to its borrowings. A portion of borrowings bear
variable rates and expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. The carrying
amounts and fair values of non-current
borrowings have been disclosed in Note 28. The
fair value of lease liabilities approximates to their
carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
borrowings obtained at variable rates had been
10% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the net profit for the year would have
been RMB3,702,000 (2023: RMB2,667,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates on
cash and cash equivalents obtained at variable
rates had been 10% higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the net profit for the
year would have been RMB16,920,000 (2023:
RMB10,204,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on cash and
cash equivalents with demand rates.

3. MRRERE#
1 BERRBEZ (&)

(@)

miSERE ()
(i) ZEEHERLFEFERE

ZaN
60
KA

BB RITER R & &
Hh - RNEEY B E ARG R
BE- EMSE@EW&U\&
éﬁg'%fii/mij(ug

ﬁi%frlﬁ/ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ%@ﬂi
SENNEZEPRREE
REEEE - BOBEMA
/?@J5F|JTE+E EAZZX%.
AEEHRENEER

NFEN R R TR B R
TEREMBEEAE - JEH]
HEENEREENRAFE
M FE28 1 EE - RN ELIR
E'/’E“Tﬁji HEAEW
NP EACREREE -

RZZE-_WF+ = A
=+—8 W% 8=
MEEMNEEARTB

10% - P H i B B i
RS RIF R 2R

/8 A R 3,702,000
T(ZEZ=F: AR
2,667,0007T) * F EHR
FEEERF S XN
SR BT

RZZEZWF + = A
=+ —H8 " WZFE®W
BHREMESEEY
MEEH"THE10%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt investments carried at
amortised cost, at FVOCI and at FVPL and deposits
with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to the customers, including outstanding
receivables.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Bank
deposits and cash at bank are deposited
in reputable financial institutions which are
considered with low credit risk.

For sales of goods, credit is normally granted to
customers with long-term relationship and good
credit history. The Group performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial conditions
and generally does not require collateral on trade
receivables. The credit period granted to the
customers is usually no more than 90 days and
the credit quality of these customers is assessed,
which takes into account their financial position,
past experience and other factors. In view of
the sound collection history of receivables due
from them, management believes that the credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade
receivables arising from sales of products due
from them is not significant.

The Group’s investment in debt instruments are
considered to be low risk investments. The credit
ratings of the investments are monitored for
credit deterioration.

3. MRRERE#
31 BERBEE )

(b)

FERRE
EERRYFERE LRSS
BY  REHRAE  BAFE
APARMERE Wam MR AT E
FAABBIRNERRENS
WEREERENRBITREBE
BEX  UREFFPNERERR -
BIEREENEUARR -

) e
CERBRIREEEETE
B RITERRETRS
FAGERITFOS B #
B EERBREEAKR

LA
i)
ZON

o

RIHEEMME BT
HASERYRHAMERE
BAAERFEERENER
BREEEMS ARERE
HEEP MM AR RETT
FEE/FHG —RTEEX
hE W E 5 BR SR (R 4
e BTREPHNEESR—
iR ERBOOK » IR K
ZEBFPHMBIONL - 8
B EHEMARTGE
EEER -EREREERP
FIARBGRAICERR A - &
EERRAEEEE®MHE
& FE IR 5 Y R 18R FE IR
BH5EANEERRL T
EXe

AEBEREBTANKRE
BESERBRIKRE - RE
MEEF RS EEIARE
&1 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group mainly has two types of financial
assets that are subject to the expected credit
loss model:

° trade receivables for sales of inventory,
and

° other financial assets carried at amortised
cost

While deposit with banks and notes receivable
are also subject to the impairment requirements
of HKFRS 9, identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group has trade receivables for sales of
inventory that are subject to the expected credit
loss model.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 36
months before 31 December 2024 or 1 January
2024 respectively and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has considered the business, financial
or economic conditions of the customers and
the performance and behaviour of customers,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors.

3. MRRERE#
31 MEREBREZE &)
b) EERBE)

(i)

THEERE
AEBEETZAMBRRR
BHERBEARAZER
BE
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EHHRM Rk
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TFEMMBHEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)

Trade receivables (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance for trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 31

December 2023 was determined under HKFRS
9 as follows:

31 December 2024
—E_ME+=A=+-—H

3. IRARERE &
31 BERBEE )
b) EEREE)

Within
3 months
3EAA

RMB’000
ARETR

(i)

3to 12
months
3Z12f8A
RMB’000
ARBT R

DL ERE ()
JEWE 5 8RR (&)
WA R T IO4F
+-—A=+—B8Bk=%
—=F+-A=+—H®E
BEEBYBMEERE
TRATETHERE SER
RE B EEIT

Over
12 months Total
128 A UL #at
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR¥TR

Expected loss rate TBHE R E 1.45% 11.94% 97.32%
Gross carrying amount BEETE(E 1,070,254 36,694 7,653 1,114,601
Total loss allowance BIBKRE 15,539 4,381 7,448 27,368
Within 310 12 Over
3 months months 12 months Total
3EAR 3ZE12A 12AML BEr
31 December 2023 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
—ET-=F+-A=+—H AREBFIT AREBEFT AREBTFT ARETT
Expected loss rate TEHRIB R X 2.06% 29.83% 97.63%
Gross carrying amount HBEREE 1,051,258 27,427 4,845 1,083,530
Total loss allowance HBIBKAE 21,627 8,181 4,730 34,538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The closing loss allowance for trade receivables
as at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

B EEER®
31 BEEABREE &)
b) EERKE)

() 2REERE )
FEUE 585 3% (4)
M+-—A=+—BEk
BHER T HRIBARRE
B H 448 2k B 0 M AR
—|T :

Trade receivables
EWE SRR
2024 2023
—E-E T =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT

Opening loss allowance as at 1 January 7 — 8 — BHEI¥)

BRRE 34,538 33,297
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment loss (@) #HEZREE
allowance BRREE (7,170) 2,446
Receivables written-off during the year as 4 A fifl 4 /& 7~ AT g [E]
uncollectible A U 38 - (1,205)
Closing loss allowance at 31 December ®W+—-A=+—HH
HIRB LA 27,368 34,538

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period greater than 360 days
past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

EWESERNLTEAS
2 A] Uiz (0] 78 HA B A M EE o
1 4 5 12 0] U [0 38 2 /9 B
ZBEHFPBE &5
AKRBEEARE B RT B
TE D URREEEBE
360K B R AEEL &
B e

FE W B 5 0K SR H) R B 18 2R
RELEMAZRF > FEH
E i 88 SRR B0 12 4B M 3 8
EXAR—HAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBWERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continueq)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables including the consideration
receivable on disposal of subsidiaries and
the loan to a third party. Impairment on other
receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

Net impairment losses on financial assets
recognised in profit and loss

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, the following (gains)/losses were
recognised in “(Reversal of)/provision for
impairment losses on financial assets”,
respectively in the consolidated income
statement in relation to impaired financial assets:

3. MRRERE#
31 MEREBREZE &)
(b) EERKE)

(i)

(Reversal of)/provision for impairment BEEBE#EZ),
losses B
— loss allowance for trade receivables —RUNE Z AR W
EiE s
— loss allowance for other receivables —H i fE W SRIE Y
E R E

EHEERE (B)
REHRKATI RO E M
MEE
R AT RO E M &
A& B E A WA
(BREEWNE QR EK
MRERERTE=T) °
H fth USRI RO BB TSR
12 AFERERBRLE
1??%%%)%5‘95‘?%%%?%%
Ta”r% ?E?Q%ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ%’
BHREBAEERARIE
7JD ° Th}i’%ﬂﬂzmlﬁﬂﬁﬁf’f
B B PR ER R OB E IS
R E AR B B TR
HIEMIBKRTE -

ERRINBEENEREE
HURE B 1R FER

Eki_¥_@¢&
—=Ft+ZA=+— Eli

EJ* T (FIfB) ,/EiE
FRIRRES R EEIS
é@#ﬂi&iﬁ%qﬂ [ERMEE
WEEIE (), #iE]
ﬁguu :
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
(7,170) 2,446
(7,170) 2,446
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining

sufficient cash and available credit facilities to meet
obligations when they arise.

Management monitors the funding requirements of
the Group and the availability of credit facilities in order
to ensure the liquidity of the Group.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
their contractual maturities.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

Contractual maturities of
financial liabilities

ERARSNEMA

At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-m%F
+=A=+-H
Borrowings EE
Interests payments on REEZHAFL)
borrowings (i)
Lease liabilties HEBE
Trade and other payables EE ST R E M
(excluding non-financial [ER B (TBE
liabilties) FemaE)

FTETIRRE

Total non-derivatives

3. IRARERE &
31 BERBEE )

Less than

DR-F
RMB’000
AREF R

(c)

Between
1year 1and2years

—EMF
RMB’000
ARBTR

RBETRER
EENRBESRAREERR
RERRESRAIPANEE
BE - NENARERR -

BEEEEANRENESHK
REEBENT AL - LER
AEBESZ RN -

TRIBBEANINMBIRAEL
HER M ARENEREAE -

RPBRBENSERAORME
Reng AR BRMRTE
WAREBXN  BR+T—EARE
HNGEREENEREGR

Total
contractual
cash flows
=Y bk
RMB’000
ARETR

Between
2 and 5 years

—EHE
RMB’000
ARET T

11,016,468 348,000 - 11,364,468
110,331 3,558 - 113,889
851 857 445 2,153
3,667,842 - - 3,667,842
14,795,492 352,415 445 15,148,352
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. IRRERE#
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq) 31 B¥REREE &)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) "BE£REK(Z)

Total
Contractual maturities of Less than Between Between contractual
financial liabilities SREBEANEIEA 1year 1and2years 2and5years cash flows

BREE

PR-F  -EWFE —EIFf  REAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTRT ARMTR ARETR

Derivatives fT£TA
Gross settled (cross currency BREEZ(RNEBES
swaps and cross currency and RAEX BB E=H)
interest rate swaps)
~ (inflow) —(RA) (233,894) - - (233,894)
- outflow — R 234,045 - - 234,045

151 - - 151

Total @t 14,795,643 352,415 445 15,148,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. MKREBER®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 M¥EREZE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) RBEZRMR(Z)
Total
Contractual maturities of Less than Between Between contractual
financial liabilities SRBEANIEA iyear 1and2years 2and5years  cashflows
AHRE
PR—F —EMF “ZhF MELTE

RVB'O00 ~ RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
AREBTRE ARBTT ARETR ARBTRL

At 31 December 2023 R-Z2Z=%
t=ZR=t-H
Borrowings BE 9,577,500 147,000 - 9724500
Interests payments on BEESAME()
borrowings () 98,908 382 - 99,290
Lease liabilities HEBE 495 32 45 572
Trade and other payables ENE PR REMD
(excluding non-financial BB (TRE
liabilties) FeRERE) 3,226,702 33,420 31,710 3,291,832
Total st 12,908,605 180,834 31,755 13,116,194
() The interests on borrowings are calculated () EEFERER=-_ZF=
based on bank borrowings held as at 31 FRZFTEZ=F+=H
December 2024 and 2023 without taking into =+ —BAFRITEES
account of future issues. Floating-rate interests B M A RB&EEIE-
are estimated using current interest rate as at EFERESRIR_E =
31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively. Fh-_ZE-_=%+_AH

=+— BRI R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Capital management

(a)

Risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

o safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and

° maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is equal to total debt divided by total
assets at the end of corresponding year. Total debt
includes current and non-current bank borrowings as
at 31 December 2024.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio
below 40% (2023: 40%).The gearing ratios at 31
December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

3. MKERER®
32 EXER

(a)

Total debt (Notes 27, 28)
Total assets

BEHE

Gearing ratio

BEARLE

B AR (it 27 ~ 28)

[ b E 1R
AEENEAEEBRES

o REEHBSEESERS
EeENEN BURE
A 4848 PR R A SR 9
B 3 B R 4035 15 B9 Fi
%R

s HWRREEAEBIURE
BB -

RERIABERRE K&
ERERBIN TFTERROEE
TE MRRBEEN BT
R EEENREBTR -

AEBERBEEEABLRER
HER - ZRBENERE
HRALEHEFEFEDE
ERE R_ZT-_NFE+_-A
=+—H BEBAEBERD
NMIEREIBITIEE -

AEENRBEABEERERL
RUEF DA% AT (ZZE ==
F40%) HNZZT-MER
TR =+ A=+—HH

EEBELENT
2024 2023
—EoE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
11,364,468 9,784,881
36,089,896 32,560,887
31.49% 30.05%

The increase in the gearing ratio of the Group was
mainly due to the increase in borrowings in 2024.

AEEEEABHLELEREE
RN =T MO EERINATEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.2 Capital management (Continued)

(@

Risk management (Continued)

()

Loan covenants

Under the terms of certain current bank
borrowings, which has an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB300,000,000 as at 31 December
2023, a subsidiary within the Group is required
to comply with the following financial covenants:

e the gearing ratio must be not more than
65%, and

° the current ratio must be not under 1.0.

The subsidiary has not complied with the
financial covenants during the year ended 31
December 2023, which constituted events of
default and resulted in cross default of certain
other bank borrowings. The subsidiary has fully
repaid these borrowings in January 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s certain
bank borrowings are subject to the fulfilment
of covenants relating to certain debt servicing
financial indicators. The Group regularly monitors
its compliance with these covenants. As at 31
December 2024, none of these covenants had
been breached.

3. MRRERE#
32 EXERE(E)
@) RABEE(E)

()

EBHRF

R -_=F+=-A
—t+—8 REAKEE
A A K ¥ 300,000,000 7T
ME T REBEITEENK
T EERANBARAE
SFRSI BSR4

s EBERBLEXRITFHE
B65% * K

o RBLETBER
1.0°

HE-_Z_=ZF+=_A
=t+—BULFE WBA
B ARBTH R &
BREHSHRERET
HMRITIEBERINELY -
ZWBARENR T
F—ARREEEZSMEE -

RZEBEZ_WF+ = A
=+—H A£EENETF
BITEREBETHE TE
EIFIEE R BMRLY -
REETHEBZERZY
BFER -R-ZT_NF
+—A=+—H &&£E
WHEERZEELL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

(a) Financial assets and liabilities

()

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair values
of the financial instruments that are recognised
and measured at fair value in the consolidated
financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the

table.

Recurring fair value
measurements

At 31 December 2024

Financial assets

Financial assets measured at
FVPL

- Equity investments

Derivative financial instruments

Notes receivable measured at
FVOCI

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments

Note
/0f3
RZE-mE
+=A=+-H
CREE
BAFEFAERTE
REeREE
—RIERE 17
fTESRTA 18

BRATEFAEMBEA
hErENREEE 219

THEEAE

SREE
fTESRmT A 18

BEBEERIA | £ 2024

SHMBRRME(E

3. MKERER®

3.3 AFEMLE

(@ EMEENER
) FEER

AEMIREE RN G

K HER

Level 2
FE2ER
RMB’000
ARETR

Level 1
F1BH

RMB’000
AR¥TR

Level 3
HEIER
RMB’000
AR®TR

AT
BHSMIANTEFE
1ty 1 B T kT - 2519
BRER DT ERAARA
BURE A IR A K
B R E AR AR
SBIASB=MASE -
BEERTRETHA -

Total

@5t
RMB’000
AR¥TR

- - 5,232 5,232
- - 4,706 4,706
- - 91533 915336
- - 925274 925274
- - 2,184 2,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. UBARERE®
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AEEME#E)
(@) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) () TREEREEE)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) 0 AFEERGE)
Recurring fair value
measurements BEMDNTEFNE Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1BHR  F2BL:  FIER mEt

Note  RMB'000 ~ RMB'O00  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000
Wit ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARBTL

At 31 December 2023 R-B==#F
+ZA=+-
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets measured at AT A ABHIE
FVPL MempEE
— Equity investments -kERE 17 - - 10,000 10,000
Notes receivable measured at KA FEF T AEMEA
FVOCl WEFENEREE 210 - - 1,079,888 1,079,888
Total financial assets CREELAE - - 1,089,888 1,089,888
The carrying value less impairment provision B 5 REAEYFRIA IR
of trade and other receivables, cash and cash SRR EEYRE IR
equivalents and short-term bank deposits 1717 3R & B T 1B R Rk 18 48
approximated their fair values. The fair value HBHEQATERS - 1EH
of financial assets and liabilities for disclosure EAZNERmEENARG
purposes is estimated by discounting the future NEETNEBIZIFEITT S
contractual cash flows at the current market FECGEARNAEEBS
interest rate that is available to the Group for SR T AR)BBRKREL

similar financial instruments. WemmA N ETHEE -



BEBEERIA | £ 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continueq)

()

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into
and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as
at the end of the reporting period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. The quoted market price already
incorporates the market’s assumptions with
respect to changes in economic climate such
as rising interest rates and inflation, as well as
changes due to ESG risk. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case
for unlisted equity securities and for instruments
where ESG risk gives rise to a significant
unobservable adjustment.

3. MRRERE#
33 AR EMREE)
SREEREGE (£)

(a

0

NFEER(E)
AEBBR S ERERBN TR
FHRAFEZLKTH
BARERIER -

F-RK - wEBRMSLE
ENEMITA(WMAHE
BUTAETARKRAESR)
B2 FETIIER @&
ROTHREEE - A%
B EeREERAN
mEBREELREETH
5 ERIRE L (H 40
MEEFMBEREK) A
K ESG R B EE LR
ROAZETEFFAST A -

FoRAREERTS L
EEmamIA (flms
SMITAETR) A FEK
RAfERMERE - %5
ERfTRERAABED
B8R WEAETFRE
BRI - WetET

BERVEFAEHEKXNH A
HIEHUER - AZTA
HAE

F=H - MW—EKZES
A A\ BUER I FE LA A] B R
TISHEIEAEN - BRI
B ASE =4 - W3k L
MR AZS LESGEKE
BHEATAIEEAED
TEmMSEIWL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continueq)

(i)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair

Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

for cross currency and interest rate
swaps - the present value of the
estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves

for foreign currency forwards — present
value of future cash flows based on
forward exchange rates at the balance
sheet date

for foreign currency options — option
pricing models (e.g. Black Scholes
model), and

for other financial instruments -
discounted cash flow analysis.

All of the resulting fair value estimates are
included in level 3. The Group did not change
any valuation techniques in determining the level
2 and level 3 fair values.

3. MKERER®

33 AR EMREE)
(@ THMEEREREE)
(i) EE N FEA A ER

HheR I AMBSEM
ERfTEE

o BRNEWEMKIE
HimE - ERNAER
Yo a5 B AR (5T RO R 2R
RengRE

e BHEERHARM
E-REEAMBXRA
RIBRME R EH
AEEZRERE

o GIMNEHIEMF -
#EBRRK (Bt
e TR R ATIRAY) -
K

AN

e FEMEmMITE
=%))

EMERER
#T o

AT Bt EE B R FER
BMBEHEE M- AK
EERTEF2MNEIR
RFAERS - 3 A
R E R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(@

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level
3 items for the years ended 31 December 2024

and 31 December 2023:

Opening balance as at

R-ZE-=f§-F-HH

1 January 2023 A&
Acquisitions e
Disposals &
Closing balance as at R-Z-=%+=AH

31 December 2023 S+-ANERES
Acquisitions Yekg
Disposals &

(Losses)/gains recognised in
other gains - net

REMNSHER R (BR)
/HE—58

Closing balance as at R-Z-ME+=A
31 December 2024 S+-HANERER

* includes unrealised gains/  * BEREHAMEES
(losses) recognised in EIL B HERR A
profit or loss attributable to BRAE/ (BE)
balances held at the end of
the reporting period

2024 —E-ME

2023 —ToCF

3.

KRR ER 2

33 AR EMREE)

Equity
investments

RERE
RMB’000
ARETR

(@ =@t
(i)

Notes
receivable
measured

at FVOCI
BAYE
A
RENETE
HEKRE
RMB’000
AR¥T R

EEREBE A

RABA T HEEAY
1 (EZFR) A FLER

=

£
“RENHEZT-_MF
“A=Z+—HRZE
=F+-_A=+—HIit
FEEZEBHAIEAMNES:

51

I+

Derivative
financial
instruments

fTEEMTE
RMB’000
ARETR

EH
RMB’000
AR¥TR

10,000 654,942 - 664,942
- 3,449,700 - 3,449,700

- (3024,754) - (3,024,754
10000 1,079,888 - 1,089,888
- 3636127 - 3636127

- (3800,679) (1792)  (3,802,471)
(4,768) - 4314 (454)
5,232 915,336 2,522 923,090
- - 2,502 2,502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBRERME (T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. UBEARERE®
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AT EME#E)
(@) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) @ =MEEREEE)
(i) Fair value measurements using significant (i) HRAEAXT AR AE
unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued) B (E=ER) B -FEF
(&)
Fair value
as at Relationship of
31 December  Valuation Unobservable Range of unobservable inputs
Description 2024 technique inputs inputs to fair value
RZBZQm#
+=A
=Er=F TABRE TAERRALE
NATLE H“EEN BABE BABEEE HATENRE
RMB’000
AR®T R
Notes receivable — bank 915,336  Discounted Expected 1.80%-2.90% A change in the discount
acceptance notes cash flow discount interest rate by 100
interest rates basis points would
increase/decrease
the fair value by
approximately
RMB2,214,000
EUEE-RITELEE 915336 HBHENE FEEHMBRME  1.80%-290% MRAEZEH 1001
ERHIATEE
mn/mIHARE

2,214,0007C
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(@) Financial assets and liabilities (Continueq)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

3. MRRERE#
33 AR EMREE)

SREENEBE(E)
(i)  FRAE AT A] B2 g A 2
B (EZER) R FE

(&)
Fair value
as at Relationship of
31 December  Valuation Unobservable  Range of unobservable inputs
Description 2023  technique inputs inputs to fair value
R-ZE_=F
+=A
=+—H AAEE AAEREARE
=B MATE  GER BARE BAHMEEE ERTENBER
RMB'000
ARETT
Notes receivable — bank 1,079,888  Discounted Expected 0.20%-3.07% A change in the discount
acceptance notes cash flow discount interest rate by 100 basis
interest points would increase/
rates decrease the fair value
by approximately

BURE-RITELRR 1,079,888 HBRHEEME

The Group’s equity investments are mainly
related to equity assets. These investments do
not have any quoted market price in an active
market. The fair value are determined using
valuation technique, including discounted cash
flow model and comparable market multiples.
The main unobservable inputs are the risk-
adjusted discount rate, earnings growth factor,
price-earnings ratio, price-book ratio, volatility
and lack of marketability discount, etc..

BRI

RMB2,421,000

0.20%-3.07% BRIRF=ZE) 100 (HE2

4 DFERI/ HD
#) AR %2,421,0007C

AEENREREETER
BREERRH “FNRE
PR BT 5 5 3 AT AT
SHE - X FEERGE
R (BRMERRSRE
B RAI LTS EE) &
EoEBNTABEHA
BEARRFEMRRE
BMEREH mEX -
MR N B MR =T
[ELEE R
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are described below.

4.1 Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgements in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

4.2 Estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment

The Group reviews property, plant and equipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been
determined based on the higher of value in use and fair
value less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

Details of the Group’s accounting estimates in impairment
of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 14.

4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

EESTHE R A

MBEBEZmEFTEZEAGH G R
BEE ZEFeHRAFARISHABRE
RAFR - EEENFERBARENE
TR B 1 -

BT RHEME LA S LIABE
REMHEMAREER  SBFEERAS
MTEARREHOAIETRR -

AEEHRKELERER - AEE
AR —MEERE LS EEBNERS
RER - LAt s RBRRERE
REBRESIBART AR RFELE
ERAENREEFHERREE -

41 ESREMBWRRERERE

TREENBBRBEENEEZOR
pRERBERINERR ARER
BEARAKERBEES - BEMHIR
SUIA B & ¥R B K B9 BT RE MEAE 5T
8 H T F R FRR MOE BRE
AAENBABRE - FTANEIEER
K ABUBRRFHIB A RE 3.1 (0) 3R -

4.2 % BERRENGTRE

B EHHITRE S BERREER
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SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.3

4.4

4.5

Useful lives of plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly
as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. For deferred government grants related
to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, the
periodic credits to consolidated income statement will also
be increased under the above mentioned circumstances
when such grants are credited to the consolidated income
statement over the assets’ remaining useful lives.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. Details of the
Group’s accounting estimates in net realisable value of
inventories are disclosed in Note 20.

PRC taxes

The Group is mainly subject to different taxes in the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision of income taxes. There are some transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that are initially recorded, such
differences will impact the tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

4. EEST AT RHAE =)

4.3

4.4

4.5

T 5% K% 5% #8197 452 A 4F 34
FEEEEESGETERE RRE
w At Al A A H AR BRI BB R ST -
(AT IRIEE AR EUEE R I BE AR
FERFENERAERFHNESS
B - A A SR B R K 5
BFRARBRENTRBEHMAETS
MAEBARE - WA EAFHRZ
RIFTfART ARG RIEEERERS
FERX AR HEIHENRK
11 38 B5 5 3E 58 B & 725 M0 8 S MUK o
RENEME  BMEMREBERN
ERERFHEBME - EAREK
BESRTERAFHBAGHIEBER
A AGFBROERERE L
AERT IS &L -

FENTERFE
FEMAERFEDNBEEERB
72 R 1R h 19 1 5T 65 B R 1 R SE R
ARHERX -AKBEEFENAE
BRREMNGHAFT B RERKE
20 °

TEHREA
AEEETETBAZNTRBIEA -
REEMSHEGR  AFHEX
HE - NABEEBBRT  BRZ
R 5 R B RR BB EE L
T AREREES EEHHAEIN
MR IR 2 B M R T TR AT IR IS |
EENET  ARFFTENRENR
BRRERINMIGRRENETE &
FERRZEFLERRENEL
TR N R 7 TR A o
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SHMBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the
executive directors of the Company. The executive directors
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources.

The executive directors examine the business performance of
the Group according to the following product segments:

- Food additives segment: manufacturing and sales of food
additives products, including MSG, starch sweeteners,
glutamic acid, compound seasoning and corn oil;

- Animal nutrition segment: manufacturing and sales
of animal nutrition products, including corn refined
products, threonine and lysine;

- High-end amino acid segment: manufacturing and sales
of high-end amino acid products;

- Colloid segment: manufacturing and sales of colloid
products, including xanthan gum and gellan gum; and

- Other segment: manufacturing and sales of other
products, including fertilisers, synthetic ammonia and
others.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segment based on gross profit of the above five product
segments.

7 #RE

BT E BEEREE AR ARITE
FoRTEFBNAEENNBZRE
B UHRRERDRER -

HTEEREUATERD BB AEHE
MIRFRIR -

— RmANMESH: BBEREERMR
ANINEIE @ BIEWE - BH K
B AR - EAERmEEK

- PYEESN BREANHEETYE
BEMR BRIKERESR &S

B R FRERB

- BRERERSH: BEREESE
RERER

- BRI HEMHEBRER
BRERBRELE &

- Hom: HERHEEEGBEM®
BIEEH - SRR HAM -

HITEEERN LM TEERD BENT
HEBDEBERR -



5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December

2024 and 2023 are set out as follows:

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

DEER @)
AEBHE T _NEN T -=4F
T+ A=+—BIEFEHRAETWOT :

2024 2023
—E_ME —_E-=
Products by segments BEaMEDER RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETIT
Food additives BmAnE
MSG K5 10,996,590 10,337,894
Starch sweeteners SRR FH TR A 2,756,261 2,556,369
Glutamic acid _ag 516,605 508,983
Compound seasoning AT R 94,432 90,327
Comn ol E K 1,416 1,429
14,365,304 13,495,002
Animal nutrition BYEE
Corn refined products EKREHEER 3,986,255 4,607,344
Threonine e g 2,517,266 2,121,043
Lysine BaE 2,235,751 2,172,615
8,739,272 8,901,002
High-end amino acid SREEER®
High-end amino acid products =g R E R 2,217,371 1,972,812
Colloid B
Xanthan gum =RRB 1,771,356 2,790,797
Gellan gum EARB 45,150 36,707
1,816,506 2,827,504
Others Hib
Fertilisers e 560,799 615,115
Synthetic ammonia ARE 45,264 92,360
Pharmaceuticals &0 - 87,923
Others Efy 12,794 15,157
618,857 810,555
27,757,310 28,006,875
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SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —NF+=-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2024

5. oEER (&)
BE-—T-_me+-—A=+—RAILEE

is as follows: MAFERAT :
Food Animal High-end

additives nutriton  amino acid Colloid Others Group

RmAmME BYEE SESER BE Hith x5

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR%®T:

Revenue LON 14,365,304 8,739,272 2,217,371 1,816,506 618,857 27,757,310
Cost of sales HERA (12,816,790)  (6,709,899)  (1,397,619)  (1,062,761) (713,419)  (22,700,488)
Gross profit EH 1,548,514 2,029,373 819,752 753,745 (94,562) 5,056,822

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—RAI=FE

is as follows: MAFERAT :
Food Animal High-end

additives nutrition amino acid Colloid Others Group

R nE LR RRIEER B# Hih A&EE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETRT ARET:

Revenue LON 13,495,002 8,901,002 1,972,812 2,827,504 810,555 28,006,875
Cost of sales HEMAR (11,329,081)  (7,375,395)  (1,192,382) (1,157,543 (705,089)  (21,759,490)
Gross profit EM 2,165,921 1,525,607 780,430 1,669,961 105,466 6,247,385

The Group’s revenue from its external customers in the PRC
amounted to RMB19,436,449,000 (2023: RMB20,482,261,000)
and the total revenue from external customers in Europe
and other countries amounted to RMB8,320,861,000 (2023:
RMB7,524,614,000).

The Group’s total non-current assets located in the PRC
other than deferred income tax assets amounted to
RMB13,316,950,000 (2023: RMB12,588,866,000), and the
total non-current assets located in Hong Kong, U.S. and
Europe other than deferred income tax assets amounted to
RMB183,668,000 (2023: RMB248,156,000).

AEEREFEINTIZFHBRABAR
#19,436,449,000 L (ZZEZ=F : AR
#20,482,261,0007T) @ K B BUM & &
HERMBEFHE LWARBARYE
8,320,861,000 T (ZE-=4F : AR
7,524,614,0007T) °

et RBEEFMBHREE  AEBN
REBEMERBEEREAARYE
13,316,950,000 L (ZE = =F : AR
12,588,866,0007T) ° T&r MIBEIE TS
BE UREH =B REBUNSIERS
BEMBER A ARE183,668,0007T (=
T =4 : AR 248,156,0007T) °
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SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 5. 2EFER©)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with HEFZENEGRELENRADK
customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point
in time in the following geographical regions:

AEEERESRMENTREABS
R mESHUA

Sales of goods

HEER
Overseas PRC Total
VSEIN s et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR® T AR® T
Revenue from external customers 2R B 9MEBEF B9 UA 8,320,861 19,436,449 27,757,310
Timing of revenue recognition TSR U A B B R
At a point in time S EE 8,320,861 19,436,449 27,757,310
Sales of goods
HEEMm
2023 —E-= Overseas PRC Total
I G BEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREEF T ARBFT
Revenue from external customers 2R B 9MEBEF B9 U 7,524,614 20,482,261 28,006,875
Timing of revenue recognition R HY By ]
At a point in time NS EEA S 7,524,614 20,482,261 28,006,875

Approximately 70% (2023: 73%) of the Group’s revenue is AEELT0% (ZZTZ=F : 73%) A9

generated from sales to customers in the PRC. The remaining
30% (20283: 27%) of the Group’s revenue is generated from the
sales to overseas including Europe, Latin America, U.S., North
America, South Africa, the Middle East, Southeast Asia and
Japan.

No customer contributes 10% or more to the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

AREMFEEFMHEE - AEBEHT
0% (ZE-=%F:27%) R A KGR
YEINEEE  BIEROM R T =N EE -
bk B3k - PR - REERER-

REBEE-_Z_NMFE_FT_=F+=_H
=+t BLFE BMERPHAEERK
AHI10% A F o
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BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. oEER (&)
Liabilities related to contracts with customers HEFCENERERMNERS

AEECDHEAUNTEEFAREHENE

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to

contracts with customers:

& -

2024 2023

—E-F —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFT

Contract liabilities — sales of goods ARABE-HEER 744,572 537,011

() Changes in contract liabilities () AFEEmEE
The increase in 2024 was due to the increase in sales —= _Eifi’]i“bﬂxsﬂﬂb”\iﬁﬁx
orders to customers at the year end with payments in 5 T8 < B 45 5T B8 2 AN FREK o

advance. The decrease in 2023 was due to the decrease in
sales orders to customers at the year end.

“=FRREDE EEEAEFEEW%UE'E’J
HERERD

In 2024 and 2023, all the contract liabilities at the beginning R_BE-—NMER-—TE-—=%# KA
of respective periods were recognised as revenue. BEHYST AN FESARAaEERR
RN o
(ii) Unsatisfied long-term contracts (i) REBAWEHLE

All of the sales are for periods of one year or less and the
Group does not have material unsatisfied contract.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
Sales of goods

The Group manufactures and sells a range of fermentation-
based food additives, biochemical products and starch-
based products in the worldwide market. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the customer,
the customer has full discretion over the channel and price
to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
delivered to the specified location or have been picked up
by carriers designated by customers for domestic sales,
or have been shipped on board for overseas sales, the
risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

FrEHEARM—FxXUT AR
SEAYBEBBAREITER -

Yoz TEZR B & 5T IE

HE&m
REEBEEHMHBRENEE R
DI EETE R SONINE ~ E(bE & &R
MEMm - EEmMEHIEEEE (A
EmZXNTFTEFPZE) BTFHIH
EEMNRENERATDIRTEE -
BERFERIEFETPEWEMD
ABITEBR  WRAHEE -EEmM
AT 48 TE 3 BE S R B P R E B K
E)\H&Zié(?ﬁiﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%)iaﬁ
MLEIIEEMS)  EmBRER
BERORABREERBRETR KEF
ERBHESOEMNER  EMHIK
NERY  HAEEBEEEIZEE
BB EAER N 2 PR IR B BN o
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SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii)

Unsatisfied long-term contracts (Continued)
Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of goods (Continued)

The products is often sold with retrospective volume
discounts based on aggregate sales over a 12 month
period. Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract, net of the estimated
volume discounts. Accumulated experience is used to
estimate and provide for the discount, using expected
value method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not
occur.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

The Group does not expect to have any contract containing
financing components. Consequently, the Group does
not adjust any of the transition prices for the time value of
money.

DEEE 2
HEFEAWAREHRNERE &)

(ii)

FEBTHREER (&)
Weas R B TR (HB)
HEEm#E)
EmAE BB EInE A n
& WHA2ERMEHEEREE-
HEWRRIEA OB ERER -
WG ET N - 2% A
PEFF R BETN - RAEBER
FE MRS EER A RE AR
BEBIER T H A HER -

EW BN RN EmES R AR
I B T [B] 4K (B RO #E R R AR AR A Y
EFEHEEPR -

AEBYERBERAEE SR D
MEM & A - Bt - AEE IR
BEENREEENEMBEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hiblz
2024 2023
ZE-MF —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Amortisation of deferred income (i) (Note 29) SR W s () (A 3£ 29) 82,188 79,585
Government grants related to expenses (i) 835 2 B 8 HO U #68 B) (i) 86,563 113,884
Sales of waste products and raw materials HEREMERNMEME 82,571 69,133
Others EAh 46,115 36,215
297,437 298,817
@) Government grants relating to the purchase of property, () HEEVE BEMIHEEBNHK
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities BT AFEREBEE  FIERE
as deferred income and are credited to profit or loss on W WHRBBEEEEHFHAMN
a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related EE AN
assets.
(i) Government grants relating to costs or expenses are (i) HEXAZHAZBENBFTHERE
compensation for incurred costs or expenses and EEMNKAXIFAZNREE B8
do not include unfulfiled conditions or other forms of BIERER G EMAE A IA

contingency. R
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7. OTHER GAINS - NET

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

7. HAiRE - FHE

Net foreign exchange gains (Note 3.7)

Gains from sales of carbon emission quota (a)

Indemnity received from a lawsuit (b)

Investment gains from cross currency swaps
(Note 18)

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment — net (Note 32(b))

Fair value losses of financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss (Note 17)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Penalty for land occupation

Contractual expenses

Others

105

2024 2023
—EB-NF —BC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
SNERNISIFEE (M a£3.1) 194,106 160,747
S TR BCRE BV F 15 (a) 113,081 1,460
B AR ESHEES O 15,000 -
RN EE B HEENIREF S
(Ki:t18) 4,314 -
REWE - BERZEEE—
SEE (B15E32(b)) (8,552) (5,659)
BAFEFAEBZNEHEE
AT EEEME17) (4,768) -
TEHBATNFE - 166,413
165 30 5% &1 - (80,269)
AR - (43,687)
Hitw (12,888) 11,472
300,293 210,477

During the year, the Group sold excess carbon emission
quota to third parties with amount of RMB113,081,000
(2023: RMB1,460,000).

Shandong Fufeng (the “Plaintiff”) commenced legal
proceedings against Xinjiang Meihua Amino Acid Co.,
Ltd, Meihua Biotechnology Group Co., Ltd. and an
individual (collectively, the “Defendants”) in connection
with infringement of commercial production secrecy of
Xanthan Gum. The Supreme People’s Court of the PRC
came to final decisions on 9 January 2024, ordering the
Defendants to: () discontinue their acts of infringement
of Plaintif’'s commercial production secrecy of Xanthan
Gum; and (i) pay compensation of RMB15,000,000 to
the Plaintiff for its economic loss. The compensation
was fully received in February 2024. For further progress
of the legal proceedings after the balance sheet date,
please refer to Note 35(b).

@)

FERNAEBME=ZH L EBER
BEpEC %8 A R #5113,081,0007T (=
T - =4 : AR¥1,460,0007T) °

LWERERBZ((REDRELERR
EEMNEWRETEETREAR
EREEQR BIEEMBEHESE
ERmOHBRAR R —ZEA (5E
(EEDREBEZEFDR -FEHES
ARERR —_Z-_mE—ANBE
HEEHAR - HSES  ()FLER
LPRENERBEEMEWERNIT
B RBERECEBRRIARE
15,000,0007C - BEER ZZT =M
FHAZHEWE - FEZEEBRRE
BHRANE—DHERE  FH2HEWME
35(p) e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

8. BMHEIATHMAX

Changes in inventories of finished goods and

work-in-progress
Raw materials and consumables used*
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9)*
Depreciation

— property, plant and equipment (Note 14)*

— right-of-use assets (Note 15)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16)
Impairment charges for property, plant and

equipment (Note 14)

Transportation expenses

Utilities purchased

Travelling and office expenses

Provision for inventory write-down (Note 20)
Auditors’ remuneration

— Audit services

— Non-audit services
Land use tax, real estate tax and

other taxes and surcharges
Others

Total cost of sales, selling and marketing
expenses, administrative expenses and
other operating expenses

WA ARG N RSB

B AR EME R FEM
BEBRAMFAS (H29)*
e
—W% - B REE
(Hiat14)*
—(EREEE(HE15)
mRBERN(HFE16)
ME - BB KR ES
(Htzt14)
BEIFY
FrigKE
EZIREAERS
FEMREE(H720)
TZEREN BN &
—BZR
— IEEL RS
THFERT - BERUR
HEMRERNMNE
Hib

HERA - HERTISER

PRS- TR M E AR =

R

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
(43,582) 51,899
20,326,842 19,751,592
1,820,479 1,597,988
1,179,269 1,093,532
24,298 22,523
9,993 7,480

834 93,105
1,510,004 1,355,082
101,611 107,572
49,921 41,991
127,649 42,806
3,120 4,570
1,578 1,790
188,081 224,060
518,599 418,260
25,818,696 24,814,250

The Group incurred expenses amounting to a total of approximately
RMB365,715,000 and RMB375,009,000 related to research and
development of new products, and development of new manufacturing
techniques, etc. for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively. All of these expenses are charged to “Administrative
expenses”, and mainly comprise material costs of RMB250,841,000 in “Raw
materials and consumables used”, remuneration paid to certain staff of
RMB59,614,000 in “Employee benefit expenses” and depreciation of certain

equipment of RMB7,043,000 in “Depreciation”.

BE-Z-_NFR=-T-=F+=-A=+—
AIEFE ASEEENRAIBEINNA
A R #365,715,000 7T & A R # 375,009,000
TS RNERMBERNBERNEES -
FEZERZBTHRAZING 28
FEIEARMEREM | PHOMERRARE
250,841,0007T * [BRERFHEIZIRZHEE
FE I e AR%59,614,0007T & [
RETRENTE AR 7,043,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

9. BEERANMAX(BREEEMHE)

2024 2023
—ZE-EF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BEIXA(BREESENS)
— Wages, salaries and allowance —I&  FHeEfh 1,628,626 1,428,891
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans (a) —3RKE KA —E FEH R
=TEl(a) 190,829 168,022
— Share options granted to directors and - RTEEREENERE
employees (Note 26) (H1:#26) 1,024 1,075

1,820,479 1,697,988

(a) BAERA-EBEMARE

(@) Pension costs - defined contribution plans

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC participated in defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant provincial
governments under which the Group was required to make
monthly contributions to these plans at the percentages
of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages, subject to
certain ceilings. The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Hong Kong participate in MPF scheme as
disclosed in Note 39.19.

During the Year, no forfeited contributions were utilised by
the Group to reduce its contributions for the current year
(2023: nil).

NEBRF BB R RNE
BE2HEBAEERARENTEMR
KRR EFEE - RIBZAE - &
EEEREESAFSAIEME
DhMZETEELSASENK B
B FH LR - b FE39.19 AT I
BASEREBKRLHNE QR
MEBSHEHMAESE -

RAFE - A& B IR IR
ARMAERAEFEHNHERR (=T
TE=FE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continueq)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

BEERAIPAX (BEREEHE)
(%)

(b) EEESHAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the Year included three directors (2023: two)
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 37. The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2023: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

RAFE AEEBRERSHFAL
BRER-FEE(CTE_=F :MAB)
MERN S 2R FE37 258D AT
FRER - REFERENTEHRSA (=

To=F =R) AXTHBEOT

¥ KO=BR

Salaries and allowances

Pension costs — defined contribution B & A A — FE R

plans FTEl
Share options granted BT ERE

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET AREFIT
5,609 6,459

171 185

356 663

6,136 7,307

For the Year, one of the five highest paid individuals
received discretionary bonuses (2023: none) and no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The remunerations paid to the above non-director
individuals for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 fell within the following bands:

RAFE AR&EmHFALFRE—
BATWEBBBERA (T =5
B AEBYEALERSHA
T EAMEES A IAR
SERAEZR S IFRRERE -

REBEE-_ZT-_NFER_T-_=F
+-—A=1+—BILFE ALk
EFEATIMAOFHATE D BUAT
4R

Number of individuals

AH

Emolument bands (in HK dollar)
HKD2,000,001-HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001-HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001-HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001-HKD4,000,000

FENAR B (A TTEI7R)

2,000,001 77T % 2,500,000 7% 7T
2,500,001 77T % 3,000,000 7% 7T
3,000,001 77T % 3,500,000 7% 7T
3,500,001 78 7T % 4,000,000 7% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

10. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10. B B U A R R AR
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T
Finance income: BBIWRA -
Interest income AMEWBA
— bank deposits and bank balances —RITFRRIRITLEH 492,456 328,057
— other receivables — HAth fE W FRIB 6,205 2,447
498,661 330,504
Finance costs: B -
Interest expenses A EF X
— bank borrowings —RITEE (219,681) (185,888)
— other payables —H b JE A 5RE (3) (3,863)
Interest charges paid for HEEAERBAN
lease liabilities (Note 15) MER X (K17t 15) (42) (51)
Net foreign exchange losses on financing B R E E BRI IMNE BB
activities (Note 3.1) FER (M3 3.1) (1,245) (14,485)
(220,971) (204,287)
Amounts Capitalised (a) BEARL£%(a) 15,941 24,749
(205,030) (179,538)
Net finance income 2R PN L 293,631 150,966
(a) Capitalised borrowing costs (@) EXRLBERE
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of AREEHSTERNMENEBEEKREK
borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average THEMNENMEEAFREANRE
interest rate applicable to the Group’s general borrowings —REENMEFHFE - Fit

during the year, in this case 1.95% (2023: 2.43%). ME&1.95%(ZF =% :2.43%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

11. TAXATION

(@) Income tax expense

11. B8
(a) FrB®ipxX

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETF T

Current income tax
-PRC

-EIT

— Withholding tax
-U.S. EIT
— Hong Kong profit tax

Total current income tax

Deferred income tax (Note 30)

BIEIFR 37
—FE
—ERMEHR
— TR
—XBEEEMEN
—BBNER

BIERPR 1S TR 4R %R
EIEFS T (B3E30)

385,101 486,896
63,958 125,228
30,859 54,916

4,684 5,650

484,602 672,690
40,045 33,431

524,647 706,121

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands and is exempted from

payment of the Cayman Islands income tax.

The Group’s subsidiaries in BVI are exempted from

payment of the BVI income tax.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to profit
tax at a rate of 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) on assessable profits
up to HKD2,000,000; and 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on any
part of assessable profits over HKD2,000,000 for the Year.

ARARBRBEFAERE QAKX
(—NAR—FE = - iR a RIERT)
EREHEEIMALAERELER
D) WERRHRFASEEHEN -

AEENRBREZESOHER A
BHRPRRBELBBFAEN

RAFE AEBNEENEBE L
A 7B 5t &% % 2,000,000 7 JT H) JE
R R E8.25% (ZFE ==
& :8.25%) UM F ST - BB
2,000,000 7 7T ) i R Bt 4 ) A (£ 1]
BRI E16.5% (—ZF — =F :
16.5%) BAFIBEL o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

11. TAXATION (Continuec)

(a)

Income tax expense (Continuead)

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to PRC EIT
which is calculated based on the applicable tax rate of 25%
(2023: 25%) on the assessable profits of the subsidiaries in
accordance with PRC tax laws and regulations except for
those as discussed below:

Six subsidiaries of the Group including Hulunbeier Fufeng,
Shandong Fufeng, Baoji Fufeng, IM Fufeng, Xinjiang Fufeng
and Longjiang Fufeng have obtained the approvals to
become a new and high-technology enterprise and are
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% (2023:
15%). The qualification of new and high-technology
enterprises is subject to renewal for each three years
interval.

According to the Ministry of Finance Announcement No.
23, 2020, “The notice on extending enterprise income
tax policies of the western region development strategy
issued by the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration
of Taxation and the National Development and Reform
Commission” (B B &F A 45 2020 & 5 23 5% “ Bf B &6
MEeR BERERNFZENTEEABARAELE
Fr 5 71 B 28 #9 A 25 ) taking effect from 1 January 2021,
companies set up in the western region and falling into
certain encouraged industry catalogue promulgated by the
PRC government will be entitled to a preferential tax rate of
15%. Four subsidiaries of the Group including Hulunbeier
Fufeng, Baoji Fufeng, IM Fufeng and Xinjiang Fufeng, are
set up in the western development region and fall into the
encouraged industry catalogue, and therefore they are
entitled to the aforesaid preferential tax rate of 15% (2023:
15%).

11. I (&)
(a) FIEBiEx (&)

A5 B R B B A B B R
TEMSH  ZREREREBE
ERIRCERIEN B AR ERR G
FMAERRE25% (Z T - =4
25%) 518 - TXATET B BRAIN

AEEN A EHNBARYREBE
2 LREE BHEEL AKH
BY HESELNEIRZEEK
REMRMEE YFH15% (=
T_=F 15%) WEBMEHE -
BHRMERERAGR=F TN

RIBE R HEERRERER
WEZBRHH _ET-_—F—A—H
BT BEASE T -_TFH
2357 [BAR B PE 2P AR B b ¥ Al
BHBEENAE] R E K
VW EFBRBAEANE TEEE
EXBHNARBERZTHE15%E
ERE - AEEHNNRWBELA
MFmEmEL BHEL REK
TEERHEE LR IBMEREK
VIWBREEEITER S WEE
ZHLA15%EERE (2=
F:15%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

11. TAXATION (Continuec)

(a)

Income tax expense (Continuead)

The Group’s subsidiary in Singapore is subject to income
tax at a rate of 17% (2023: 17%) for the Year.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the U.S. are subject to state
income tax at a rate of approximately 8.84% and 9.5%
(2023: 8.84% and 9.5%) and federal income tax at a
rate of approximately 21% (2023: 21%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the Year.

The Group’s subsidiary in Vietnam is subject to income tax
at a rate of 20% (2023: 20%) for the Year.

The Group’s subsidiary in Netherlands is subject to income
tax at a rate of 19% (2023: 19%) on assessable profits up
to EUR200,000; and 25.8% (2023: 25.8%) on any part of
assessable profits over EUR200,000 for the Year.

11. I (&)
(a) FIEBiEx (&)

PR A AR B 0 3 00 5 Y
ARAAEBE1%(CF =4
179) SR FT 35

RAFE AEENERWNBA
R)ZE Bh AT FE AR B 0E FIIR B R 4
8.84%M9.5% (—E = =4 : 8.84%
MO.5%) B M TS 8 IR T R 4
21% (ZZF = =4 : 21%) B 7
FriS#t o

PANEE - K B A R BT A A
BRI E 0% (ZE =4 : 20%)
BUMFTISRL ©

RAFE - AEBREFEN B AR
78 gt JE FR B & ) 1 8 38 200,000 X
TR EA19% (ZE - =4F : 19%)
BWMETET MEXRTENBR
200,000 8% 7T 89 &6 9 1% i £ 25.8%
TE = 25.8%) BANFTISEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

11. TAXATION (Continuec)

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense

to prima facie tax payable

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

11. B8 ()
(b) FrEBiBERANSEABIEN

Profit before income tax expense

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates
applicable to profits in the respective
jurisdictions

Preferential tax of certain subsidiaries

Research and development tax credit

Unrecognised tax losses and temporary
differences

Withholding tax on dividends from PRC
subsidiaries

Withholding tax on the gain from
disposal of subsidiaries

Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes

Income not subject to tax

HEHER
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
B P15 86 7 2 A ) 2,837,031 3,850,245
B & Bl ARG F#E AR
B R FTE R FRIE
726,398 916,470
ETHEBRARMNEERTE (261,992) (364,817)
M IEEK % (42,857) (44,540)
RERTIEEIE R
R = 24,457 50,527
PRI ERARIRER
TEEL 75,000 102,750
HEME QRSN
TEHEL - 22,478
A HMB A
3,791 23,439
BARBUA (150) (186)
524,647 706,121

The Group has operation mainly in the PRC and Hong
Kong, which is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two

model rules.

As of the reporting date, the Pillar Two legislation is not
yet effective in the PRC and Hong Kong, so the Group
has no related current tax exposure. The Group applies
the exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two
income taxes, as provided in the amendments to HKAS 12

issued in November 2023.

AEEFENTEREBEEFEN
B OECD X2 if — 18RV R A 2 5[ -

BERESAH  IE_SDAHARR
PR R BEEY B ASEL &
HERTHRGER RE-T ==
Ft—A%MNB B ERE 12
S ZAER] ANFTAE - AN SR E R A
ARBEEIAE—AEHRABOE
ERIREELBEERBOISMER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. 5REF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) EREXRZRF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the TR E BT Ty i R G % A bR
profit attributable to the Shareholders by the weighted LA B 31T AR Ay hn kg 15 £
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, (TBRREEFRD)FTE -

excluding treasury shares.

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
RMB cents RMB cents
AR S AR®ES
Basic earnings per share attributable to ~ B& 3R JE(F & AR E A 2 F
the Shareholders 91.86 124.02
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBBEEF

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the BREERNEANEETERAR

determination of basic earnings per share to take into BFOEEEITHE - FH K-

account:

. the after income tax effect of interest and other o HIHBEESEWREEEERIEHE
financing costs associated with dilutive potential VFIE &Hﬁﬂ & BB BR PR
ordinary shares, and BhETE

. the weighted average number of additional ordinary e REABREHAEEMENEBL
shares that would have been outstanding assuming TBREKETEINEINE
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary BREIEFHE -
shares.

2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=
RMB cents RMB cents
AR®S AR5
Diluted earnings per share attributable to A% 5 & {5 & A% 58 &2 7|
the Shareholders 91.84 123.99
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12. BREF (@)
(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating (c) ARNFTEERBFFTARAZ
earnings per share AR

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AREET T
Basic earnings per share FRELRZF
Profit attributable to the Shareholders SAHEERERBNMMAZ
used in calculating basic earnings per PR ER {1 38 F
share 2,312,384 3,144,124
Diluted earnings per share FREERT
Profit attributable to the Shareholders STEEREERNMAZ
used in calculating diluted earnings per % 5 & {1 352 F
share 2,312,384 3,144,124
(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the (d) AEIBHNRGIMETLITH
denominator
2023
—_F-=
Weighted average number of ordinary REtEGREARZFIEEAE
shares used as the denominator in 7 B L R AR DN 9 B
calculating basic earnings per share (FA&)
(thousands) 2,517,228 2,535,208
Adjustments for calculation of diluted REREERNFTEEDAE
earnings per share:
- Assumed exercise of share options —BRERITEREARE (TR
(thousands) 498 570
Weighted average number of ordinary REHE T AR S 2 AR A 1
shares and potential ordinary shares o R TR MBI ER
used as the denominator in calculating ~ JN#EF 58 (FAX)
diluted earnings per share (thousands) 2,517,726 2,535,778
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

(e)

Information concerning the classification of
securities

The Company has one category of dilutive potential
ordinary shares: share options. For the share options, a
calculation is done to determine the number of shares
that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as
the average annual market share price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options. The number
of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options.

The 2,000,000 outstanding share options issued in July
2022 and 888,000 outstanding share options issued in
April 2024 (2023: 2,000,000 outstanding share options
issued in July 2022) are not included in the calculation of
diluted earnings per share because the average market
price of ordinary shares for the Year did not exceed the
exercise prices of each tranche of the share options, hence
the share options have no dilution for the Year. These
options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in
the future.

12. BREF (&)
() BRAERESENER

ARBBE-—REBEBGLRE B
Petg o LEBREM S - RIEH ARTT
EEI’Jﬁﬁﬁxﬁéﬁﬁﬂﬁu,u,ﬁﬁéél’]f‘fﬁ%{“ﬂﬁ
E - EEARA AR AFE
(}§$’&ﬂﬂﬁfﬁﬁ’\]¥i’:}¢§‘ﬁ%ﬂﬁ
BT BEHNRMHEE - EXE
FERBD BB A5 R AR TTE A
IR BT AR D BB (FLEE -

ARAFE L EBENFEEMEL R
BRSO ERENITEE - R
—E - F+ A#174892,000,000
MEARITEBRER T ZMF Y
F 3% 17 #9888,000 17 14 A& 17 & BB i
ﬁ%(_?_ F: B+ A
517 #9 2,000,000 13 14 7& 17 15 B8 A%
B)RHTESRESBAERGARE
EA AR AFERERETES
BENE - ZEEREA RS
BETRERATF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBWERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z —ZT —NF+—_A=+—HILtFE

13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 13. RAERZEZARNKRE
THE EQUITY METHOD
Investment in associates REBEERATNRE
The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments has E_ETNFT+A=FT—HEZZE
changed as follows for the year ended 31 December 2024 and =+ ZA=+—HILFE #E@mA
31 December 2023: RREMNEFEmEZEHOT -
2024 2023
—E-F —F==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Beginning of the year F4 - 194
Additions nE 200 -
Loss for the year FNEE (114) (194)
End of the year FAR 86 -
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 TXEHIWAEER-_Z_MF+_A
December 2024, =t+—B/EERA -
Place of % of
business/country ownership Nature of the Measurement
Name of entity of incorporation interest relationship method
M BEEESZE
EREE HEMARLER yilnd BEREME STEAE
Jilin COFCO (a) PRC 30 Notel Equity
EMFIE () H e 30 At R
Ruixin PRC 49 Note 2 Equity
Infs H 49 g2 R
Hailin PRC 20 Note 3 Equity
A H 20 i3 e
Note 1 Jilin COFCO manufactures products and provides services relating to bio- M1 HRFEEELY) %E FriE o K 2 8 B
based plastics. It is a strategic business partner for the Group, providing Hﬁ% .° ﬁﬁ$%§%PfWﬁi%§1ﬁ%ﬁ§&%
access to the market of new products. The associate has paid-in capital BB R IR o Eijﬁ%/& A E BB A
of RMB100,000,000, of which 30% are held by the Group. 5 100,000,000 7T * H ALK B4 30% ©
Note 2 Ruixin provides services relating agricultural professional and ancillary KteE2 fﬁ“ﬁ%%{#ﬁi%%%%&ﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬂﬁEﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁfﬁ o
activities. The associate has paid-in capital of RMB1,000,000, of which R DR EEE AR B AKHE 1,000,000 7T ¢
49% are held by the Group. HERREERE49% °
Note 3 Hailin manufactures and sells animal nutrition products. The associate has Wizs 8 ﬁg@fﬁ&ﬁ%@%fﬁégfﬂ ° 5/\\:2:@
registered capital pf RMB60,000,000 and paid-in capital of RMB1,000,000 Fr=A=+—R & %3 A A A
as at 31 December 2024, of which 20% are held by the Group. A AR 60,000,000 R EHMARRBARE

1,000,000 7T + HARAREEFFH 20% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZ - - WF+_A=+—HILFE

13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Investment in associates (Continued)

(@ As at 31 December 2024, an impairment loss of
RMB7,483,000 was recognised for the investment
in Jilin COFCO, reducing the carrying amount of the
investment to recoverable amount based on value-in-use
calculations (2023: RMB7,483,000).

The associates are private companies and there is no quoted
market price available for their shares. The Group commit to
contribute total capital of RMB12,000,000 to Hailin pursuant to
the investment agreement and has paid-in RMB200,000 up to
31 December 2024.

Summarised financial information of associates
Jilin COFCO
Set out below are the summarised financial information for Jilin

COFCO as at and for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 which is accounted for using the equity method.

13. AR EZARNKRE &)

REBEQARNRKRE (&)

RZZE-_WF+=—A=+—8 "5
REMF IR ERRBEREA
R ¥7,483,000 7T + #&EREERR
BEZRFERBEEFENTKE S8
T =4 AR¥ET7,483,0007T) °

(a

R

ZEBME N ALART AR E
AAMSME - NEBIRERE B
A8 4F & 4858 B A R 12,000,000
T BEEE-_NFF+_A=+—H
EEH AR 200,0007T °

BHENTANMBEERBE

HRRE
TXEHINEMRFRRZZE_NFER=F
—=F+ A=+ —HEEEZALSF
ERAEREANRNMBEEREE

Total assets BERE
Total liabilities BERE
Net liabilities BEFE
Revenue g %5

Net loss and total comprehensive loss EEFENMERE BIERE

Jilin COFCO

ERuGE-
2024 2023
—E_F —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
223,320 274,701
304,618 313,870
(81,298) (39,169)
19,909 45,982

(42,068) (21,669)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE - —WF+-_A=+—HILFE

13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised financial information of associates
(Continued)

Ruixin

Set out below are the summarised financial information for

Ruixin as at and for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 which is accounted for using the equity method.

13. RAEZ EZARNKRE &)
BEATNHBERMEZ)

W=

T ImER TN FR=_FZ
FT-A=t—BREBEZ EIJJ:iE%
PR AARMNMHENRE -

Ruixin
s

2024 2023

—E-ME —ETE-=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBFT

Total assets BERE 76,664 19,239
Total liabilities BEBE 84,836 19,415
Net liabilities afEFE (8,172) (176)
Revenue g 24,017 32,866
Net loss and total comprehensive loss FEEBREABERE (7,995) (573)

Hailin gl

Set out below are the summarised financial information for TXHNEHR T -_MF+ = A

Hailin as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024 which is
accounted for using the equity method.

=t -BRBEZBLEFERARRZE
ARH B ERBE

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Revenue

Net loss and total comprehensive loss

BERE

BE#E

BEFE

Wz
FERERGABEAE

Hailin
=
2024
—ZEomE

RMB’000
AR®T

476
44
432

(568)

119
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBRERME (T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. 1% - BMERRE

2024
“ECQE
Plant and Furniture Construction

building Machinery  and fixtures Vehicles in progress Total
HERKE HE HBARZEE RE ERIR @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR AR%Trn AR®TR ARET:R

Cost KA

At 1 January 2024 RZZE-NFE—A—H 5,333,572 13,777,596 388,861 138,329 3,617,579 23,255,937
Additions NE 16,462 381,485 42,256 19,799 1,512,078 1,972,080
Transfer upon completion Rk EER 759,276 2,490,642 - - (3,249,918) -
Transfer tointangible assets BB EEHEE (I1#16)

Note 16) - - - - (8.214) (8,214)
Disposals HeE 21) (101,407) (179) (2,874) - (104,481)
Exchange differences EHER - - - - 3,970 3,970
At 31 December 2024 it S ufeS

+-A=1t-H 6,109,289 16,548,316 430,938 155,254 1,875,495 25,119,292
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
At 1 January 2024 RZZ-E5—-A—H (2,279,589)  (8,780,823) (262,048) (94,237) - (11,416,697)
Charge for the year Note §) MBI (H:26) (246,324) (894,337) (25,645) (12,963) - (1,179,269)
Disposals HE 1 79,385 156 2,266 - 81,808
At 31 December 2024 RZZT-mE

+-A=1t-H° (2,525,912) (9,595,775) (287,537) (104,934) - (12,514,158)
Provision for impairment loss Bl EBEEE
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-ME-A—H (40,495) (66,368) (194) (704) (86,525) (194,286)
Additions (Note §) RE(W#8) - (834) - - - (834)
Exchange differences ERER - - - - (1,190) (1,190)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWEF

+-A=+-A (40,495) (67,202) (194) (704) 7,715 (196,310)
Net book value FHFE
At 31 December 2024 i itk

+ZA=+-8 3,542,882 6,885,339 143,207 49,616 1,787,780 12,408,824
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BMERRZRE @)
(Continued)
2023
“E-=F
Plantand Fumniture Construction
buiding Machinery and fixtures Vehicles in progress Total
FERAR #eE  KILREE e HRIR @:t

RMB0OOO  RVMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O
ARBTL  ARBTR AREFR  ARETRT ARBTRL ARETR

Cost KA
At 1 January 2023 WZZE-=%-A—H 5,385,908 13,367,141 373,318 116,615 803,088 20,046,070
Additions nE 8,569 118,360 21,386 25,433 3,330,974 3,504,722
Transfer upon completion Rl EER 25,871 485,504 - - (511,375) -
Disposals e (18,711) (57,240) 280) 2,207) . (78439)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (68,065) (136,169) (5,563) (1512) (5,108) (216,417)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%

+ZA=1t-H 5,333,572 13,777,596 388,861 138,329 3,617,579 23,265,937

Accumulated depreciation ZEE

At 1 January 2023 R-E-Zf-f-H (2,083,449 (8,074989) (243,040) (87,947) - (10,489,425)
Charge for the year Note §) - EREX (H/i28) (250,917) (809,989) (23,578) (9,048) - (1,093,532
Disposals e 17,745 47,024 201 1,869 - 66,839
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT 37,032 57,131 4,369 889 - 99,421
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%

+-B=+-8 (2279589)  (8,780,829) (262,048) (94,237) - (11,416,697)

Provision for impairment loss Bl EEEEE

At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%£-f-R (40,495) (59,788) (194) (704) - (101,181)
Additions (Note §) RNE(W#8) - (6,580) - - (86,525) (93,108)
At 31 December 2023 e ——d

+-h=1+-8 (40,495) (66,368 (194) (704) (86,525) (194,286)
Net book value ERFE
At 31 December 2023 g ———d

+ZA=+-AH 3,013,488 4,930,406 126,619 43,388 3,631,004 11,644,954
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERKE »©)
(Continued)
(a) As at 31 December 2024, no plant and machinery was (@ RZZFE-_WFE+=—A=+—H0 =&
pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings (2023: nil). ERREARE LS IEREAS

EENERR (T _=F: &) -

(b) Depreciation expense included in the consolidated income (b) SFAEHFERNFTERIOT ¢
statement is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_ME —_EFq_=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETF T

Cost of sales S5 & A AR 1,049,045 954,272
Administrative expenses TR X 130,224 139,260

1,179,269 1,093,532

(c) As at 31 December 2024, plant and buildings of the Group (c) RZE-—WmF+=—A=+—8"
with a total net book value of RMB978,108,000 were AEERER@DFERLRBARE
without real estate titles and the Group is in the process 978,108,000 T (ZE - =F : AR
to secure the relevant real estate certificates (2023: #% 264,125,000 7T) B B & K&
RMB264,125,000). EMBREMERE  MASEEED

ERAEBRRF L EREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BERZE #)
(Continued)

(d) Impairment loss (d) RERSE

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related assets
values may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset
in the business; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value in the impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s financial condition and results of operations. If
there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections,
it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the
consolidated income statement. If there is an indication that
an impairment loss may have decreased, the recoverable
amount should not be more than what the depreciated
historical cost would have been if the impairment had not
been recognised.

As at 31 December 2024, the impairment provision
of construction in progress included amounts of
USD11,259,000 (equivalent to RMB80,937,000) for the
construction in progress of Fufeng USA Incorporated
(the “USA CIP”) following the termination of the Grand
Forks Project (2023: USD11,259,000, equivalent to
RMB79,747,000). The carrying amounts of the USA
CIP mainly comprised costs of land, equipments and
designing expenditure which are directly attributable to the
construction and were written down to their recoverable
amounts determined by reference to the fair value less
costs of disposal based on the valuations by external
independent valuers. The impairment loss is included in
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.

ERERAGEERESE  LH
AHE(\RECEEFRBETRE
BMEEEBBEIRIWEEMYS ()
Al e < B8 (B R F B R BE B A AN
IRNEBRHEEREEMTH
ARBEEREBFREMETNRS
B)REXFHLEEENREE:
K (i) R B3R & M EIER AW
BETERS  BREZERLSRE
TERREEREERIE AR -
EEERANFERENRE (21
&M E TR R B )AL IR K e
REMRR) HE  Arl e YRE
RPN FREELEATE A
M BAREEN BRI RCEE
4@ o %fﬁ?r%iﬁ&fﬁrﬂixfﬁim
EFEAEHBRERTFEE - AlATse
BEASHNERPHRBERS -
B P RETRERBIEEE R -
A1 AT U [0 & 58 15 18 38 (R AR I 2 1
RBERNBERTETERLEAR -

R-ZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—8" &
BIRREREREREZTEE
# 1l 1% Tt Fufeng USA Incorporated
(fUSACIP)WEREZ IR &5
11,259,000k 7t (HHE R AR
80,9387,00070) (=Z&E = =% :
11,259,000 T ' HE R AR
79,747,00070) ° USA CIPHIBRE (&
TEQEL BRERETEAN
A EATREEEGEMRE
BIEINBIB L EMM T ELEA
FERLENAETNATUEEEE -
WEBETAGFFBRATR
FAx] e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(e) Depreciation methods and useful lives

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in progress, is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their costs to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and building 15-20 years
Machinery 5-20 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-8 years
Vehicles 4-8 years

See Note 39.5 for the other accounting policies relevant to
property, plant and equipment.

15. LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a

lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to

leases:

14. % - BMERRZRE @)

(e) WEH XK MEMFH
BREZTIRI ME BEREHE
MrERE[FATERSEHS  UE
BOEDBERAZHEFIHREME &t

HEHMT

B B K 15-204F
23 5-204
MR EE 3-84
RE 4-84F

BEME BERREOHEMBEE

BRI E39.5

15. A&
WAEEARBA - BIAKSRAER
BER} o

(i)

BARGHEERERNEE

BEABRERATEEERHED

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leasehold land-use rights (a) HELTH{FAE @)
Buildings EgF

Equipment B3]

Lease liabilities HESE

Current mE

Non-current JERED

cax i
2024 2023
—E-_NEF T =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEF T
933,940 892,235
1,935 428
54 89
935,929 892,752
845 492
1,298 73
2,143 565

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the Year were
RMB67,474,000 (2023: RMB92,244,000).

RAFE FRAEEENAEAAR
67,474,000 (ZEZ=F: A
R #92,244,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

15. LEASES (continueqd)

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet (Continued)

(@

Leasehold land-use rights

Leasehold land-use rights represent prepaid operating
lease payments for the leasehold land (with lease
terms of 40 to 70 years) located in Shandong
Province, Shaanxi Province, Heilongjiang Province,
Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region, and Beijing in the PRC. Their net
book values are analysed as follows:

15. 8 & (&)

(@

Cost 2%

At beginning of the year F1)
Additions NE
Disposals of subsidiaries HE B AR
At end of the year FR
Depreciation e

At beginning of the year F1

Charge for the year (i) F N (i)
Disposals of subsidiaries HE M B A A
At end of the year FR

Net book value REFE

At end of the year FR

() BRARESHEERAERNEH

(%)

HE Tt ERRE

BE T HEAEERAEE
RAEBEILERSE BRAE - 25
TA REGTHEARE - Bk
EWERERItETHNEEL
i (FAHIA40E 704F) Pr¥E
M ERIE - HIRE FE
DITLR -

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
1,062,744 983,869
65,239 92,244

- (13,369)
1,127,983 1,062,744
(170,509) (152,508)
(23,534) (21,654)

- 3,653
(194,043) (170,509)
933,940 892,235

As at 31 December 2024, there was no leasehold
land pledged as security for the Group’s borrowings
(2023: nil).

Depreciation expense is recorded in “Administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was still in the
process of applying for the ownership certificates
for various parcels of leasehold land with a total
carrying amount of RMB172,108,000 (2023:
RMB192,547,000).

RZZZWF+—A=+—H -
AEEWEBBFRE L WIES
EREROERR(ZE==
FoE) o

FERXRAHFBRST AR
RITHFEX] -

RZEZWF+—A=+—H -
AEBDHAREEAARE
172,108,0007T (=& = =4 :
AR #192,547,0007T) ) % 18
HETHERABHEERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

15. LEASES (continueq)

(1)

(iii)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

(1)

15. 8 & (&)

BRARSHABRNEE

BHMBRBERATHEEREN
TH

2024 2023
Sl 111 =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®T ARBTIT
Depreciation charge of FREEEEXH
right-of-use assets
Leasehold land-use rights TRE L A 23,534 21,654
Buildings B¥ 728 833
Equipment B 36 36
8 24,298 22,523
Interest expense (included in B (BEMBERA) 10
finance costs) 42 51
Expense relating to short-term HEHEERENAX
leases (included in administrative ~ (BR3E7TEBISZ)
expenses) 21,684 14,025
The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was RZEZNFHERESRHEER
RMB22,383,000 (2023: RMB14,915,000). AR®22,383,0007T (ZFE = =4 :
AR 14,915,0007T) °
The Group’s leasing activities and how these (i) AEBHEETHRZEHEWN

are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
pUrposes.

PN
AEBERERERAE BERR
B HEARHNBER—Z2OAFNE
FEHIRR -

HE AT ARE E R R EER BRE
& ARG R A - HE LT
EIMERKE - HEEETFAE
AR E R



16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 1 January 2023

Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount
Additions

Amortisation (Note 8)
Disposal of subsidiaries

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2023
Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2024

Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfer from construction in progress

(Note 14)
Amortisation (Note 8)

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2024
Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment

Net book amount
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

R-ZE-=%—-H—H
B

ESg 4

2FRE

SREFE

BE-E-=F
+t=-A=+-HILEE

FHREFE

NE

B E8)

HEMBRE

FRREFE

R-BZ=%
+tZA=t-H

B%N

ZETEH

ZRE

fRERE

BE-Z_mE§
TZRA=t-HLEE

FUEBTE

NE

RERETRREY (fit14)

HH(Hfits)
FRIREFE

RZE-NF
+=ZA=+-H

FA

BT

BiRE

SREFE

16. B EE
Patents and
unpatented Computer
technology software Total
=¥ )Y
E = VilEs 3 B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT ARETF T
29,531 67,624 97,155
(3,039 (30,674) (33,713
(17,996) - (17,996)
8,496 36,950 45,446
8,496 36,950 45,446
4,149 11,465 15,614
(1,475) (6,005) (7,480)
(1,574) 677) (2,251)
9,596 41,733 51,329
12,971 77,815 90,786
(3,375) (36,082 (39,457)
9,696 41,733 51,329
9,596 41,733 51,329
11,784 10,884 22,668
- 8,214 8,214
(2,440) (7,553) (9,993)
18,940 53,278 72,218
24,755 96,913 121,668
(5,815) (43,635) (49,450)
18,940 53,278 72,218
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SHMBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continuead)
(i) Patents and unpatented technology

Separately acquired patents and unpatented technology
are shown at historical cost. Patents and unpatented
technology have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate the cost of patents and unpatented technology
over their estimated beneficial period of 3 to 10 years.

(i) Computer software
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated
useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS
(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
The Group classifies the equity investments for which the

entity has not elected to recognise fair value gains and
losses through OCI at FVPL.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the

6. B EE (#)

(i)

(i)

R R FFE R A

fIE 51 B 15 79 BB B 3F R B 4l 4% R
SERRATIR - B K FE BB Ay A]
ERFHER - WIRKAR R
SO E R IR SRR - B IH IR E3
E10F RS RRENERES
B EIFEREAMAA D #EtE -

SR

BEERSHREERESRM LS
TE B B A {3 AR RE P EE AR VAKX
AREETANERC - ZFEKANTS
BEMGAERFH (2E105) #

17. B A EFTABEENEREE

(i)

BRAFEGABSENERMEE
P

AEESEBREREBA MRS
Yo 2 R AR N T B b e e 5 18 ) RSO HE
REDBRBE AT EFAESR -

mH R AP EFABRRTENS

following: BMEEREATSEE:
2024 2023
—E-mF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBFT
Non-current assets EmENEE
— Equity investment —RERE 5,232 10,000
Pursuant to an agreement dated during the year ended 31 BERBEZ-_ZT=_FEF+=A

December 2020, the Group subscribed 10% share capital
of a company at a consideration of RMB10,000,000. The
company is engaged in biological techniques research and
development.

See Note 39.8 for the remaining relevant accounting
policies.

=+— Eﬁfﬁ&_mﬁim%m VN
&£ E AR E AR 10,000,000 7T 52
B—RRQAIA10% A - 52 A a1t
EEYEME -

BRAESERE ST BOR A MFE39.8
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17. RAFEFABENEREE

THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS (continuead)
(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following gains/(losses) were
recognised in profit or loss:

(%)
(i) BEPHERANESEHE
FR - THFGE, (BE) Rigzh

R -
2024 2023
—E-NF —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARBTIT

Fair value losses on equity investment
at FVPL recognised in other gains

— net (Note 7) (Hiat7)

REMAGHERIR A FE AR
MERRENATEBE FHE

4,768 -

(iii) Fair value measurements

For information about the methods and assumptions used
in determining fair value see Note 3.3.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and
not as speculative investments. However, where derivatives do
not meet the hedging accounting criteria, they are accounted for
at FVPL below. The Group has the following derivative financial
instruments:

18.

(iii) 2EEFE
EBRETRAFEMANTENMEBR
FRER R FE3.3 -

fTEE€MIT A

PTETEEBREE Y e AT A%
BHEMIRE - RTT - MOTETATHA
e R BIEIRN T ATESA
BRHAR - AEEMITESRTADNT

18.

Current assets RENEE
— Cross currency swaps —R X EMImH
Current liabilities MEAEE

— Cross currency and interest rate swaps — — A2 X & #& B Fl| %k 451 HA

2024 2023
SN EF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
4,706 -
2,184 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

During the year, the Group entered into several cross currency
swaps contracts and cross currency and interest rate swaps
contracts so as to reduce the impact of the volatility of RMB
exchange rate against USD.

For the Year, net realised gains amounting to RMB1,792,000
(2023: nil) and unrealised gains and losses amounting to
RMB4,706,000 and RMB2,184,000 (2023: nil), respectively were
recognised in “Other gains — net” (Note 7). As at 31 December
2024, derivative financial assets and liabilities in respect of
outstanding cross currency swaps contracts of RMB4,706,000
and cross currency and interest rate swaps contracts of
RMB2,184,000 (2023: nil) were recognised respectively based
on the fair value of these contracts. For information about the
methods and assumptions used in determining the fair value of
these derivative, please refer to Note 3.3.

The total notional principal amounts of these outstanding cross
currency swaps contracts and cross currency and interest rate
swaps contracts at 31 December 2024 were USD287,500,000
and USD32,000,000, respectively (2023: nil).

18. (TSI H (%)

FRAREFTLETRREB YA
MEXXREEENEEHEH - R D
ARBHETEZRRPNZE

RAFE FAEBRFZFBARE
1,792,000 L (ZZE - =4F : E#) AN KE
WU K EE AR 4,706,000 TR AR
# 2,184,000 T (ZZ = =4 : #) H BN
[EFE— 58] (7)) RER - »
—E_ME+_A=1+—0 KEEX
NEBEBBAAE L MR X E T &8
EREENTESREERBBEARE
4,706,000 7T & A R# 2,184,000 T (= F
T=F B DRIRBREBEZSEENONRTE
EBEER EEETZETETIARTE
TR ZRBEMNER  H2HHFE
3.3¢

R-ZZE-_WNE+-_A=+—H ZEX
EEXNEERBAHNRIXNEER
FEBPEONEBELAS BB B
287,500,000 3 Jt } 32,000,000 7T (=
TZ=FFE) o
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SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

19. RERI P ENEmITE

AEEFHBFATSRIA:

2024 2023
—E_MEF —_F-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bz AR¥T ARETF T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost & # &4k AN R R & BB &=
Trade and other receivables* FEUSE 5 BR 7 K EAth i U FkoE 1,351,765 1,320,419
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 22 9,902,194 6,856,177
Restricted bank balances ZRHIEIRITAS £ 22 3,009,115 3,421,000
Time deposits TEHGFR 22 745,840 603,041
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFAEMES R
e EEE 21(g) 915,336 1,079,888
Financial assets at FVPL BRATFEFABRNEREE 17 5,232 10,000
Derivative Financial Instruments &2 A {EFT ABZHITE S B
at FVPL TA 18 4,706 -
15,934,188 13,290,525
Financial liabilities cRBE
Liabilities at amortised cost RHEBAARTERNEE
Trade and other payables* FETE 5 BR 3R B HAth JE - 5RIB 3,667,842 3,287,083
Borrowings & 28 11,364,468 9,724,500
Lease liabilities HEBaE 15 2,143 565
Derivative financial instruments & A (EFTABZHITE S R
at FVPL TA 18 2,184 -
15,036,637 13,012,148

Excluding non-financial assets and liabilities and notes receivable.

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is described in Note 3. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the
carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned
above.

TeEEFEREERABEREBRER

ANEEEBEMEIMMESETHBRH
°© #*&iﬁgifiﬁﬁnnmﬁfﬁ1g

7 % 18 Rk
ER O

AringEe

MEERIREE °



132 FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

20. INVENTORIES 20. &

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTTT
Raw materials JR A 3,167,076 3,171,930
Work-in-progress TR 433,611 404,541
Finished goods BIRK o 2,433,606 2,546,745
6,034,293 6,123,216

(a) Inventories recognised as an expense during the @ REAFERRAARAINEER

(b)

Year amounted to RMB20,158,707,000 (20283:
RMB19,803,491,000). These were included in cost
of sales amounted to RMB19,864,154,000 (2023:
RMB19,488,608,000) and administrative expenses
amounted to RMB294,553,000 (2023: RMB314,883,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer taste and competitor actions in response to
industry cycles. Management reassesses the estimates at
each reporting date.

Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value amounted
to RMB127,649,000 (2023: RMB42,806,000). These were
recognised as an expense during the Year and included in
“Cost of sales” in the consolidated income statement.

AR #20,158,707,000C (= &
— =% : AR#¥19,803,491,000
L) cHBEHEHEKRRARK
19,864,154,000 T (ZZE = =4 : A
R 19,488,608,000 7T) M 1T H F 2
AR ¥E294,553,000 (—F — =4 :
ANE#314,883,0007T) °

(b) FENTERFE

FENAERFEDRBETEELB
72 R 1F h 10 (5165 B R 1 R SE R
ARHERX - ZE AT RBEHRE
MR kEER N EEERLEMD
BELREL  AJEEEPHRE
LB FHFREITRBHMRNR
MITEMERERES EEER
BmEAEHTEBBMAE -

WREFEEZERFAARE
127,649,000 (ZE-Z=F: AR
¥ 42,806,00070) * AN F EHER
AR WEAEMHFERFP A HE
B o
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NOTES
RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

21. ENESRIARK
E - EREERANRE

H 4t & UK =X

2024 2023
—E-NF ZT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTTT
Trade receivables (a) FEUE SR (a) 1,114,601 1,083,530
Less: provision for impairment loss W EHRBEEEEE )
allowance (b) (27,368) (34,538)
Trade receivables — net FEYE 5 R —#5 1,087,233 1,048,992
Deposits and others e K EAM 126,416 102,150
Consideration receivables (c) Fi WHRAE () 73,498 140,265
Loan to a related party (Note 34(c))(e) BT —BBERTNER (ML 34()) e) 50,614 9,698
Loan to a third party (d) BT —BE=ZFHNERO 50,000 50,000
Less: provision for impairment loss /J& CEHR R EEE R
allowance (50,000) (50,000)
Loan to a third party — net BT —RE-FTMER—FHR - -
Loans to employees %ﬁ TIREMER 3,709 5,211
Value-added tax for future deduction AR BB IEER 132,458 94,976
Prepaid current income tax TERTENHART 15 7% 1,957 1,498
Interest receivables FEHA S 10,295 14,103
Trade and other receivables (f) FEWE 5 BR B B H A FE UURRIA () 1,486,180 1,416,893
Notes receivable (g) FEUWRIE () 915,336 1,079,888
2,401,516 2,496,781
Prepayments to suppliers HERE RN IR 412,531 453,035
2,814,047 2,949,816
Less: non-current portion B JERNERER
Prepayments for non-current assets (h)  JERENE E TR A (h) (78,329) (149,222)
Consideration receivables (c) FEUARAE () - (88,765)
2,735,718 2,711,829
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NOTES
RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables based on invoice date was as follows:

21. BB 5 IRk & H Ath B YLK

1|
(a)

-EREERFESRE @

R_ZE_MER_FT_=F+_7
=t—RB ERBSEFRERA
R TIT -

Within 3 months
3 to 12 months
Over 12 months

=@AR
BB+ —EA

2024 2023
SN EF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
1,070,254 1,051,258
36,694 27,427
7,653 4,845
1,114,601 1,083,530

The Group generally sells its products to domestic
customers and receives settlement either in cash or in the
form of bank acceptance notes (Note (g)) upon delivery of
goods. The bank acceptance notes usually have maturity
dates within six months. Certain major customers in the
PRC and overseas with good repayment history are offered
credit terms of not more than three months.

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note
3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of the
allowance.

(b)

AEE-RABENETHERERM
WA RE b AR & S ARTT
SRR (M aE(g)) 7 30 W BUAS B 5K
B RITAAEE -—RABANEAR
FH - AERFERCHENETH
BEBIEBREFEELT=[A
UAmEER -

BERRERESO
AEBERBEBSHBRELENFEO
SEE (LR ETEMERELS A
FrEREWE SRR BREEETESR
M FEERE B - M X3 1(0)IRIE A
BT E MRS -



LUEEERAT | £ 2024 135

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NOTES
RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Consideration receivables

The consideration receivables arose from disposal of
subsidiaries. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group entered into agreement with an independent third
party (the “buyer”) for the disposal of certain subsidiaries at
an undiscounted cash consideration of RMB346,900,000.
The disposal was completed on 19 July 2023 (“settlement
date”). Pursuant to the agreement, consideration
receivables of RMB51,500,000 and RMB95,400,000 will
be due after 12 months and 24 months from the settlement
date and were therefore recognised at present value
of the future expected cash flows based on a discount
rate of 4.75% and recorded in current and non-current
portion of “Trade and other receivables, notes receivable
and prepayments”. During the Year, RMB51,500,000 has
been fully received. On 22 November 2024, the Group
entered into a supplemental agreement with the buyer to
amend the consideration and the residual receivables to
RMB326,900,000 and RMB75,400,000, respectively. The
decrease of consideration receivables resulting from the
amendment was recognised in “Other gains — net” in the
consolidated income statement.

The loan to a third party was arranged via a financial
trust company during 2019. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the loan was past due for collection as
the third party was in financial difficulties. A full provision
of RMB50,000,000 was recorded on the balance sheet
to reflect the increase in credit risk. As there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group measured the
impairment as lifetime expected credit losses.

1. EREZRAK

18 -
(c)

(d)

ﬂﬂﬁl&?}\
e E E&ﬁﬁ RIE ()
B RE
ERREDANENBARMESE -
 E-E_=F+-_A=+—H1t
FE AEERE-EBYE=H(E
FDETM W AREERE SR
B A R ¥ 346,900,000 7T & 27 Bt
BAE - HEEFHENR _T_=F+
A+hB=EK([ZERBE]) < B
k0 WA E A R 51,500,000
7T & A R 95,400,000 7T # B TR
BEF#E 1218 A 2418 B B 88 -
A AR 15 8L IR R 4.75% 4% oK 7k 78 HA
REeERMIREBEER Lt A TEK
BB E b pEU R IE - R
%F&%EH I8 R B K IE R BB
CHRARFEE BEREWBARE
51 ,500,0007C e A= Z — N F +—

A-+=-B AEEEEFFI LM
FEWhaE - A0 BHERT B R FIERE

W18 B A R % 326,900, 00071&
AR ¥ 75,400,0007T © & 5] & 2 &Y
JE R B R EN:.V%%IJ/FH% [E
TG —HRE P HER -

RZZTE—NF - &%?*%”*
MEFEBRE—HMERELA

B -REBEE-_ZE=-—F+= ﬂ
=t+—HIEFE BRE=FH
AV BRE ZEFREAH-ER
EEBBERABRES2HEBEBEARE
50,000,0007C * W iz B [ k2 &9

®hn - AfEERBRAEREE M ZIS%%
12 2 T‘%EEHW?EEH%‘%?E%%

ERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NOTES 21. B E 5 R KR H B

RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) H - BREBRANRIE @
(e) Except for the consideration receivables as discussed (e) Br L uiFisE(c)FTadam 2 ERTR (B
above in Note(c) and the loan to a related party (Note 34(c)), M T —BEEFNERN (ME
trade and other receivables are unsecured and interest- 34(c)) * BN E P IR & E 4th B UL
free. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables REREBEERERE -REEBE
were approximately at their fair values as at the balance = A EWE 5 IR H fh E R
sheet date. EHMREEEEATERES -
(f) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other () AEEMERKE SRR EMEK
receivables were denominated in the following currencies: FIEWEEENL T E®ERE :
2024 2023
—E-_MEF TEC=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFT
- RMB — AR 765,888 890,736
-UsD —%E7T 701,786 523,826
- VND —BEE 11,923 383
-EUR —BUT 6,583 1,948
1,486,180 1,416,893
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting RHEEEH FARTEMNEER
date was the carrying value of each class of receivables g Th bt SR R UGB R IR EME -
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral AEEBEFEEMERRIERE

as security. o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE
21. BN E 5 R R H UK

H EBREBRBEMNRE @
(9 R=—T-_mWFE+=-A=+—8 "

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NOTES
RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

(g) As at 31 December 2024, notes receivable were all bank

acceptance notes aged less than one year, and included a
total amount of RMB866,195,000 (2023: RMB896,382,000)
that have been endorsed to the suppliers. As the notes
receivables are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
they are measured at FVOCI.

EWEEHAER N —FHIR
TARARRLEE BiEBEAAREK
866,195,000 C (ZZE-=F: AR
#806,382,0007T) E B E T ER
WEE BRERZEERFEREE
WEETREREESREE Wik
EEERSREEEAINAE R
FE - Bl ATFEFAEMES U

Ny
<

N

o

Em
i

2024 2023
—E-gE —ECZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Current assets REBEE
Notes receivable measured at FVOCI BAFEFAEMES WS
HENERERER 915,336 1,079,888

On endorsing these notes receivable, there is no related
balance within the FVOCI reserve that needs to be
reclassified to other losses within profit or loss as the fair
value is approximate to its face amount and no premium is
recognised.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value is provided in Note 3.3.

All of the financial assets at FVOCI are denominated in
RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, notes receivable amounting to
RMB8,043,000 (2023: RMB36,500,000) were pledged as
security for bank borrowings of the Group (Note 28(a)).

(h) As at 31 December 2024, the prepayments for non-

current assets comprised amounts of RMB78,329,000 for
purchase of property, plant and equipment.

(h)

RZERERBRETEER  BA
FEFFAREMES WA FEET L
BEMEEERFTEENNEER
sAMNEMER  RERAFEAR
HEEMRSE AREREE -

BERAEEARFENTEMBRRA
EBIIRNKIFES.S »

BRAVFEFARBEEKENME
CREEHAARKEE-

NZZE-_NME+—_A=+—0 &
I Z= g AR #8,043,0007T (= Z
— =% : AR#36,500,0007T) B
BHAREEIRTEEMNKT M (K
FE28(@)) °

R-EBE-_mME+—A=+—08"3
RBEENTANZTERIEESYE
R K& A RE 78,329,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND
TIME DEPOSITS

2. RERESEEY > ZRHE
RITEHRREHER

Cash and cash equivalents BehReEEYD
— Cash on hand —FEES
— Cash in banks —iRTHEE

Restricted bank balances (a)
Time deposits (b)

EHTF (D)

RSBV IRTTAERR ()

2024 2023
—E_-_NEF —T-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
1,203 385
9,900,991 6,855,792
9,902,194 6,856,177
3,009,115 3,421,000
745,840 603,041
13,657,149 10,880,218

As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank balances
were comprised of: (i) amounts of RMB2,599,103,000
(2023: RMB3,390,000,000) was pledged as security for
bank borrowings of the Group (Note 28); (ii) amounts of
RMB386,109,000 (2023: RMB31,000,000) was pledged as
security for issuing notes payable of the Group (Note 27(c));
(i) amounts of RMB19,903,000 (2023: nil) was pledged
as security for cross currency swaps; and (iv) amounts of
RMB4,000,000 (2023: nil) was frozen due to certain law
suit.

As at 31 December 2024, restricted bank balances were
with interest rates between 0.85% and 4.75% (2023:
between 1.35% and 2.05%).

As at 31 December 2024, the terms of time deposits were
over 3 months and within 1 year and the interest rates were
between 1.10% and 4.28% (2023: 3.10%).

RZE-_mMF+_A=+—8"
TREMNRITEGBIENARE
2,699,103,0007L (ZEZ =% : A
R 3,390,000,0007T) E #E# &K
SEERITHEENEER (HiE28)
(i) A R %:386,109,000 T (ZE ==
£ AR¥31,000,0007T) & K ##
ABAEBEBETEMEZERNERS
(Fff 5£27(c)) ¢ (iii) A B % 19,903,000
T(ZEZ=F | EEFAEZX
BEEEEANERR RiVARKE
4,000,0007c(ZE-=F : &)E®H
FIREFAAM R -

R-ZZE_WNE+_A=+—10 %
PR I A9 IR 1T 45 #2 B9 7 = 1 T 0.85%
FA4T5% (ZE =4 1.35% %
2.05%) °

R-E-_ME+-_A=+—R0" &
HEFNFHRA=Z@ANLEE—F
W MAENT1.10% E4.28% (=
T =4 :310%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 2. RERBREEEY  ZRHEM
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES AND RITEBREHFR @)
TIME DEPOSITS (continued)

() Total cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances c BHekReZEY - IRHIORT
and time deposits are denominated in the following Eer M E TR BEUATIE®,
currencies: & :

2024 2023
“E-@EF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBF T
-UsD —%7T 9,612,075 4,987,757
- RMB — AR 3,907,878 5,784,680
-EUR — BT 90,509 26,378
- HKD —B7TT 36,495 79,982
~VND — WA 10,115 1,277
-SGD — ¥ T 77 144
13,657,149 10,880,218
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank REBUAREFENRSERS
balances and time deposits denominated in RMB were LEY IBRHMIRITE S LT
mainly deposited with banks in the PRC. Conversion of FREZFHATPEMERIT - KZ
these RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies ZUARBIENEHR LR BINE
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange 78 5 H BT A8 46 89 O1NE B R A
control promulgated by the PRC government. KR BIBR I o

(d) The weighted average effective interest rate on cash @ RZEBE-WF+=—A=+—H &
and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances and time FETFRNRITHRE NIASEE
deposits placed with banks by the Group was 2.95% per W XBRHRITEBR R TERTR
annum as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 3.12%). B INEF I ERFNER2.95% (=

T =4 :312%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

23. BEHRYE

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETF T

Properties under development comprise: % & F ) 2 B 45 -

— Tl A
— ISR A

— Land use rights
— Construction costs

96,445 -
3,826 -

100,271 -

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Development cost of properties
comprises cost of land use rights, construction costs and
borrowing costs incurred during the construction period.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond normal
operating cycle.

The properties under development of the Group are located in
the PRC. The related land use rights are on leases of 40 to 70
years.

For the Year, nil of borrowing costs were capitalised into the
cost of properties under development (2023: nil).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no properties under
development were pledged as security for bank borrowings of
the Group.

BRPYEAKANE R ZRFEREP
MBEEIR MENRRAANBEE
SEHMELM T IE AR RN
AREERAK - TRIE  ZEMEER
ERFHENE TAIE -

FRIEMEBY X B RIER NWELEHMEY
EHROEREERMTETK  BRIE
RAMEMDBRRBEE °

AREENBERTYELATE - BEL
HEAENER40ET0F -

RAFE UEEERAENMRER
TOERA(ZE_=F: §) -

RZEBE-_WFER T _=F+=A
—t+—HB BMEERIYEERALE
BIRITIEERNIKIFS -



24(a. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

At 1 January 2023

Exercise of options

At 31 December 2023

Exercise of options
Cancellation of treasury
shares

At 31 December 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

T HE
EHERRD

R-E-QmE
+=A=+-H

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

25

25

2(a). IR < Rz %R B
Amount
X
Number
of shares Ordinary Share

(thousands) shares premium Total

RAEE
(FH) EBR [ 17 18 #@gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETR ARETR
2,535,939 243,460 266,285 509,745
550 50 1,431 1,481
2,536,489 243,510 267,716 511,226
550 50 1,422 1,472
(30,389) (2,774) (116,428) (119,202)
2,506,650 240,786 152,710 393,496

The total number of authorised share capital of the Company
comprised 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
HKDO0.10 each as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

According to the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of Cayman Islands and the articles of
association of the Company, dividends of the Company can be
declared out of its share premium account subject to a solvency

test.

RZE-_WNFR T -_=ZF+=A
—t+—HBH ARAREEREABEHBIE
10,000,000,000 % & BX E 1B 0.1078 7T &Y

LA -

REFAEHREE2R2FRANE (AR~
R B RIERT) AR AR
ERMAA ARFEBE
e R EBRE RS

FEpI=

f

BESRIRR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

24 TREASURY SHARES 24(0). 5 17 % 12
During the Year, the Company bought back 18,647,000 Shares RAFE ARARMHEEMD
on-market. The shares were acquired at an average price 1_8'647'000’&1& {5 B 17 1’\/{]&4-387\%
of HKD4.38 per share, with prices ranging from HKD4.07 to TR T RS BRI 4078 T

z= SEIT A EE i
HKD4.80 and cancelled during the Year. 48087 - REXAFEEH

Number
of shares
(thousand) RMB’000
R7EE
(FR) AR® T
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H - -
Acquisition of treasury shares WEEEFIRG 11,742 (44,241)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=ZF+-A=+—H 11,742 (44,241)
Acquisition of treasury shares W g E 7 B 1D 18,647 (74,822)
Cancellation of treasury shares IHEEFRD (30,389) 119,063

At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_NMF+-_/A=+—H
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(a) Share options granted on 31 March 2021

25. [ 13K
(@) R=BE=-—F=A=+—HBEK

The Company granted to certain eligible employee share
options to subscribe for an aggregate of 2,200,000
ordinary shares of the Company on 31 March 2021. These
options vest in tranches over a period of up to 5 years.
Options exercised during the Year resulted in 550,000
shares (2023: 550,000 shares) being issued with proceeds
of HKD1,622,500 (2023: HKD1,622,500). The related
weighted average share price at the time of exercise was
HKD5.18 (2023: HKD4.10) per share.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:

o B B R R
ARNBIR-_E-—&F=A=+—H
METEEREERLURES
#2,200,000 AR B EBRHE
It - ZEERBERRESFHM
WNAOHERE - NAFE - FREERE
J& 77 {8 T 2% 77 550,000 f% % 15 (=
T — =4 : 550,000%) * FTB R
1H 51,622,500 L (ZE - =F :
1,622,500 JT) ° A 1T % 5 /Y 48 3
MEFHREREERS18E T (=
T = 4108 7T) °

4 5K 7 5 B AR B D A ) AR
BT e EmT -

2024 2023
“E-NE e

Average Average

exercise exercise

price in HKD price in HKD
per share Options per share Options
option (thousands) option (thousands)
THTEE i IR TH1TEE ke
SHERERT G SHEREST (F12)
At 1 January ®—H—H 2.95 1,650 2.95 2,200
Exercised [=ERY:d 2.95 (550) 2.95 (550)
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 2.95 1,100 295 1,650

The attributable amount charged to the consolidated
income statement during the Year was approximately
RMB152,000 (2023: RMB250,000).

RAFE BEFFBERMNBEOE
R& 5N A ANREE152,0007T (==
— =4 AR¥250,0007T) °



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continuea)
(b) Share options granted on 04 July 2022

25. Rk (&)

The Company granted to certain eligible employees
share options to subscribe for an aggregate of 2,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company on 04 July 2022. These
options vest in tranches over a period of up to 5 years.
There were no options being exercised during the years

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

follows:

At 1 January and 31 December H—A—B R
+-A=1+—"H

b) RZE-“F+HAEAREN

iR R
AABR-_E-_—_EFE+ANAM
AETEAEREERLURBA R
2,000,000 & A& A 7] & 8 IR HY) B R
BoZEEBRENRESFHMEA
SPHBEE - BE_ZT_NFERER_FT
—=F+-A=t+—HILEFEHE
TTIP AR AE o

ARTTEBARESE & E R HEAR
BN FHITEEDT

2024 2023
—EomE —“E-=F

Average Average

exercise exercise

price in HKD price in HKD
per share Options per share Options
option (thousands) option (thousands)
THTEE B FH17EE FR R E
SHERERT Gl FHEREET (F1)
4.96 2,000 4.96 2,000

The attributable amount charged to the consolidated
income statement during the Year was approximately

RMB668,000 (2023: RMB825,000).

RAFE  BEHFBERMBRAE
(&84 A AR 668,0007T (=
— =4 : AR¥8250007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continuea)
(c) Share options granted on 29 April 2024

The Company granted to certain eligible employee share
options to subscribe for an aggregate of 888,000 ordinary
shares of the Company on 29 April 2024. These options
vest in tranches over a period of up to 5 years. There
were no options being exercised during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

25. R 1F K@)
(c) R=Z2-_WFWMA=-+HABR

o B B R R
ARABIRZZTE_MNFM A=+ B
METAEREBEEREURES
#.888,000 % 7~ 2 &) i A% /Y BE A%
E-ZSERENRESTFHENA
SHEE - BE-_Z_NF+_A
=+ —ALFEREITEBRRE -

45K 6 B AR AR B 2 B) 2 34
BT EENT

follows:
2024
—E-mF

Average

exercise price

in HKD
per share Options
option (thousands)

FITEE
BHBRE BB R
BT ()
At 1 January ®n—H—H - -
Granted B 5.52 888
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 5.50 388

The attributable amount charged to the consolidated
income statement during the Year was approximately
RMB204,000 (2023: nil).

RAEE BAaHFERNBARE
R A ANRE 204,000 (ZF
= E) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continueq) 25. R {F ™K (@)
The fair values, which were determined by an independent TRETARELBHMFEERENR
qualified appraiser using Binomial Option Pricing Model, of the FE IR BYEERGEMER -
options granted as at the grant dates are noted in the following BAEETERAET fTERKEH
table. The following assumptions were adopted to calculate the AN i A AR RERE T

fair values of the options on the grant dates:

Date of grant BYAH ()31 March2021  (b)04July 2022 (c) 29 April 2024
(@=2=-% b)=2==% (©=F=m%F
=ZB=+-H tAMA MA=+AA

Fair value as at the grant date REHBANATE RMB1,164,000 RMB2,589,000 RMB832,000

AR1,164,000 AR 2,589,0007C AR#832,0007C

Assumptions: CEE

Average share price EHkE HKD2.8078 7T HKD4.967 7T HKD5.5278 7T

Exercise price 1B HKD2.95 % 7T HKD4.96 % 7T HKD5.52 % 7T

Expected life of options BEETEs E 6.0 years 6.0 years 6.0 years

Expected volatility R B 44.35% 42.06% 40.46%

Expected dividend yield R E® 6.93% 3.76% 9.89%

Risk free rate TR | 1.22% 2.85% 4,06%

The expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical TEET IR I8 TR ¥5 B AN SR B S A5 AR A |
volatility of the price of listed companies with similar business MABBRABEREBETESE - &t
to the Group. The expected dividend vyield is determined by REERESRERNSEBHAREKE
the Directors based on the expected future performance and KR EBRETE °

dividend policy of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

26. OTHER RESERVES 26. HitifkE
Share-
based
Capital Statutory Safety payment Foreign
reserve reserve production reserve currency
(Note (a) (Note (b)) fee (Note 25) translation Total
EAGRE AERE z2  ROAREE
(K7t () (M (b)) EEER (HiEE25) PHERE b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT ARETTT ARETFT
1 January 2023 RZEBZ=
-A-H (370,760) 1,569,632 12,687 14,766 2.211) 1,214,114
Profit appropriation B AR - 54,016 - - - 54,016
Employee share option (€ 8 B [k 51 2
schemes
~Vaueofemployee ~ —EERHEE
services (B9 25)
(Notes 9, 25) - - - 1,075 - 1,075
Provision for safety ZEEEERAE
production fee (Hiz39.01)
(Note 39.21) - - 29,340 - - 29,340
Utlisation of safety FRZ2EEER
production fee (Hiz39.01)
Note 39.21) . - (19,726) . . (19,726)
Other currency translation E fli 5N & =48
differences - - - - (2,088) (2,088)
31December2023 ~ R-B-Z£
+ZR=+-H (370,760) 1,613,648 22,301 15,841 (4,299 1,276,731
Profit appropriation B AR - 88,116 - - - 88,116
Employee share option (€ 8 B [k 151 2
schemes
~Valueofemployee ~ —EERHEE
services (Notes 9, 25) (B9~ 25) - - - 1,024 - 1,024
Provision for safety ZEEEERAE
production fee (Hi£39.21)
Note 39.21) - - 27,289 - - 27,289
Utlisation of safety FRZ2EEER
production fee (Hi£39.21)
Note 39.21) - - (15,659) - - (15,659)
Other currency translation E fli 5N & =48
differences - - - - (3,560) (3,560)
31December 2024 ~ R-Z-ME
+ZR=+-H (370,760) 1,701,764 33,931 16,865 (7,859) 1,373,941
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

26. OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Capital reserve

It mainly represents reserve arising from the Group’s
reorganisation completed in July 2006.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC regulations and the articles
of the association of the PRC companies comprising the
Group, before distributing the net profit of each year, each
of the companies registered in the PRC is required to
set aside 10% of its statutory net profit for the year after
offsetting any prior year’s losses as determined under the
PRC accounting regulations to the statutory surplus reserve
fund. When the balance of such reserve reaches 50% of
each company’s share capital, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be utilised
to offset prior years’ losses or to issue bonus shares,
provided that the balance of such reserve is not less than
25% of the entity’s registered capital after the bonus issue.

27. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND

26. Hb k4 =)

(a) EAXfEE

BARBIZEARER_TTX

FLATKERREENRRE -

(b) EERE

RIZ BRI MR AN R BB E T

ERBERRNEKERAERE -

EDIREFHANF - BREETBEE
MR B AR E S ERRE -
REEENE—FEBRR  H&
FEEETEHNA0% BATETE 2 84
FRES - HxFERHNEREDS
NABRARE0% + HRA] BITRE
TAER LAERBRHEBEES AR

N B EFEBIRNBETAR

HEBRERERT ONBEITAMR

FEFMEAR25% -

27. BNE SR - HibEA R

ACCRUALS

Trade payables (a, b)

Payables for property, plant and
equipment (b)

Salaries, wages and staff welfares
payables

Notes payable (c)

Interest payable

Other payables and accruals

Less: non-current portion
Other payables (d)

JERE SRR (@ b)

M - BEREEER
A (b)

NS ITERETL
2 F

I E ()

FERE B
HiEARIERETEA

B FEREE D
H A FE A 5RE (0)

KESTE A

2024 2023
—EINF —FR-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTIT
1,409,871 1,341,310
1,155,624 1,319,060
513,034 471,371
563,465 70,000
16,946 7,325
522,937 550,388
4,181,877 3,759,454
- (60,381)
4,181,877 3,699,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

27. TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (continuead)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

27. BHE SR - HbEIFE
&@f—rﬁﬁl(fg}
(@ R-E-—mER-—T-=4+-47

_+ B EBNEZRKIRERA

HRERR DT
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTT
Within 3 months =BEAR 1,297,939 1,218,236
3 to 6 months —ZXMEA 47,408 58,816
6 to 12 months N2+ @A 29,718 20,213
1to 2 years —EWF 12,735 20,081
Over 2 years M 22,071 23,964
1,409,871 1,341,310
As disclosed in Note 21(g), notes receivable amounted (b) WM sE21(9) T E EREE
to RMB866,195,000 (2023: RMB896,382,000) were AR #866,195,000 Tt (Z&E ==
endorsed to the suppliers of trade payables and payables F: AR#896,382,0007T) ¥
for purchase of property, plant and equipment amounting BEEEREEE AR5 5
to RMB693,710,000 and RMB172,485,000 respectively B AR 693,710,000 & A R
(2028: RMB595,787,000 and RMB300,595,000, #172,485,000C (Z & = =4 :
respectively). AR #595,787,000 7T & A R #
300,595,0007T) B) FE T & 5 AR S %
BEWE  BEREBRENRIE -
As at 31 December 2024, notes payable were secured (c) R=ZZF—_WFE+=—A=1+—H &
by restricted bank balances of RMB386,109,000 (2023: NEBUZBRHORITESRARE
RMB31,000,000) (Note 22(a)). 386,109,000 T (ZE—=F: AR
# 31,000,000 7T) 1& 7= & # (P 52
22(a)) °
The non-current portion of other payables in 2023 is a d —ZE_=FHMEMFTIENIERD
borrowing from certain third parties, which is repaid during MoERETE=ZFER ERAK
the Year. The interest rate on such other payables during FEEE RAFEE - E%Eﬁﬂr’éﬁ
the Year is 5.25% per annum (2023: 5.25% per annum). REMFREE52% (ZE ==
F:FF525%) °
Except for the borrowing from certain third parties as (e) BRMIzEOFIEmzmMETE=F1E

discussed in Note (d), trade and other payables are
unsecured and interest-free. The carrying amounts of trade
and other payables approximate their fair values and are
mainly denominated in RMB.

ON - FERE BRI H Ath FE A 5K
BEREEERREE - BNEZER
N H A e IR R E R T (EAE
" FEUARBREM -



150 FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

28. BORROWINGS 28. 6 &

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETF T

Non-current FER
Bank borrowings, unsecured IRITIEE () 348,000 147,000

Current B
Bank borrowings, unsecured IRITEE () 7,183,043 5,931,000
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITIEE (AR @ 3,833,425 3,646,500
11,016,468 9,577,500
Total borrowings EEH%E 11,364,468 9,724,500

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings were repayable RZZEZ_WE+_A=+—H K&
as follows: TEENEEBROT
Bank borrowings
RITEE

2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETF T
Within 1 year —FR 11,016,468 9,577,500
Between 1 and 2 years —ZEWER 348,000 147,000
11,364,468 9,724,500

The weighted average effective interest rates at the balance
sheet dates were as follows:

REEBEBEXRBINETFHEERF X0
T

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=

Borrowings =i

1.90% 2.10%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE
28. BORROWINGS (continued) 28. B & (&)

The carrying amount and fair value of non-current borrowings FEMEEENEREEREQIFELAT
are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value
IREE NEE

2024 2023 2024 2023

el T F b T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARS T PRSGEARr AE%Tr PNk

Bank borrowings RITEE 348,000 147,000 337,278 143,647
The fair value of non-current borrowings are based on ERBEENRFETRIERBBREE
discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate. They are ENXMBENREREFE EEHE
classified as level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3). BATEERYMNE=E ([:E3.3) -
The fair value of current borrowings approximates their carrying MEBEEMNAFTELEEEEEMRS 1)
amounts, as the impact of discounting is not significant. HEELRHZ B TEK -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are REBBEENERABENTIEEE

denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
—E_F —F=

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBTT

RMB AR 11,364,468 9,724,500
(a) As at 31 December 2024, the secured current bank (@ RZZFE-_M&E+-_A=+—H" A
borrowings were secured by restricted bank balances of R RBIRITEE T LA IR H &9
RMB2,599,103,000 (2023: RMB3,390,000,000) (Note R17 45 8 A R #2,509,103,000 7T
22(a)) and notes receivable of RMB8,043,000 (2023: T =% : AR¥ 3,390,000,000
RMB36,500,000) (Note 21(g)). 7T) (ffEE22(a)) R EWRE AR

8,043,000 T (ZE=-=F: AR¥E
36,500,000 7T) (Kf5E21(g)) 1E AKX
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

29. DEFERRED INCOME 29, IR W 5

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETF T

Government grants related to the HAHE BIRIR R M & "R 1
acquisition of environmental protection BB ()
and technology improvement

equipment (a) 976,813 893,009
The movements of the above government grants for the years REBEE_TE-_NEFR_T_=F+=A4
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: =+—HIEFE BB EE M T

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
At beginning of the year REA] 893,009 756,723
Granted during the year RFRIER B BN 165,992 215,871
Amortised as income (Note 6) s P e s (B2t 6) (82,188) (79,585)
At end of the year RE 976,813 893,009
(a) Government grants related to the acquisition of (@) HEBERREZMAESEEEBY
environmental protection and technology improvement BR T 78 BY A BR B I JE Uk 2 I 7 AR
equipment are recorded as deferred income and amortised BETEHFIHNABEZERE T
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line TR A o

basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 30. IE T FT 15 B
& BL75 % B B PR S B4 4 A BN 0 45 e
BEEBN A ERH AT  AREE
TR ARERAEER BB RER

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxed levied
by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis. The deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

% IERT B B 3 IR B R B B Y

PG AR MAR A AR FEEE
BENERE  EEMSHEERBES
THRE - BECEAEHEERBBENT

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBEF T
Deferred income tax assets: RIEFMSREE :
- Deferred income tax assets to —BREA+T—EARBKER
be recovered after more than BTSSR EE
12 months 146,067 134,142
— Deferred income tax assets to be — R+ @A AR E A
recovered within 12 months BLEFEMEE 88,768 74,194
234,835 208,336
Set-off of deferred income tax liabilities K ELEFTBRaE (177,694) (199,734)
57,141 8,602
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFTSHRAE:
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be —#BREA+—ERABEND
settled after more than 12 months BLEFEHREE (240,767) (196,510)
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be —#BR+ @A RNERH
settled within 12 months EEEHAE (117,161) (94,874)
(357,928) (291,384)
Set-off of deferred income tax assets IR EE 177,694 199,734
(180,234) (91,650)
Deferred income tax liabilities, net BRI BEFRE (123,093) (83,048)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as

30. EEMEBH (2
EEFEHERRMFEZHNT

follows:
2024 2023
—E-NmF —ZT==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT
Beginning balance of the year FHEEH (83,048) (49,724)
Charged to consolidated income B& AR R MR (Mt 11)
statement (Note 11) (40,045) (83,431)
Disposal of subsidiaries &S EB A A - 107
Ending balance of the year FIREERR (123,093) (83,048)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities FANEEMESHREERAGENED (X
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting EHREER -—RBREEENER)
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: m
Deferred income tax assets: BEEFTEMEE -
Salary
and staff
Unrealised Deferred welfare Impairment
profit income payables losses Others Total
Ef#HeRk
AEHEEF  EZRA EIRN  RESE Ht @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=f%-F—H 5,774 105,965 39,053 26,376 1,926 179,094
(Charged)/creditedto  ZAHFIEX (F1k) /
consolidated income &3t
statement 624 20,607 9,636 1,102 (900) 31,069
Disposal of subsidiaries 1 &8 7 7 - - - (1,827) - (1,827)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZT=-=%
+ZB=t+—-H 6,398 126,572 48,689 25,651 1,026 208,336
(Charged)/credited to AR ER (1),
consolidated income &3
statement (2,104) 12,003 5,003 11,723 (1,026) 26,499
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-N%F
B=+-H 4,294 139,475 53,692 37,374 - 234,835
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBWERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 30. EEEFTIEH ()

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that the W75 ] 8235 i B 18 JE SR T 0m ) 38 R #F
realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profit %)EE EHFz AeERELEMEHEE -

is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax ZEZWNFE+ZA=+—H0 &&H
assets in respect of tax losses amounted to RMB41,030,000 I%EﬁT/\\uﬁqM 85 R SR E R B ULA B
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB10,285,000) that can be TRIEE 1B AR 41,030,00070 (ZE ==
carried forward to offset against future taxable income, because & AR¥10,285,0007T) HERIELEFE
it was uncertain whether there would be sufficient profit to offset HEE RERHMAREEIABKRESR
in the near future. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the expiry ERAFEEEEEBERE R
date of such tax losses is as follows: FRZFEZ=F+ZA=+—H BH

MAEEIEMT

2024 2023

—E_E T =%

RMB’000 RMB’000

Expiry date BEA AR®T T AREEFIT
2024 —TEopE - 379
2025 —E-RF 1,025 1,025
2026 :E:/\i 1,532 1,532
2027 —E-F 2,236 2,236
2028 ZEZNF 5,113 5113
2029 —ENF 31,124 -

41,030 10,285
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities:

At 1 January 2023

(Credited)/charged to
consolidated income
statement

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2023

(Credited)/charged to
consolidated income
statement

At 31 December 2024

R-ZB-=%—HA—H

EAfFER (B
kR

HERBLRA

N-—E=-=
+=A=+-—H

EAHHEE (B
kR

30. IBAE RSB (2
RS BE
Withholding
tax on
unremitted Lump-sum
Capitalisation earnings deduction of
of borrowing of certain depreciation
costs subsidiaries difference
ETHEAR
BER RBEREBEFz  —REMNRK
BERA BB WEEZH #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRL AREBTL ARBTE ARET:
23 91,650 137,145 228,818
3,701 - 60,799 64,500
- - (1,934) (1,934)
3,724 91,650 196,010 291,384
2,385 11,042 53,117 66,544
6,109 102,692 249,127 357,928

According to the corporate income tax law, starting from
1 January 2008, a 10% withholding tax will be levied on the
immediate holding companies established outside the PRC
when their PRC subsidiaries declare dividends out of their profits
earned after 1 January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate of
5% may be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement between
the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign immediate holding
companies, including those incorporated in Hong Kong.

RELEMEHRE B-FTFT/\F—A
— B BB MBS B R
BRAFRZHEMBARR -_ETNF—
A—B&#BMRECENFEIREE - #
HZEEEERDRBRI0% B -
WP BEENEERERRR (BERE
MK ZE R TE) B RERR 2
AIEBBEERY AT REENTRHN
U A 2 5% @
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SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Such withholding tax is recorded under deferred income tax.
Trans-Asia, Full Profit and Full Health Hong Kong, subsidiaries
of the Company, acquired qualification for the lower tax rate
of 5% for dividend received from its subsidiaries in PRC
successively in 2018, 2022 and 2023. The qualification of lower
tax rate is subject to renewal for each three years interval. The
Group revised its estimate of Trans-Asia, Full Profit and Full
Health Hong Kong for the accrual based on 5% instead of 10%
while the withholding tax rate for other subsidiaries in Hong
Kong were based on 10%. During the Year, withholding tax of
RMB75,000,000 (2023: RMB75,000,000) has been provided as
the Group expects PRC subsidiaries to distribute the retained
earnings of RMB1,500,000,000 as of 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,500,000,000) in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax liabilities as at 31 December 2024 of
RMB626,496,000 (2023: RMB564,414,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of the subsidiaries in the PRC, totalling
RMB9,117,512,000 (2023: RMB8,373,567,000). Management
currently has no intention to remit those earnings in the
foreseeable future.

31. DIVIDENDS

30. EEEFTIEH ()

LB AR IELE B A o AR F) M
BRARRT ZARKEREER-F
—NF ZEZZFRIZ=FIHE
BB A RWEM R EE FERED
5% EGRNER - REHEERAE
R=FFUAEE AEEERERE
LERLERESHEGEFENMBRE
H10% FHEEL5%  MEMEEWBE QA
MBI R B10% c RAFE  BRA
EEBHTENEB R RN RLRKDIK
BE-_Z-_ME+-_A=1+—BH0RE
Iz A R #1,500,000,0007C (ZZE = =
£ AR ¥1,500,000,0007T)  thETIR
T8 0 %3 B 5 A R 75,000,000 (= F
— =% : AR¥75,000,0007T) °

IR P BIK B A B K R & 2 F i e
HHFBEMFH A EARE117,512,0007T
—E T =4 :8,373567,0007T) R &
“ME+ A=+ BERELHMEH
BEARE 626,496,000 T (Z T - =4
AR #564,414,0007T) - EHEE B Al &
ERAERRRERZEAT -

31. Bﬁ/%\

Interim, paid BT HRR B
Final REARR B

2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT ARBTTT
414,741 534,954
508,879 802,604

923,620 1,337,558




158

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

31. DIVIDENDS (cContinuea)

The final dividends paid in 2024 amounted to HKD882,174,000
(equivalent to RMB802,567,000) (2023: HKD839,396,000
(equivalent to RMB748,943,000)), representing HKD35.0 cents
(equivalent to RMB31.9 cents) (2023: HKD33.1 cents (equivalent
to RMB29.0 cents)) per ordinary share of the Company. The
difference between the proposed and paid final dividends was
due to the impact of exchange rate fluctuation.

At a meeting held on 28 March 2025, the Board proposed a final
dividend of HKD476,263,000 (equivalent to RMB439,486,000),
representing HKD19.0 cents (equivalent to RMB17.5 cents) per
share and a special final dividend of HKD75,200,000 (equivalent
to RMB69,393,000), representing HKDS.0 cents (equivalent to
RMB2.8 cents) per share to be distributed from the retained
earnings account. At a meeting held on 27 March 2024, the
Board proposed a final dividend of HKD554,389,000 (equivalent
to RMB504,494,000), representing HKD22.0 cents (equivalent
to RMB20.0 cents) per share, a special final dividend of
HKD176,396,000 (equivalent to RMB160,521,000), representing
HKD7.0 cents (equivalent to RMB6.4 cents) per share and
a special dividend for the partial distribution of the gain from
disposal of subsidiaries (“special dividend”) with amount of
HKD151,197,000 (equivalent to RMB137,589,000), representing
HKD®6.0 cents (equivalent to RMB5.5 cents) to be distributed
from the retained earnings account.

The amount of final dividend and special final dividend are
calculated based on 2,506,650,037 Shares in issued as at
28 March 2025. These proposed dividends are subject to the
approval by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of
the Company and are not reflected as a dividend payable in
these consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as
an appropriation from the retained earnings account for the year
ending 31 December 2025.

31. RE (&)

TE_NFEFETNBNKRBARE A
882,174,000t (HE N AR
802,567,000L) (=& = = & :
839,396,000 Tt (HE N AR
748,943,0007T)) * BN A R R SR E B
fE35.0%8 W1 (BEE R ARKS31.99) (=
T4 3B B (FEERARE29.0
D)) A MBENREARENEZERER
B R B R ZEFTER

Bk A Bk

R-ZE-_RAE=A-+ N \B&ETHE
FLE EECERURBUEEFTD
ik R BA RS 2.476,263,0003 7T (M E R
AR #439,486,0007T) © BN &A% 19.0
B (FBERARE1750) RERIX
H A% B.75,200,00078 7T (FEE R A R #
69,393,0007C) * BN & X 3.0 (B &
RAR®B287) RZTE_MF = A
ZTEHETNEEL EFg2EN
1R B W 5 BR AP 5 I SR HA % B 554,389,000
T (FE N AR #504,494,0007T) °
BN 22,0780 (FBERAREK20.05)
5 Bl K #A A% 8. 176,396,000 7T (FH & 1
AR #160,521,00070) * BN A& 7.0%
h(BERARES64D) KD REH EH
EME R R U 8RR S (53
B1)151,197,0008 L (MHE R AR
137,589,000 t) + Bl &A% 6.078 1L (&
RAREESSS) ©

REBEREERFNRAKREN S EMU
RZE_AF=-AZ=Z+N\NBEET
2,506,650,037 f% % 7 5T & © iz F #k %
BASRERARARBRRBAFT KNS Lt
EFAEE  BEUWEBERZES HIM KR
FIWERMRKRE EEREBEE_T =51
F+-_A=Z+—HIEFENERE K=
BROAD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(a) Cash generated from operations

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

R.REXBHERE
(a) EEEBHERS

Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:

— Provision for inventory write-down (Note 20)
— (Reversal of)/provision for impairment losses

on financial assets

- Impairment charge for property, plant and

equipment (Note 14)
- Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 14)

- Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 75)
- Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16)
- Amortisation of deferred income (Note 29)

- Investment gains on derivative financial
instruments (Note 7)

— Fair value losses on financial assets
through profit or loss (Note 17)

— Share of net loss of associates (Note 13)

- Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment — net (Note 7)
- Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 7)

- Employee share option schemes (Note 9)

- Interest income (Note 10)

- Interest expenses (Note 10)

- Net foreign exchange gains (Notes 7, 10)

- Others

Changes in working capital:

- Inventories

- Properties under development

— Trade and other receivables, notes
receivable and prepayments

- Restricted bank deposits

- Trade, other payables and accruals

- Contract liabilities

Cash generated from operations

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT
PR TS 8 B0 % 2,837,031 3,850,245
FETHERELAE
—FEMEREE (K E20) 127,649 42,806
—cREEREREBR),/
B (7,170) 2,446
—-ME - BEREERES
(Wt 14) 834 93,105
-ME  BEREENE
(Wt 14) 1,179,269 1,093,532
—FRREENE (Kt 15) 24,298 22,523
—BHELAE (Kt 16) 9,993 7,480
— BRI (B3 29) (82,188) (79,585)
~TESMITARERSE (Ht7)
(4,314) -
—FTABEREREENLTE
BB WF17) 4,768 -
— BRI E AR ERFEE
(B1it13) 114 194
—HEME  BEREHBEE
—FB(HiE7) 8,552 5,659
—HEWB R RS (Hit7) - (166,413)
—BEBEREE (HHE9) 1,024 1,075
—FIBIA (K5 10) (498,661) (330,504)
—FB R (K 10) 203,785 165,053
—SNEFEBFEE(WF7 - 10) (92,500) (79,164)
—Hfh 12,070 -
HEALH
-FE (38,725) (359,621)
—BRPYE (100,271) -
— WS F R R E A B
W E I R T 5RIE (897,950) (904,517)
—ZRHIRITF R 43,932 (592,670)
~ERNE SRR EaEMATE
REFER 647,251 54,628
—aHEaE 207,561 (244,179)
REXBHERS 3,586,352 2,582,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 2. REEXEBKMBRE @)
(Continued)
(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and (b) HEVE BERZERESR
equipment H
2024 2023
—ES-F —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Net book amount for disposals HERNREFE (W 14)
(Note 14) 22,673 11,599
Loss on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE  BE & EEE
and equipment — net (Note 7) —FE(MiE7) (8,552) (5,659)

Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BE MEEHNEKIEB

plant and equipment 14,121 5,940
(c) Major non-cash transactions (c) EEHFRERS
During the Year, notes receivable with amount of RAFE 28BARARE
RMB908,239,000 (2023: RMB721,951,000) have been 908,239,000 C (ZZE-_=%F: AR
endorsed to the suppliers for purchasing property, plant #721,951,00070) MEWEEE B
and equipment. ETHEYN ARBEYE BE

K&t e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
(Continued)
(d) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing
activities
This section sets out an analysis of liabilities from financing

activities and the related movements for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023:

N2.REXKMEBES (#)
(d RETHEEYE

KEHINEZ2 T -_WFEE_-ZF
TR+ A=1+—HIEFE®R
BEHBBEREEEH DN :

Borrowings Borrowings
due within due after Lease Other
1 year 1 year liabilities payables Total
R-%FR R-%#
HHER HBER HE8E HtEGRE o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT  ARETT  ARETR
At 31 December 2022 R=Bzz%
+ZA=+-H 5,374,632 585,966 1,404 73,618 6,035,620
Cash flows BenE
- Inflow from financing activities  ~BEFERETA 12,818,377 649,000 - - 13,467,377
— Outflow from financing activities — B Z/EZH LR H (9,538,575) (137,500) (890) - (9,676,965)
Other movements At
- Reclassification B0 E 949,000 (949,000) - - -
- Derecognition of notes receivable — 1 RE YW Z 1 (19,876) - - - (19,876)
— Amortisation of borrowing costs — & EPp 2k 8 - - - 3,863 3,863
- Increase in future finance L GRS
charges on leases i - - 51 - 51
- Interest expenses -FERx 176,876 9,012 - - 185,888
- Interest payments (presented  —FIBM (25 5E%L
as operating cash flows) RemE) (176,048) (10,038) - - (186,086)
At 31 December 2023 R-Bz=%
+ZA=+-H 9,584,386 147,440 565 77,481 9,809,872
Cash flows Beng
- Inflow from financing activiies ~ — B & EEIH LR 13,264,468 896,000 - - 14,160,468
- Qutflow from financing activites — & & EBH £ i (12,334,000) (150,000) (699) (77,100)  (12,561,799)
Other movements L b
- Redlassffication -ENDA 543,000 (543,000) - - -
- Derecognition of notes -RIERARNEE
receivable (36,500) - - - (36,500)
- Amortisation of borrowing costs  — & B/ K 8 - - - 3 3
- New Lease —HHE - - 2,235 - 2,235
- Increase in future finance -EWREMARYHS
charges on leases i m - - 42 - 42
— Interest expenses -FlERX 193,793 25,388 - - 219,681
—Interest payments (presented  —FI B3 (25 AL~
as operating cash flows) RenE) (182,075) (27,985) - - (210,060)
- Others -Ef - - - (384) (384)
At 31 December 2024 RZBZ-@E
+ZA=+-H 11,033,072 348,343 2,143 - 11,383,558
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

33. COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not
yet incurred was as follows:

33.
B ARG

RELRBITHENAREERE AR
T

Purchase of property, plant BEME BEX
and equipment B
— Contracted but not yet incurred —BRIHEINERESE

2024 2023
—_E_-_NF —T-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
108,638 82,489

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES
Mr. Li Xuechun is the controlling shareholder of the Group. The
entities controlled by close family members of the controlling
shareholder are regarded as related parties.

(@) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

34. BEL R 57 K& &R
TR AR EBTRRE - BRK
R B AR AR -

() HEESTHNXRS
HEEENETATRS

Sale of products to an associate of the mAREBEBE N
Group

Purchase of products from an associate  [A) 4~ 5 BBt &
of the Group

Interest charged from an associate ] 7 £ B Bk 4 D
of the Group

The above related party transactions were conducted with
the associate Ruixin.

2024 2023
—E-mF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETF T
AL EE M
3,730 291
AIIBEEM
16,178 3,447
A UCELFI B
2,071 604
FHEERFR YR E N EHE
1T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND NBEFRGRESR @)
BALANCES (continuea)
(b) Key management compensation b) TEEEEHS
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREET T
Salaries and allowances & MOEBRL 27,243 19,107
Pension costs — defined contribution RKEKRA— ERBHERETE
plan 928 843
Share options granted to key MEZERERDOBAE
management (Note 9) (H1:£9) 1,024 1,075
29,195 21,025
(c) Year-end balances with related parties (c) HBEEFNFERER
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the AT HEBEREERXHHERNIR
reporting period in relation to transactions with related HHEIRE AR ER
parties:
Loans due from a related party El—EBEEFER
2024 2023
“E-OmF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T
- Loans to an associate of the Group — A ANEE[E — & A Rl IR E;
Beginning of the year F1 9,698 10,658
Loans advanced BRERK 75,500 20,850
Loan repayments received BRERER (34,584) (21,810)
Interest charged MEXH 2,071 604
Interest received B & (2,071) (604)
End of year F 50,614 9,698
The balance with related party was unsecured, repayable HEE AR AEER AR —F
within one year and at floating interest rate linked to one- WEE RIZE—FHEREBRF X
year Loan Prime Rate (LPR), which was 3.10% as at 31 (LPRYBMAR)ZENFIEETE - RZF
December 2024 (2023: 3.45%). ZHFE+ZA=+—HA310% (=

T =4 :345%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (continuea)

(d) Terms and conditions

Transactions conducted with related parties were based on
the price lists in force and terms that would be available to
third parties.

35. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET

DATE

Details of the final dividend proposed are described in Note
31.

(b) Regarding the enforcement of the court order to

discontinue the infringement of the Plaintiff commercial
production secrecy of Xanthan Gum in the lawsuit and
mentioned in Note 7(b), the Plaintiff and the Defendants
signed a settlement agreement on 4 March 2025 with the
following principal terms:

()  The Defendants shall pay a settlement amount of
RMB233 million (the “Compensation Amount”) to the
Plaintiff before 14 March 2025;

(i)  The Compensation Amount shall be treated as a one-
off and complete compensation to the Plaintiff by the
Defendants and their associated companies, who
shall be granted a perpetual usage permit in using the
Plaintiff's commercial production secrecy of Xanthan
Gum.

The Plaintiff has received the Compensation Amount on 11
March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, no significant event of the Group
occurred after the balance sheet date.

M. BELERFRESRE)

(d) fRFRRARMF
HEE T ETNR S IIRER B
EBRBEUNRE=T I ESHKER
T o

HEREERE

(@) 2RERZERYBWEFBHNME
31

(b) BRFAFRREWFE7O)FIRREH
Wit LE 1?5?5':;%?595%%@%
WERERGSME  BRERES
RZZEZRF = A0 B FE] TR FH
FEERRWT

() WEER-_Z-_RFE=ZA+MN
BRIRRS Mg EA
R # 233,000,000 7T ([B & &
')

E& %ﬂﬂﬂiﬁ%%&iﬁﬁ
S NAEREN - TEE
e %&i&ﬁ%%@?ﬁ%%
EREAREERBLEERSE
WEE KA BB

(i)

Rei=llg

ﬁaﬁmnﬂkﬁﬁ

%5
Y
E

HiT 18

RER-_ZT_AF=A+—BK3Z
FHESE-

BEXBEEN  AEERGEE
BRI E\BELBANEIR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 6. AR FEEEBRRFBEED
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Balance sheet of the Company AATEEEBR

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat AR®T T ARBEF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 7 11
Investment in subsidiaries R B RRIMNEE 460,066 460,066
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 1,589 409
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 461,662 460,486
Current assets REBEE
Loans to subsidiaries KTWBRTMNER 1,095,028 2,678,787
Due from subsidiaries FEUL B B 1~ B IR 3,514,954 2,610,786
Deposits and other receivables e N E b fE WEKIE 1,030 3,931
Restricted bank balances SREIIRITE &R - 603,041
Cash and cash equivalents Re RS ED 208,858 246,611
Total current assets REEELE 4,909,870 6,143,156
Total assets BEME 5,371,532 6,603,642
EQUITY =

Capital and reserves attributable &3R5 B4 & 16
to the shareholders

Share capital fig A 240,786 243,510
Share premium I 17 @ B 152,710 267,716
Treasury shares EFR’RG - (44,241)
Other reserves E 2) 16,865 15,841

Retained earnings REB Wz (@) 4,576,714 5,817,686

Total equity fEmBE 4,987,075 6,300,512
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continuea)

Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)

(&)
ERREEEBR#E)

6. ARAEEEBRREEZD

As at 31 December

BR+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it ARET T ARETF T
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,032 73
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERE 1,032 73
Current liabilities REBEE
Due to subsidiaries N ENGIE e 359,453 279,926
Lease liabilities HEBE 710 376
Other payables and accruals Hib S sE M ETER 23,262 22,755
Total current liabilities mEAREAE 383,425 303,057
Total liabilities BEHAE 384,457 303,130
Total equity and liabilities EarEEH8AE 5,371,532 6,603,642
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board AR BEEABRER _E-_AF=A

of Directors on 28 March 2025.

T N\BEREEGHME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
SHMBWERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 6. ANFEEEBRRHEHFEED
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) (%)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (@) AXQBREES
Retained Other
earnings reserves
R B W& H %S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARET T
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—H—H 5,637,871 14,766
Profit for the year F A5 F 1,449,576 -
Dividend A% 8 (1,269,761) -
Employee share option schemes: BB 2
— Value of employee services —EERGEE - 1,075
At 31 December 2023 R=B=-=5+=A=+—8 5,817,686 15,841
At 1 January 2024 RZE-_mF—HF—H 5,817,686 15,841
Loss for the year FANEE (23,453) -
Dividend %2 (1,217,519) -
Employee share option schemes: EEERERE -
— Value of employee services —EERBEE - 1,024

At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-_@mE+=-A=+—H 4,576,714 16,865
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SHMBRERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS M. EBEMRER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERBSTHAEMS
The emoluments of every director for the years ended 31 REBEEZE_ZE-_OFEFR-_ZT_=F
December 2024 and 2023 are set out as below: +ZA=+—BLFE BREZE

M &I T

2024
s S |3

Employer’s
contribution
Discretionary Other  to pension

Name of Director Salary bonuses benefits scheme Total
EXmRie

EEpg e e MR HirER  SHEOGX CHY

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®Tn ARBTr ARETT ARETR ARETR

Executive Directors: HITEE -

Li, Xuechun £t - 6,351 1,588 - 16 7,955
Li, Deheng ZiEl - 2,567 - - 60 2,627
Li, Guangyu ZEE - 2,277 - - 60 2,337
Indiependient Non- BUHNTEE -
executive Directors:

Liu, Zhongwei 2itheE 184 - - - - 184
Li, Ming T4 184 - - - - 184
Zhang, Youming R 113 - - - - 113

481 11,195 1,588 - 136 13,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS JN.EEETAN RS )
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREETHRAEMSE (&)
(Continued)
2023
—E-=F
Employer's
contribution
Discretionary Other to pension
Name of Director Fees Salary bonuses benefits scheme Total
BEmEKE
BEsps e e gL Hitgh  EEImfx CH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETR
Executive Directors: HITEE
Li, Xuechun FE4 - 4,765 - - 16 4,781
Li, Deheng Tl - 2,084 - - 64 2,148
Li, Guangyu ZEX - 1,012 - - 64 1,076
Indiependient Non- BUHHITEE -
executive Directors:
Liu, Zhongwei 2heE 162 - - - - 162
Li, Ming () Z80) 162 - - - - 162
Zhang, Youming RRH 100 - - - - 100
424 7,861 - - 144 8,429

BISTEANIRBEENRAERE -

Discretionary bonuses are determined based on
performance of the directors.

No payment was made to directors as retirement benefits HE_Z-_NFR_ZT-_=F+=
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. A= Jr BIEFE #EmESE
AR RAERBRERBA

HE-_Z-_NFER-_ZE-_=F+=
B=Z+—HIFE HERESE
HENFTUAEABIRERIEZARHE -

No payment was made to directors as compensation for
the early termination of the appointment during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

BE_T_MFER-_FT_=F+=
A=Z+—HALFE #BELESE
ERBAEAFE =T FEHMARK -

No payment was made to the any third parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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SHMBGERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

37. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

No director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

7. EER/ARER &)

(@)

(b)

EERBSTRAEME (@)

HE_Z-NWFR-_ZS-=F+=
A=+—RHLFE HMEEBEUE
E ZEEENZEHEE KB E
ERATZANER  EERLH
x5 o

MESEEREXREREEEZ-F
—MERZE_ZF+A=+—
B IEFE TN -

EERNRS  RYSEHNEK
s

R [E 3F RME A B B AR A
PRl EBASEXBHAARAE
ERHEPERIHERBEEA RS
MEARS ZHREHNFE -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Company had direct and indirect
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HILFE

interests in the following wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity
LR 3L 3t B R A B R

38. ff & A &)

i

S

B

Paid-up capital
2 #Rx

ME+-—A=+—H ' ARQF
RAT2EMBAREREER MEERE

Principal activities &
place of operation

FEXBREXLY

Directly held:
EERA:

Acquest Honour Holdings Limited
Acquest Honour Holdings Limited

Shenhua Health Holdings Limited

BEERERERAF

Indirectly held:
MERs:

Absolute Divine
Absolute Divine

Baoji Fufeng

e

28

s

Beijing Huijinhuaying Commercial

Co., Ltd.
IrESERHEERAA

Essential Biotech Inc.
Essential Biotech Inc.

Expand Base
Expand Base

First Biotech Inc.
First Biotech Inc.

Fufeng (Hong Kong) Import and
Export Co., Ltd.
BE(FR)ELABERDA

BV, limited liability company
RBRIES ARATAR

Cayman Islands, limited liability company

FMERE ARALARF

BV, limited liability company
RERAER ARAEAA

PRC, limited liability company

TE - BRALAR

PRC, limited liability company

PE AREEAR

US, limited liability company
X8 AREEATA

BV, limited liability company
RBRAES ARATAR

US, limited liability company
X8 AREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE BRELAT

UsD2
2ETL

HKD1
18T

uSD1
1%

HKD273,310,000

273,310,000% 7T

RMB21,000,000
AR 21,000,000

USDO
0XTT

UsD1
1ET

USD100,000
100,000% 7T

HKD2

2% 7T

Investment holding in BVI

REBRLZEEOREER

Investment holding in Cayman Islands

RASHENRERK

Investment holding in BVI
RNEBRLBEEHRERR

Manufacture and sales of glutamic
acid, monosodium glutamate, corn
refined products, fertilisers and other
related products in the PRC

ETBERERHEARR K X
ARGER EHEREOEBER

Own and operate self-used office
building
BERKERROPLARE

Sales of biological products in the US

EXEHELNER

Investment holding in BVI

REBRLZHSOREER

Sales of biological products in the US

EXEHELNER

Sales of monosodium glutamate and
other related products abroad

EBIMAERB R AAEER
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SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE T _NF+_-_A=+—HIFE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation and

kind of legal entity
ERLAR LY SIN bl

38. fiB A TE (&)

Paid-up capital
[5F -1

Principal activities &
place of operation

FRRBRERMH

Fufeng International Trade
(Hong Kong) Limited
BLBRES (BE)ERAF
Fufeng Marketing Co., Ltd.
BLEHARAR

Fufeng Singapore

Fufeng Singapore

Fufeng USA
Fufeng USA

Fufeng USA Holdings Limited
Fufeng USA Holdings Limited

Full Health Global Limited
Full Health Global Limited

Full Health Hong Kong
FEmEE

Full Profit

JHE]
23

Golden Fufeng Fertiliser Co., Ltd.

cREEXERAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

EFE BREELA
PRC, limited liability company
FE BEREMTAF

Singapore, limited liability company

Mg BREEAT

US, limited liability company
X8 BREERA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BE AREEAA

BVI, limited liability company
RBRAES AREARA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BE BREERA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BB BREERA

PRC, limited liability company

hEBRELAR

HKD2
2B
RMB220,000,000
AR #220,000,0007T

SGD1,300,000

1,300,000 7 1% 7T

USD100,000
100,000 7T

HKD?2
2T

UsSD100
100% T

HKD100
10078 7T

HKD2
2B T

RMBO

AREOT

Investment holding in Hong Kong

REAEORERK

Sales of monosodium glutamate and
other related products in the PRC
ETEHERERAMERER

Sales of monosodium glutamate
and other related products in the
Southeast Asia.

EREDHEERBEREBHERER

Sales of biological products in the US

EXBEHELNER

Investment holding in Hong Kong

REENRERK

Investment holding in BVI

REBRZESOREER

Investment holding in Hong Kong

REEORERK

Investment holding in Hong Kong

REEORERK

Does not carry out any business
activities currently

B Al B RAEMEEED
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. Mt A (#)

Place of incorporation and Principal activities &

kind of legal entity Paid-up capital place of operation
LT L it B R vk A B R R BRRE TEXRREEBH

Hulunbeier Fufeng PRC, limited liability company RMB1,000,000,000  Manufacture and sales of starch,
starch sweeteners, amino acids,
monosodium glutamate, glutamic
acid, fertilisers and other related
products in the PRC

TREMEL HEl - BREEAA AR#1,000,000,00070 £ EIRSE R EERE BB AHKA -
ER KK ARk (HERE
tRBE R
Hulunbeier Rich Source Supply PRC, limited liability company RMB300,000,000  Provide logistics service and sales of
Chain Co., Ltd. related products
TREBLREERERAR  PE - BREEAA AR¥300,0000007T  REDRRE LHERBER
Hulunbeier Shengmin Agricultural -~ PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000  Does not carry out any business
Development Co., Ltd. activities currently
TREBTREREREER $E ARAEAR AE®10,0000007T BRIV ERREEMERED
BEERA
IM Fufeng PRC, limited liability company HKD640,000,000  Manufacture and sales of glutamic

acid, monosodium glutamate, corn
refined products, xanthan gum,
fertilisers, starch sweeteners and
other related products, autoclaved
aerated concrete block in the PRC
AELRE el BREAEAT 640,000,000/ EHERERHEEARE KE - £
ARBER EREBH - BH
MR R A ER  RELE

Inner Mongolia Xiangfeng chemical PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000  Sales of synthetic ammonia in the PRC
Co., Ltd.

AELAEIERRAA mE - EREEAA AR® 100,000,000t EFEHEESKE

Inner Mongolia Wofeng Agriculture - PRC, limited liability company RMB40,000,000  Sales of fertilisers and other related
Development Co., Ltd. products in the PRC

ARLAEEZERERAR B AREEAR AK®40,0000007T HFEHEEHRAGCABER
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation and

kind of legal entity
ERLAR LY SIN bl

38. fiB A TE (&)

Paid-up capital
[5F -1

Principal activities &
place of operation

FRRBRERMH

Longjiang Fufeng

EIRE

Neimenggu Bio-fermentation
Green Manufacturing
Technology Institute Co., Ltd.

WS & BB B BLE R
RARERAA

Power Sword International Limited
Power Sword International Limited

Profit Champion
HUi

Profit Royalty Limited
i YN

Qingdao Hongfeng International
Trade Co., Ltd.
EERLERESBRAR

Qingdao Huanwan Kaifeng
International Trade Co., Ltd. (a)

EEREIERKRES
B2 ()

PRC, limited liability company

TE - BRALAT

PRC, limited liability company

HE - BRELAR

BV, limited liability company

REEIHE BREMLAT

Hong Kong, limited liability company
AR BREELA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BE  ARAEATA

PRC, limited liability company

hE - BEREMLAR

PRC, limited liability company

hE - BRELAR

RMB1,300,000,000

AR #1,300,000,0007C

RMBO

AREOT

uSD1

1%

HKD2
27T

HKD1
18T

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T
RMB200,000,000

A B # 200,000,000 7T

Manufacture and sales of threonine,
lysine, starch sweeteners, amino
acids and other related products in
the PRC

ETBRAERHEHAR Bak-
BDHRE  SERREMIAHE

Em

Does not carry out any business
activities currently

B Al EFRAEMEEED

Investment holding in BVI
REBRLZBEENRERR

Investment holding in Hong Kong

REBHRERER

Investment holding in Hong Kong
REBNREER

Own and operate self-used office
building
BERKERROPLAE

Sales of food additives and feed raw
materials

HERMN A K S R
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. M@~ Al (&)
Place of incorporation and Principal activities &
kind of legal entity Paid-up capital place of operation
ERLAR LY SIN bl BAkRE TEXBREFHH
Qingdao Huanwan Shengfeng PRC, limited liability company RMBO  Does not carry out any business
International Trade Co., Ltd. (b) activities currently
EEREREEBRES mE - EREEAT AR®OT BAYERREMERED
BRAF ()
Qingdao Wanchuang International - PRC, limited liability company RMBO  Sales of monosodium glutamate and
Trading Co., Ltd. other related products abroad
EEEAERLEERAA e EREMEAA ARKOTL mBSMAERERAMIERER
Qingdao Yuemei Cosmetics Co.,  PRC, limited liability company RMB15,843,000  Sales of cosmetic products in the PRC
Ltd.
EENEERMRERAR FE AREEAA AR¥158430007C HEFRBEHE MM
Qigihar Hefeng Investment Centre  PRC, limited liability company RMBO  Practise investment in corn intensive
(Limited partnership) processing projects
EERRMESRESL mE - EREEAA ARBOT HEFKANMIEETETEERRE
(BR&%)
Qigihar Longjiang Li Feng Supply ~ PRC, limited liability company RMB5,000,000  Provide logistics service

Chain Co., Ltd. (formerly named
as Qigihar Lifeng Logistics Co.,

Ltd.)

EERREINEHERER B AREEAA AER#5,000,0007T REDRERE
AR(ER% : BERBNE
WRERAR)

Qigihar Shengfeng Heating Co., ~ PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000  Provide heating service
Ltd.

EERBREHABRAR TE - BRALAR ARMH3,0000007 REBRRS
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 38. ff B D F (&)

Place of incorporation and Principal activities &
kind of legal entity Paid-up capital place of operation
AR R R A BB BRRE TEXRREEBH

Seres Biotech B.V. Netherlands, limited liability company EUR 500,000  Sales of lysine and amino acids in

Netherlands
Seres Biotech B.V. wE - BAREERAF 500,000t REBEHEEREERAEE
Shandong Fufeng PRC, limited liability company RMB370,500,000  Manufacture and sales of glutamic

acid, monosodium glutamate, corn
refined products, xanthan gum,
fertilisers, starch sweetener and
other related products in the PRC

REE mE - EREEAA AR#3706000007T ETERERHEADR WK X
ARRER  BRE - EF - RS
HHRE R H b AEER
Shandong Fufeng Biotechnology ~ PRC, limited liability company RMB5,500,000  Biological techniques research and
Development Company Limited development, promotion and

industrialisation of new biological
techniques and achievements,
information services of biological
technique in the PRC
WRESENMBEREERAR fE BREARA AR#55000007 FEEHERAREMRN - #E
MAEMBM KK RIEEET R -
URABED M EE R RS

Sinian Biotech Co., Ltd. Vietnam, limited liability company VND11,885,000,000  Sales of starch sweeteners, lysine and
xanthan gum in the Vietnam

Sinian Biotech Co., Ltd. B BREELRA 11,885,000,000/8 & RUEHEERHHKE BaER

Starry Horizon International Limited BV, limited liability company USD1  Investment holding in BVI

Starry Horizon International Limited EBREX#HE - BRETLNF 12T RERBRZHBNREZRR
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. B A (4

Place of incorporation and Principal activities &

kind of legal entity Paid-up capital place of operation

ERLAR LY SIN bl BAkRE TEXBREFHH
Summit Challenge Limited BVI, limited liability company USD1  Investment holding in BVI
Summit Challenge Limited EBRNHEE  AREEAA 12T REBREXHSHREZER
Team Praise Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company HKD1  Investment holding in Hong Kong
REBRRA BE  ARAEEAA BT REBNREER
Trans-Asia Hong Kong, limited liability company HKD2  Investment holding in Hong Kong
Ra BE BREEAA 2B RERNREBER
Xinjiang Fufeng PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000,000  Manufacture and sales of amino acids,

xanthan gum and other related
products in the PRC

MERY mE - EREEAA AR¥500,000000 HERESERHEEAER BRBR
HthiEEEmR
Zhalantun Puhui Qianjia Real PRC, limited liability company RMB5,000,000  Development and sales of real estate
Estate Development Co., Ltd.
kEETEETXFHERE  HE - FREELA AR#5,000,0007 FERHERME
e NG
(@ Qingdao Huanwan Kaifeng International Trade Co., Ltd. @ BFTEREZNZEBREZEZERIARN
was established on 27 May 2024, with a registered ZE_NFRAZTERKY T
capital of RMB200,000,000 and paid-up capital of fit & & & A R # 200,000,000 7T
RMB200,000,000. It is wholly owned by Shandong Fufeng. EHER B AR 200,000,000 7T ©

HBIURBEEZEHA -

(b) Qingdao Huanwan Shengfeng International Trade Co., Ltd. b)) FERERZEEEESERIARN
was established on 13 September 2024, with a registered ZEZWNFERAAT=B/K T
capital of RMB10,000,000 and paid-up capital of RMBO. It &R A AKRH®10,000,0007T - B
is wholly owned by Shandong Fufeng. ERBAREOTL -HABAILRBEE

AR -
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION

This note provides a list of other accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of Fufeng Group Limited and its
subsidiaries.

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

U

(ii)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), after
initially being recognised at cost.

39. Hitb Bt BERERWE

SE BT FE SR —

AR B F A G 15 3R

RN EMEHERE - R A TAIN
HEBREMIIBOABEFERNERE
A-HHRIEANEZREEEAR
REIREMBARMAEHE -

VI EHEEREERR

(i)

(ii)

B8 =
MEBAREAREEEAGE
HIENAMBEER (BRERBIE
ER) - BEAKEASZ2EZL
B B8 i A HE ] 22 (O] S A [ B 3k
FRAZLKOES  WEE
NEBEBEENZERNE

TR EERE - A EHE
EHZER - B QR EES
BREBREAKEZBERZES
BEARR o MY B A AR HI R
L2 BEELEAHFARK-

SEARAHERS - BERRA
SEBETRARAZENRZ S KE
Bz T LA - RERE
BhelH HEEXSREH
ERBETEREELBRME -
A ZERwm - -mAEFE Qg
FRMBABMEETEE - A
FiEOR BN 5% (B 2R A 0 IR AR H5
iﬁo

Bt
BENRIEMEAEBEER
BARYE N WELES K ERE
HIENEE  HEBRAER
BEEE20% E50% L E#EN
BEAE - B AR E &)
REAMER  ZHBAEREES
JENBR (RT3 i) e

T
S
Il

.
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0. At SRR ERBE »)

915 RESSTERAE)

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (continuea)
39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(iii) Equity method (i) HEE

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income or loss of
the investee in other comprehensive income or loss.
Dividends received or receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity accounted investees
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 39.7.

RiEgRgtE REVNISR
POARER - HIRETHBUAR

BaERAREEIERIRES
W RE 120 M S BT 1R - W E A
ReEWENEEER AN EERE
HHRIRE T EhER A W &
BEnEd - e EREE R
AN SR /I EREEN
I o

HAREEEER ARREDN
EEEFNAEBBENZERK
o (BREMEMEERE

HiE WA AIAEETE
ERE—FEBER BRIFCKK

—EEAEEESHELAR -

AEEEABEAFZERS
B R B IR Wﬁnﬁz$$@ﬁ ZE
ERMER T IAHE KEHR
JEHEJTA%LA;T% ﬁé?'faxx

7@2‘ )\@E%&&ﬁﬁﬁ’] JrBZ
EERERFELFHE  URER
B BT ERA &R B —

BHARIEENEmSBRE
BN 5E 39.7 FIT it B 3R H#E 17 R (B BN

A e
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuea)
39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(iv) Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income or loss in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income or loss are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

39.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwiill.

0. At SRR ERBE »)

915 RESSTERAE)

vy FIEEREEH
AL BT RIE RS EKR
E/@j]ﬁﬂ X N g
mAR—ERER  ZEBBEN
FRREERERAFEERT
£ REENEEER EPﬁE
o BLEE ARRDIERE & A F
/\**ﬁ%&iraﬂ‘iﬁéﬂ’ﬂ% *fé
NEERVGBER
TEC’JLM\ ' %ﬁHEAEﬁﬁZ*AW
HNBEARREAZEEEH
MNEMSEZEBNASEEE
EHEBHEELBEN AN
AR - BRI BB LATRE
s WS EEPERN S
HENOHEESREAER
BB GRS EBIFTRIRR, &
TS —EREE -

392 BV WK

A B A BRI E Th AR AR BUR (B
)\EE°W$JT@%?§%§E’JE%F§{£
M - AR AIRIELE K e WK
ST PNCTES - WNE

RERIBARMNRERIRESE -
i 5% % B B 1B 4B B K A B B3 D PR Vo8
N AR A7 A Woat 48 B8 3 fin 98 XL B 7%
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker.

The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who make strategic decisions.

39.4 Foreign currency translation

U

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and dividends are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Finance
income/(costs) — net”. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “Other gains — net”.

30. HhBHBKRERWE &)

39.3 7 &P &

RenRERNEREERKER
TR R E — BT A HE

DEERLFFEEED IR
DEERRE  CDREERIE
BORTE AR BMITESE °

39.4 JhisinE

(i) DERZIEH
AEBSBERBYBHREMEE
HE DEZEBERBEEMTEE
EREBERENEE (W&
BDETE - AT IEREUR
RAMEEE R AEBZ2YE
BARKZY -

(i) XRBREEH
INBEZXZER 5 E ARIRITE
Wﬁ”ﬁ%%%%oltt*
545 B R AR IR TE R IR E LASN
B ENEBEERBRBEAE
B SN A 15 K2 B R & B F
% EE Ao ©

HEENREABOINERNS
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuead)
39.4 Foreign currency translation (Continuead)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet,

° income and expenses for each income statement
and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income or loss.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income or loss.
When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified to
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

39. H gt R ERFE &)
39.4 SMSIRH (40)

(iii)

KERQF

HYeEBRENEE TR
BONEB (BERLBEBHRE
WARE B E ) M AR
BRI T A BRE B2

s BHRRINEBEEREBERN
MEEMARBERZEER
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0. At SRR ERBE »)

95K MERRE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising plant and
building, machinery, furniture and fixtures and vehicles, are
stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Construction in progress includes plant under construction
and machinery under installation and testing and which,
upon completion, management intends to hold as
property, plant and equipment. They are carried at cost
which includes cost of construction, plant and equipment
and other direct cost plus borrowing costs that used to
finance these projects during the construction period less
accumulated impairment losses if any. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress. The relevant assets
are transferred to property, plant and equipment at cost
less accumulated impairment losses when they become
available for their intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 39.7).
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 39. Ht B BURERBE @)

POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 5YE - - MERRZEE)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in the consolidated income statement under “Other
gains — net”.

& U s K B 1R Y L B 15 SR
BREEREE @ Wi AAGFBR
[EFE—FEIA-

39.6 Intangible assets V6 EILEE

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (related
to the design and testing of new or improved products) are
recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria
are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use;

(b) management intends to complete the intangible asset
and use it;

(c) thereis an ability to use the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use the intangible
asset are available; and

()  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life not
exceeding five years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. H gt R ERFE &)
3.7 FEMEERE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortised are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting period.

39.8 Financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “Other gains — net”
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated income statement.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in “Other gains — net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “Other gains — net” and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net with “Other
gains — net” in the period in which it arises.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “Other gains — net” in the
consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 21 for further
details.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuea)
39.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group
has also entered into arrangements that do not meet the
criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts
to be set off in certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy
or the termination of a contract.

The Group has no financial assets and liabilities that need
to be offset as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

39.10 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Derivative instruments held by the Group are
accounted for at FVPL. Changes in fair value of these
derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement under “Other gains — net”.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are
disclosed in Note 18. The full fair value of a derivative
is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the derivative is more than 12
months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the derivative is less than 12
months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset
or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE
39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuea)
39.11 Inventories N EE

0. At SRR ERBE »)

Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and
finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of
normal operating capacity. It excludes borrowing costs.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

39.12 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade
receivables are generally due for settlement within 90 days
and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 21 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

39.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

FEBERMH  ERmREKSD
IR AN B #IRFERE PR
EEFIRR - S M R EE MO KA
BREEEMH BERLTIREEL
PlRr 2 R EERZEMA L &
EDNRBEFEZENDE - FE
TERIEBERA BRI F 13
EEE -AERFEENATER
BRENGAESEREHERMTOM
SR -

NV1R2EWE ZERI

WESERR/NABRLEEYD
7 n 8 B T MBI PRI SR o B
BHRR— RN IORABIHIEITHE
- BADER/RBED

FEU S 5 iR R A B R R A
BEoBETNEER BEEEES
BERBERDE B AFEETHE
R RNEEFHEREE SERNHE
MRKRRERRERE  FIRE
ERERMNEARBEHENATER
WEZER - BREAKEREKRE
SRR SRR IE A E — T
AR E21 c ARERERE
E2RHMES -

VBEERESEEY

ERGRERT R LREFE
MERFBERT BREENTH
TR AERERSCARERS
BEEZHARE/ N ZEMERS
mAMARIEE RS =EAKAR
MR E o



192

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuead)
39.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 24(a)).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

39.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment
is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

39.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.16 Borrowings (Continued)

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as current
or non-current. Covenants that the Group is required to
comply with after the reporting period do not affect the
classification at the reporting date.

39.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

39.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuead)
39.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred income tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current income tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

39.19 Employee benefits

(@

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages, salaries and bonuses, including
non-monetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled.

Post-employment obligations - pension
obligations

The companies within the Group operate various
pension schemes. In accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC, the employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the various local PRC governments.
These local PRC governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired employees payable under the plans
described above. The assets of these plans are held
separately from those of the Group in an independent
fund managed by the PRC government.
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39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.19 Employee benefits (Continueq)
(b) Post-employment obligations — pension

obligations (Continued)

The Group’s operating entities in Hong Kong
participate in a MPF scheme for its employees in
Hong Kong. Both the entities and the employees
are required to contribute 5% of the salaries of the
employees’, up to a maximum of HKD1,500 per
head per month. The assets of MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the entities in an independent
administrated fund.

The Group has no further obligation for post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions made.
The contributions to these plans and MPF scheme
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
incurred.

39.20 Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates four equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price)

e excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees to
save or hold shares for a specific period of time).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SHMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.20 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total amount expensed is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are
to be satisfied.

Share-based payment transactions among Group
entities

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value).

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in a subsidiary, with a
corresponding credit to equity in the parent company
accounts.
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SHMBRRME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuead)
39.21 Safety production fee

Pursuant to regulation No. [2012]16 and No. [2022]136,
“Management measures of accrual and use of safety
production fee of business enterprises”, issued by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Work
Safety, certain subsidiaries of the Group are required to
accrue safety production fee. The fee is earmarked for
improving the safety of production.

Relevant companies are required to set aside the provision
to a fund for future development and work safety which
they transferred certain amounts from retained earnings/
(accumulated losses) to specific reserve. When qualifying
development expenditure and improvements of safety
incurred, an equivalent amount is transferred from specific
reserve to retained earnings/(accumulated losses).

39.22 Earnings per share

() Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to the shareholders of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity
other than ordinary shares

e by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the Year and excluding treasury
shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB ERME(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

0. At SRR ERBE »)

VR FREF (&)

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION (Continued)

39.22 Earnings per share (Continued)

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

39.23 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in
a similar economic environment with similar terms and
conditions.
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SHMBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuead)
39.23 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received.

Lease payment is allocated between the principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,
and

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of warehouse
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB HERMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZT-—NF+-A=+—HI-FE

39. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING 30. HhBHBKRERWE &)

POLICIES INFORMATION (continuea)

39.24 Dividend distribution 30.24 ig B 7K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is HAQNBBRRELHBRESIR @ R
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s RARREAEREHMEREA - £
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are REBRARFGBERERAERA
approved by the Company’s shareholders. aE-

39.25 Government grants 39.25 B AT # B
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair it B8 59 & 12 (R 38 16 AT Y HR IR 46 B
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant N & B 8 2 & ST AT A BT A5 6
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached BB HEBIEE AT EER B
conditions. Note 6 provides further information on how the 7 72N 5% [ 5t BT 4 B B & ST B FE A

Group accounts for government grants. E— L BHNEG -
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LFEH

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Xuechun

Mr. Li Deheng

Mr. Li Guangyu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Chung Wai

Mr. Zhang Youming

Ms. Li Ming

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business in the PRC

Building 4, Yuanchuang International Blue Bay Creative Park

at the intersection of Torch Road and Juxiangiao Road
Shangma Street, Chengyang District
Qingdao, PRC

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Suite 1204B-7A, 12/F, Tower 3
China Hong Kong City, 33 Canton Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Company Secretary
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Authorised Representatives
Mr. Li Xuechun
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Audit Committee

Mr. Lau Chung Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Youming

Ms. Li Ming
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Remuneration Committee
Mr. Lau Chung Wai (Chairman)

Mr. Li Xuechun

Mr. Zhang Youming

Ms. Li Ming

Nomination Committee
Mr. Li Xuechun (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Chung Wai

Mr. Zhang Youming

Ms. Li Ming

Principal Bankers in the PRC
China Construction Bank

Bank of China

Agriculture Bank of China

China Merchants Bank

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
China Minsheng Bank

Principal Bankers in Hong Kong
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch

MUFG Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Mizuho Bank Limited

Independent Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Principal Share Registrar
Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Branch Share Registrar
Tricor Investor Services Limited

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00546

Website

www.fufeng-group.com
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFAGREEREE

Executive Directors

ZEE45 (Li Xuechun), aged 73, is the principal founder of the Group,
the chairman of the Company and an executive Director. Mr. Li is also
a director of Acquest Honour, Summit Challenge, Absolute Divine,
Expand Base, Fufeng Singapore, Shandong Fufeng, Baoji Fufeng,
IM Fufeng, Hulunbeier Fufeng, Xinjiang Fufeng and Longjiang Fufeng.
Mr. Li is responsible for the strategic planning and formulation of the
overall corporate development policy of the Group. Mr. Li obtained
a bachelor’s degree in industrial fermentation from || 58 8% T 3£ £ 57
(Shandong Institute of Light Industry) in 1982. Mr. Li was honoured
with “Outstanding Achievement” by the government of Shandong
Province in April 2003. In the same year, he was also labelled as
“Model Labour” of Shandong Province. Mr. Li first joined L 5 & ¥
B (Shandong Furui Brewery Group) in 1982 as a factory manager.
Mr. Li established the Group by setting up Shandong Fufeng in June
1999. He was appointed as a director of Shandong Fufeng upon its
establishment. He has 43 years of experience in the fermentation
industry. Mr. Li is the sole director of and is beneficially interested
in the entire issued share capital of Motivator Enterprises Limited
which in turn is interested in approximately 39.90% Share and is a
controlling shareholder of the Company. He is the father of ZE X (Li
Guangyu) (an executive Director) and the brother-in-law of Z={= 1 (Li
Deheng) (an executive Director). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years.

Z={= 17 (Li Deheng), aged 56, is an executive Director and Co-chief
executive officer of the Group who is responsible for the general
operation of production and purchasing of the Group. He is also a
director of Shandong Fufeng, Baoji Fufeng, IM Fufeng, Hulunbeier
Fufeng and Longjiang Fufeng. Mr. Li graduated from the L 5 &l
¥, B 88 £2 f (Shandong Liaocheng Teacher’s College) in 1992 and
obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry education. He joined the
Group in January 2001 and was appointed as a director of Shandong
Fufeng in November 2003 and has over 24 years of experience in
business management. Mr. Li is interested in 100% of the issued
share capital of Empire Spring Investments Limited, which in turn is
interested in 35,320,160 Shares, representing approximately 1.41%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Mr. Li Deheng is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Li Xuechun. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li did
not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Z & I (L Guangyu), aged 46, is an executive Director and Co-chief
executive officer of the Group who is responsible for the Group’s
overall operation. Mr. Li has over 19 years of experience in the
fermentation industry. Mr. Li graduated from % B A K 2 3£
4 Bt (East China University of Political Science and Law Graduate
School) in 2006 and obtained a master’s degree in Laws. Mr. Li is
not interested in any Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Li
is the son of Mr. Li Xuechun. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li did not
hold any directorship in other listed public companies in the last three
years.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

2{h 48 (Lau Chung Wai), aged 42, was appointed as an Independent
non-executive Director on 12 June 2019. Mr. Lau Chung Wai has
over 19 years’ experience in the field of accounting and financial
management. Mr. Lau graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a bachelor of business administration
in accounting in November 2004 and is a fellow practising member
of the HKICPA. Mr. Lau has been the sole practitioner of Yanten
(Hong Kong) CPA & Co. since October 2023. Mr. Lau has been the
company secretary of Kwung’s Aroma Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Kwung'’s Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1925), a company
primarily engaged in original design manufacturer and supplier of
home decoration product, since March 2019. Mr. Lau was also
the chief financial officer of Kwung’s Holdings Limited from March
2019 to April 2022, responsible for overseeing the investment,
legal and financial affairs. From August 2015 to March 2019, Mr.
Lau served in Da Sen Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1580)
as the chief financial officer and company secretary. Mr. Lau also
served as independent non-executive directors of Metropolis Capital
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8621) and Hongcheng Environmental
Technology Company Limited (stock code: 2265) since November
2018 and October 2021 respectively. Mr. Lau does not have any
relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Lau did not have any directorships in other listed public
companies in the last three years nor has held any other position with
the Company and any of its subsidiaries. Mr. Lau does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EERBREEBRE =2

3k & BH (Zhang Youming), aged 61, was appointed as an Independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2021. Mr. Zhang has over 33
years of experience in the research and development of synthetic
biotechnology, microbiology recombinant engineering technology and
microbial natural drugs. Mr. Zhang currently serves as the Director
of the State Key Laboratory of Microbial Technology, Shandong
University. Mr. Zhang received his bachelor’s degree in biochemistry
from Xiamen University in 1985, and then his master’s degree in
biochemistry and molecular biology from the Chinese Academy of
Medical Sciences/Peking Union Medical College in 1988. In 1994,
he received his doctor of philosophy in molecular and cellular biology
from the University of Heidelberg, Germany. Mr. Zhang does not have
any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. He did not have any
directorships in other listed public companies in the last three years
nor has held any other position with the Company and any of its
subsidiaries. Mr. Zhang does not have any interests in the Shares
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Z=§% (Li Ming), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 1 April 2022. Ms. Li has over 22 years’
experience in corporate finance advisory field in Hong Kong. Ms. Li is
currently an executive director of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (“Da
Yu”, Stock Code: 1073), which is principally engaged in the provision
of corporate finance advisory services and asset management
services and listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since
July 2019. She joined Yu Ming Investment Management Limited (“Yu
Ming”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Da Yu since October 2007 and
is currently a director of Yu Ming. Prior to joining Yu Ming, she worked
at Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited from April 2001 to
October 2007. She is licenced to act as a Responsible Officer in Type
1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities as well as a Licenced Representative in Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Ms. Li obtained
Master of Finance (Investment Management) degree from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 2010 and Bachelor of Arts degree in
Business Administration awarded by the University of Hertfordshire
of the United Kingdom in 2000. Ms. Li does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Li
did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in the
last three years nor has held any other positions with the Company
and any of its subsidiaries. Ms. Li does not have any interests in the
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

KRB -BEF6IR RZTZE_—F0MA—
AEZEABLIENTES - REENREK
EYRNT  MEVEEA TR ERED
RKABEBYHMRELRFAZE T EAZREBIBFL
B RAERTILRAEMAEYREMER
EREBRERE -REAER—NLN\AFE
¥REMKE BS4EWEERELEN
R—ANNFERTRESRER HA
BERAMEMLES FEYEELTEMN TR
— W NEFESERSEEXE . o F A
AEMEBEB LB - REFBRBARQAEMAE

CEREEE EERE IR R E
FRER BRBE=FEWEETEM EH
RBABZAMESERY  IEERAQAE R
E AT B R AT BB 7S - SR 4
RPN EEEE S LG REIEXVEBFT
RS -

T8 BFTHR RZTE__FHA—HE
ZHEABUIRTESE -THLITEBERY
REXRERNEHERBBA2R2FHLS - F
ZLTBERIRASERIZRERAR ([KHR] -
BRI - 1073) ZHITEE - KREFER
ERHCEREBERNREREESERYE
WHRZFE—NFLARBRIAERLEM &
REZZEZLFTAMARBZE2ERNB AT
RHRLETEARAA (&%)  BAAR
B —REBE -RNMABHA - BR_EF
—FNAE-—ZEELF+AEBNEDR (b
BE) BRAR - RAREE S KATE GO
BAINEE 1R (BLFRS) RECHE (B#E
BERHEER)ZIRETINEEAE UK
F4E (MBHREBEER) RFOE (RHEE
ER)XREFTHNFRRE -FTHIR=E
—EFRBEAEIAESH(REETE)BE
T BN KR =TT T F L EEE University of
Hertfordshire 8825 #) T B IR B2 T B (] o
TRTHARARENES =aRERE
E R R TR R R B R ER - BR LA
BEEN TR TRBT=FUEETEM
FHARRRIZEMNESRLE  TEEAR
AIREARMMNBARBEERNEIMESE -3
TR P EEERFS RS GHIZEXV
AT R E M o



BEUEEERAT | £ 2024 207

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

B &2 (Yau Wing Yiu), aged 57, is a chief financial officer of the
Group who was appointed on 15 June 2021. Mr. Yau graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1992 with a bachelor’s
degree of arts in accountancy and is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of the HKICPA.
Mr. Yau has more than 30 years of working experience in the
field of finance, accounting and company secretarial gained from
international accounting firms and listed companies. Mr. Yau is
currently an independent non-executive director of Yan Tat Group
Holdings Limited (1480.HK) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. As a chief financial officer of the Group, Mr. Yau
is responsible for financial management, capital markets, corporate
development and investor relations matters, and assisted the Group
to develop strategic planning and long-term development plan.

Company Secretary

£ #2 (Yau Wing Yiu) was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 1 August 2023. Please refer to “Senior
Management” section for the biography of Mr. Yau.

EEREREEEBERE (=

SREEE

IR BFSTH AAEEERVEE
R-ZZE-—FNATHAEZT - HEER
—NMN-_FEENRBFFETKRS EHEEe
BYBLTELN WARBEBTARIFAA
GEFCERBECHMAEEE - BELE
BERRZHBEE S EBA L ETAR
Rem @ RARWMEBEHEEBI0FL
o MBI AR EEBITRER A A (B
TRTER T AA - 1480.HK) BB IES 1T
EF-ERAEEMNERUBE BELESR
EMBEE -BEAME AREREKKES
BMESE Y ASEH EHBRE LR
BiEERETEl -

NEMWE
BEBR-_E-=FN\A—BREL AL
WE - BEBEENEARE  BE2H5
BEBRE| -
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
AFEWE

Year
FE
2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-TF T4 ZZE-Z —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT AREFTT ARETR
Operating results - REXE-HE

Summary
Turnover —E - 16,690,736 21,539,841 27,474,639 28,006,875
Gross profit EA 2,816,354 3,905,276 7,212,467 6,247,385
Profit before income tax & 1S % AT 34 7 770,637 1,515,974 4,860,309 3,850,245
Profit attributable to % B FE A m K

Shareholders 629,901 1,280,640 3,861,078 3,144,124
Balance sheets - EEABER-HME

Summary
Non-current assets EMENEEE 10,761,704 10,309,548 10,536,175 12,845,624
Current assets MBEE 8,593,989 11,201,258 15,852,449 19,715,263
Total assets BEREAE 19,355,693 21,510,806 26,388,624 32,560,887
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE 1,401,048 3,459,387 1,507,005 1,192,113
Current liabilities mEAE 6,265,239 5,373,665 9,387,995 14,044,560
Net assets BEFE 11,689,406 12,677,754 15,493,624 17,324,214
Financial ratio B b =R
Earnings per share (Basic) &% & K| (E )

(RMB Cents) (ARES) 24.86 50.55 152.34 124.02
Gross profit margin (%)  EF =R (%) (f1:£1)

(Note 1) 17 18 26 22
ROE (%) (Note 2) REHEUR 25 (%) (BTt 2) 5 10 25 18
Current ratio (Note 3) mENLE (KiE3) 1.37 2.08 1.69 1.40
Inventory turnover days T EEAEH(H)

(Day) (Note 4) (B1at4) 101 96 106 104
Debtors’ turnover days ~ FEUER X EEHEI(H)

(Day) (Note 5) (K15£5) 30 31 24 29
Trade receivable turnover &I Z 5 BF 7k A &2 HA

days (Day) (Note 6) (B)(Wite6) 14 19 15 15
Creditors’ turnover days ~ JEBRRUEEHI (H)

(Day) (Note 7) (K12 7) 33 32 27 24
Trade payable turnover  [EE 5 BR Z E 85 HA

days (Day) (Note 8) (R) (K1:28) 33 32 25 23
Gearing ratio (%) (Note 9) & E B ELE (%)

(H15£9) 18 20 23 30

2024
—ENF

RMB’000
AR®T R

27,757,310
5,056,822
2,837,031

2,312,384

13,557,759
22,532,137
36,089,896

1,506,345
16,240,497
18,343,054

91.86
18

13
1.39
100
27

15

32

23

32




Notes:

1.

Gross profit margin is equal to gross profit divided by turnover.

Return on equity is equal to profit attributable to Shareholders divided by total
equity.

Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities.

The number of inventory turnover days is equal to inventories before provisions at
the end of year divided by the cost of sales for the corresponding year and then
multiplied by 365 days.

The number of debtors’ turnover days is equal to trade and notes receivables
at the end of year divided by the turnover for the corresponding year and then
multiplied by 365 days.

The number of trade receivable turnover days is equal to trade receivable at the
end of year divided by the turnover for the corresponding year and then multiplied
by 365 days.

The number of creditors’ turnover days is equal to trade and notes payables at
the end of year divided by the cost of sales for the corresponding year and then
multiplied by 365 days.

The number of trade payable turnover days is equal to trade payable at the end of
year divided by the cost of sales for the corresponding year and then multiplied by
365 days.

Gearing ratio is equal to total debts at the end of the year divided by total assets at
the end of the corresponding year.
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY (Continued)
EFME(E

Byat
1. EFEBENENRAEESR -

2. PR ER AE S RO AR R A IR A B R A o

3. FBLEEHEERRBEERARSDAEME-
4, GEASHESHRERERENNGEERUNEES
ERHERA - BFEA3658 -

5 EREFASHESENFRENERESERRE
WEBRRAEEFER LR BRIGB5H °

6. EWREBSRAFABHESENFEENREE SRR
BRAST R 5 - BRLABE5 R ©

7. ENERFEAEBHASNFEENENESRIRE
WER R R DAY R R ROSHE AR - BoRIAB65R ©

8. ENEZIEFDERNEFINFRENENEZREX
BRAS EFERHERAR  BRIAS65H o

9. EEBBLEXEENFRENEHEERNYESF
EHRRENEERE -



210 FUFENG GROUP LIMITED | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

PRODUCTION BASES
SERK

¢

Xinjiang Base
HEEi

B Production Base £EE i
Key products X EEm

Hulunbeier

Base

iR HEE

0 Longjiang Base

EEIEN

Locate in key corn
production regions

0Q

IM Base in China
ptawet 174 1 H 2 BN EE

Shandong@
Head Office
LLERAAER

Baoji Base

HHEM

|

Longjiang #&;T

Threonine # &8
Lysine &R
Starch sweeteners 49 &H bk i

Hulunbeier ®f& B &

MSG Bk
Threonine # &8
Starch sweeteners 45 & bk i

IM RERE

MSG Bk¥E
Xanthan gum EREB

Xinjiang #7 &

High-end amino acid B#ESE&
Xanthan gum E&RERB

Baoji E#

MSG W¥5

Shandong X



Segment Production
2ER £E

Product

Em

Application
R
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MAJOR PRODUCTS PROCESSING MAP
FREREEEFE

Corn
kernels
Cornstarch Coal
Waste Cornstarch syrup Yeast Power plant Chemicals (including synthetic ammonia)
FEZEY) FORBRID fizas3 BB t2m (BREAKA)

:

Food additives

NIV

High-end amino acid
SRR EREMm

Colloid

B

:

Others
H A

MSG Threonine Xanthan gum Fertilisers
KI5 Bk Small packed =REB RE
amino acid
Glutamic acid Lysine NmEE AR Lysine
ARk 8 & B AL
Starch sweeteners
R IR
Corn oil
K3 Corn refined
N products
FARGRIREE i

Chicken powder
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SHARE INFORMATION
AR B #

Stock Code 00546.HK
IR 13 X% 00546.HK
Board lot 1,000 Shares
SFEEEN 1,000 &% B% 13

Price, shares and dividend

B RORKRE

At 31 December For the year
Wt=A=t+-8H ER
Dividend Earnings per share
) SREAN
Closing Basic
price at Number of earnings Average
last trading issued per P/E* Number ~ Consideration  repurchase
day shares | Dividend per share Yield* share ratio | of shares paid
R#&
RE AW BRfT Bk
KR RAOHE KEE REX: EARF mEE | RHHUE BERRE
(HKD) (shares) (RMB)  (Times) (shares)
(Br) (®) | %) (AR%) ()
2024 —T-ME 548 2506,650,037 0400 0.3670 40.0 7.30 © 0.9186 5.52 18,647,000 81,744,640 4.38
2028 —E-=F 433 2,536489,037° 0580 05290 25 1339 | 1.2402 3.16 11,742,000 48,302,170 411
2022 —E-Z 475 2535939,037 0697 0.6090 400 1467 | 1.5234 2.79 - - -
2001 ZE-—F 269 2533639,037 0215 0.1766 35.0 7.99 © 0.5055 4.35 - - -
2020 —E-EF 290 2533639037 0099 0.0865 35.0 341 | 0.2486 9.82 - - -
@ Before the cancellation of repurchased Share
A% 17 [2] B8 B H Al

* Dividend yield is equal to dividend per share divided by closing price at last trading day of the year
BEEENEREERNZFERER S HOWTE

# P/E ratio is equal to the closing price on the last trading day of the year divided by the HKD equivalent of basic earnings per Share
TRRENZFEREZHANKTERNETSENERELRT



In this annual report (other than the independent auditor’s report as
set out on pages 58 to 64), the following expressions shall have the

following meanings unless the context otherwise requires:

Absolute Divine
Absolute Divine

Acquest Honour
Acquest Honour

ASP
FHEH

Audit Committee

E e

Baoji Fufeng

Board
E

BVI
REBREZEHS

CG Code
EERTA

Company
PN

Director(s)

5=

EIT
DEMEH

ESG
ESG

ESG Committee

ESGZE®

Expand Base
Expand Base

Fufeng Singapore
Fufeng Singapore
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GLOSSARY

=
AR S

MRAFERA (BN 5EE8E64 B 2 B A% 2R
WERRIN) - BRIENERBHE - BAITHI
FEHUTESE :

Absolute Divine Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Absolute Divine Limited * 78 A BlE 5 2 & M B A 7

Acquest Honour Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Acquest Honour Holdings Limited » 2~ A & & & it /8 A 7]

average selling price(s) of the products of the Group

AEBERNFHEE

audit committee of the Board

EEgEMLRES

EHE LA YR AR QA (Baoji Fufeng Biotechnologies Co., Ltd.), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BUBLELYMRARRAR  ARRBEEEENBERF

the board of Directors

e

The British Virgin Islands

RBREXES

Code on Corporate Governance Practise under Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

FHMRBIMERCI BT

Fufeng Group Limited
BEEERRAA

=N

B /R

the director(s) of the Company

RRARES

enterprise income tax

EEEHR

RS

environmental, social and governance

R -HEhEA

ESG committee

ESGZE®

Expand Based Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Expand Based Limited * "2 Al 2 &K E A 7

Fufeng (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Fufeng (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. * &R &) E#ZE 2 &K B A &)
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GLOSSARY (Continued)

s (E

Fufeng USA
Fufeng USA

Full Health Hong Kong

FimA S

Full Profit

g

&

FVOCI

BATFEFARMMES WS

FVPL
BRFER ABRR

Group
rEH

Hailin

EE

HKAS
BAGTER

HKFRS
BB WS A

\:

HKICPA
BAGIAMAE

Hong Kong
E

Hulunbeier Fufeng

FrEREL

IM Fufeng

AEHRE

Jilin COFCO
TR

Listing Rules
EmHRA
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Fufeng USA Incorporated, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Fufeng USA Incorporated * ANA &) E# 2 &K@ A &

Full Health (Hong Kong) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Bm (BE)BRAF  AARIEZEE2EMB AR

Full Profit Investment (Group) Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company
ZRIEE(EE)EBERAR  ARFHEZEWB AR

fair value through other comprehensive income
TR EFTARMEEE KGR

fair value through profit or loss
BRATE AR

the Company and its subsidiaries

EN/NCID SN = PN

Hulunbeier Hailin Biotechnology Co., Ltd., an associate of which 20% of its equity are
held by the Group
Tim BERTEMEDERERAT » REBERB20% EmrIHE A

Hong Kong Accounting Standard issued by HKICPA
ER G AR MmZ BE G ER

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BB RE LR

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
R VN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEBEBFRIITHRER

W fm B R4 & 2 £ YR AR AR (Hulunbeier Northeast Fufeng Biotechnologies
Co., Ltd.), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FirERRILESEVHRBERAR  ARAHEE2ENB QR

NEHEYAE YR AR 2 A (Neimenggu Fufeng Biotechnologies Co., Ltd.), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
AEHBEEMRBEERAR  ARAIHEZEWB QR

Jilin COFCO Biomaterial Co. Ltd., an associate of which 30% are held by the Group
EMRREMMBBRAR  REBFEB 0% BRI BEA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B X P g o5 £ AR



Longjiang Fufeng

EIsE

Model Code

EELL]

MPF
wiEE

MSG

NG

Nomination Committee

RAZEE

OCl
H b #R & Wz

PRC/China

FE

Remuneration Committee

TMEES
Ruixin
Imfs

SFO
&5 N B &pI

Shandong Fufeng

LREE

Share(s)
g

Shareholder(s)
[

Share Option Scheme

BAHERT E
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GLOSSARY (Continued)
Mg (E

BEREELEL L YR AR A7 (Qghar Longjiang Fufeng Biotechnologies Co.,
Ltd.), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BEBHREIBLAEYREBRAR  ARRAEEZEWBAF

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
ETARBINEECIFHE EMEITTAZE R ETE S X HWIRESTA

mandatory provident fund
aHlMERATES

monosodium glutamate, a salt of glutamic acid which is commonly used as a flavour
enhancer and additive in the food industry, restaurant and household application
AW RERRE  RERRELEBERRL LA NENAREE

nomination committee of the Board

EXeRA%EY

other comprehensive income
Hiir e das

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this report exclude Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

REARKAME  piAREME - TREEE  FERPIFITRERRAE

remuneration committee of the Board

EEgYFMEES

Hulunbeier Ruixin Agricultural Development Co., Ltd., an associate of which 49% are
held by the Group
TRERREREERRBRLAG]  FEERFIONRRNBEA

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREDIEET1 BEF LG RY

1L 3R B &2 5 R A 7] (Shandong Fufeng Fermentation Co., Ltd.), an indirect wholly-
owned company of the Company

WIREEHBERAR  ARAREZENBEARF

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company
AR AR AN A A 3 AR AR 1

holder(s) of the Share(s)
SREST=PN

the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 12 May 2017 for granting the
share options to Eligible Participants as defined in the scheme

RRABR Tt FRAT - ARANBRIESE - ARRE AT AERN
BERSEER HBRE
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GLOSSARY (Continued)

s (E

Shenhua Pharmaceutical

ES

>
-#
[
it
Yt
At

Stock Exchange
B 22 P

Summit Challenge
Summit Challenge

Trans-Asia

IRap

Xinjiang Fufeng

MiERg

Year

REE

u.s.
xE

HKD
BT

RVB
ARE

USD
eV

EUR

=

5T

SGD
AL &

VND
HrEE

%
%
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T ok (8 5 25 22 5 R /A A] (Jiangsu Shenhua Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.), a company with
limited liability established in the Jiangsu Province of the PRC, a former indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company up to 19 July 2023

TIHBEZZFERAG RPBRIHEKINEGRAF BE_Z_=F+A
THABRARAGIREEE2EMB AR

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMAERXFMERIQA

Summit Challenge Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Summit Challenge Limited * 7N 2 &) 1 2 & K & A 7

Trans-Asia Capital Resources Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company
ROUEARERAR  ARAIFEEZEMBAR

BB EEMEIRE AR A (Xnjang Fufeng Biotechnologies Co., Ltd.), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

MEBELEMMRBRAR  ARAHZEE2ENBRA

year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_NWF+-_A=+—HIEFE

United States of America
EFERER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEBEEEBHET

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEZEEBARK

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
EFEBERENEEE®ET

Euro, the lawful currency of the participating states within the European Union
BL BB 2 EE H)ATF 8T

Singapore dollars, the lawful currency of Singapore

#INEOETE B # KT

Viethamese dongs, the lawful currency of Vietnam

BREAEERBEE

per cent
Btk
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